
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MIDWEST CITY 
 

MEETING AGENDAS FOR 
May 09, 2017 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STAFF BRIEFING 
City Hall - Midwest City Council Conference Room, Second floor, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

 
May 09, 2017 – 6:00 PM 

 
DISCUSSION. 
Clarification of agenda items, handouts, and presentation of new or additional information for items on 
the agendas for the City Council, Municipal Authority, and Hospital Authority for May 09, 2017. 
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CITY OF MIDWEST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
City Hall - Midwest City Council Chambers, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

 
May 09, 2017 – 7:00 PM 

 
Special Assistance requests – tcoplen@midwestcit yok.org or 739-1002. (Please provide no less than 24 

hours’ notice) Special assistance request during a meeting call 739-1388. 
 

A.      CALL TO ORDER. 

B.      OPENING BUSINESS. 
 Invocation - Public Works Director, Vaughn Sullivan 

 Pledge of Allegiance - Councilmember Eads 
 Community-related Announcements 
 Mayoral Proclamations: Police Recognition Week of May 15-21, 2017, Kids to Parks Day on 

May 20, 2017, and Public Works Appreciation Week of May 21-27, 2017 

  
C.      CONSENT AGENDA.  These items are placed on the Consent Agenda so that members 
          of the City Council, by unanimous consent, can approve routine agenda items by one  
          motion. If any item proposed on the Consent Agenda does not meet with approval of all  
          Council members, or members of the audience wish to discuss a proposed item with the  
          Council, that item will be removed and heard in regular order. 

1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the April 20, 2017 special meeting 
and the April 25, 2017 staff briefing and regular meeting, as submitted. (City Clerk - S. 
Hancock)   

2. Discussion and consideration of supplemental budget adjustments to the following funds for 
FY 2016-2017, increase: Reimbursed Projects Fund, revenue/Intergovernmental (05) $24,000; 
expenses/Community Development (05) $24,000.  Technology Fund, revenue/Transfers In 
(14) $4,800; expenses/General Government (14) $4,800. Downtown Redevelopment Fund, 
expenses/29th Street (92) $8,000. General Fund, expenses/Transfers Out (00) $17,000. 
Juvenile Fund, revenue/Transfers In (00) $17,000. Fleet Fund, revenue/Miscellaneous (00) 
$3,265; expenses/Fleet (25) $3,265. (Finance - C. Barron) 

3. Discussion and consideration of entering into an administrative service contract with 
Consolidated Benefits Resources to provide claims services for the City of Midwest City’s 
workers compensation program and general liability program for the 2017-2018 fiscal year for 
the amount of $42,000 per year. (City Manager - T. Lyon) 

4. Discussion and consideration of approving the management representation letters to Grant 
Thornton LLP and accepting the associated Combined Financial Statements and Report of 
Certified Public Accountants of Sooner Town Center (STC), LLC, and STC Lowe’s LLC; 
STC II, LLC; and STC III, LLC for calendar years ending December 31, 2014 and December 
31, 2015. (City Manager - G. Henson)
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5. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into a contract in an amount not to 

exceed $2,000.00 beginning June 19, 2017 of fiscal year 2016-17 and ending July 21, 2017 of 
fiscal year 2017-18 with Crutcho Public School to establish the terms and conditions under 
which Crutcho Public School will provide a school bus and driver for Neighborhoods in 
Action Youth Summer Camp. (Neighborhood Services - M. Stroh) 

6. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into a contract in an amount not to 
exceed $6,500.00 beginning June 19, 2017 of fiscal year 2016-17 and ending July 21, 2017 of 
fiscal year 2017-18 with THICK DESCRIPTIONS to establish the terms and conditions under 
which THICK DESCRIPTIONS will provide an extended week long S.T.E.A.M. (Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Anthropology, and Math) camp to Neighborhoods in Action Youth 
Summer Camp participants. (Neighborhood Services - M. Stroh) 

7. Discussion and consideration of renewing an agreement with the City of Choctaw to provide 
emergency animal control services for fiscal year 2017-18. (Police - B. Clabes) 

8. Discussion and consideration of renewing an agreement with the Oklahoma Humane Place 
Spay/Neuter Clinic to perform veterinary services associated with the Adopt-A-Pet program 
for fiscal year 2017-2018.  (Police - B. Clabes) 

9. Discussion and consideration of renewing the Jail Services Agreement for fiscal year 2017-18 
with the City of Choctaw, to provide labor and jail facilities to retain all prisoners who are 
placed into a confinement status by law enforcement officials at a rate of $58.00 per day, plus 
a $25.00 booking fee that will be applied to the daily compensation charge if the inmate is held 
longer than eleven (11) hours. (Police - B. Clabes) 

10. Discussion and consideration of renewing the agreement with the City of Choctaw for animal 
care services for fiscal year 2017-18. (Police - B. Clabes) 

11. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement with Reno Animal 
Hospital, who are electing to offer free services to adopted animals, in conjunction with the 
Adopt-A-Pet program for fiscal year 2017-18. (Police - B. Clabes) 

12. Discussion and consideration of renewing agreement with Midwest Veterinary Hospital in 
conjunction with the Adopt-A-Pet program for fiscal year 2017-18. (Police - B. Clabes) 

13. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement with Western 
Enterprises, Inc. in the amount of $24,000 to provide a fireworks production for the 4th of July 
celebration (Tribute to Liberty) at Joe B. Barnes Regional Park on July 4, 2017.  (Parks and 
Recreation - F. Gilles) 

14. Discussion and Consideration of granting a Perpetual Easement to the State of Oklahoma at 
the Southeast corner of I-40 and Sooner Road in the Sooner Park area of the Plat of Aviation 
Acres subdivision within the corporate Boundaries of Midwest City in the Northwest Quarter 
(NW/4) of Section Nine (9) Township Eleven (11) North Range Two (2) West of the Indian 
Meridian in Oklahoma County, Oklahoma. (Community Development - B. Harless)
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15. Discussion and consideration of accepting maintenance bonds from H&H Plumbing and 

Utilities, Inc. in the amount of $1,602.00.  (Community Development - P. Menefee) 

16. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement with Mid-Del 
Group Home for FY 17/18 to provide cleaning at various park pavilions and for litter pick up 
around Midwest City.  (Parks and Recreation - F. Gilles) 

17. Discussion and consideration of reappointing Tammy Cook and Cy Valanejad to serve 
additional 3-year terms  on the Board of Adjustment.  (Community Development - B. Harless) 

18. Discussion and consideration of declaring as surplus the items of found property and seized 
non-drug evidence on the attached list, and authorizing their disposal through sealed bid or 
public auction, or destruction in the case of items posing a threat to the general safety of the 
general public. (Police - B. Clabes) 

D.      DISCUSSION ITEMS. 

1. Discussion and consideration of approving and passing an ordinance amending Chapter 30, 
Parks and Recreation, of the Midwest City Code, Article IV, In General, by amending Section 
30-46(a) and (b), Golf course rates; establishing an effective date; and providing for repealer 
and severability. (This item was on further information on the April 25, 2017 City Council 
agenda.) (Public Works - V. Sullivan) 

2. Discussion and consideration of approving and passing an ordinance amending Chapter 30, 
Parks and Recreation, of the Midwest City Code, Article I, In General, by amending Section 
30-1(c), Park hours, posting signs, trespass, disorderly conduct; penalty; establishing an 
effective date; and providing for repealer and severability (This item was under Further 
Information on the April 25, 2017 agenda). (Public Works - V. Sullivan) 

3. Discussion and consideration of approving and passing an ordinance amending Chapter 25, 
Municipal Court, of the Midwest City Code, Article I, General Provisions, of the Midwest City 
Code, by Adding a New Section 25-45, Expungement Fee, Providing for an Effective Date, 
Providing for Severability, and Providing for Repealer. (Court - Mary Ann Karns) 

4. Discussion and consideration of approving the Termination of the Sewer and Water 
Agreement with the Yes Companies EXP, LLC for the water and sewer service provided to the 
Timberland Mobile Home Park property east of the corporate limits of the City of Midwest 
City.  (Community Development - P. Menefee) 

5. Discussion and consideration of reporting on the status, condition, progress or 
recommendations concerning the latest evaluation of Heritage Park Mall located at 6801 East 
Reno. (Community Development - B. Harless) 

6. Discussion of the refinancing of the Town Center Redevelopment Project. (City Manager - G. 
Henson) 

E.      NEW BUSINESS/PUBLIC DISCUSSION.
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F.      EXECUTIVE SESSION. 

1. Discussion and consideration of 1) entering into executive session, as allowed under 25 O.S. § 
307(C)(10), to confer on matters pertaining to economic development, including the transfer of 
property, financing or the creation of a proposal to entice a business to remain or to locate 
within the City; and 2) in open session, authorizing the city manager to take action as 
appropriate based on the discussion in executive session. 

2. Discussion and consideration of 1) entering into executive session, as allowed under 25 O.S. § 
307(B)(3), to discuss the purchase or appraisal of real property; and 2) in open session, 
authorizing the city manager to take action as appropriate based on the discussion in executive 
session. (City Manager - G. Henson) 

G.      FURTHER INFORMATION. 

1. Discussion and Consideration of an Ordinance amending Section 25-40 of the Municipal 
Code, increasing the Technology Fee to $45.00 from $40.00, and providing for effective date, 
severability and repealer. (Court - Mary Ann Karns) 

2. Discussion and consideration of passing and approving an ordinance amending the Midwest 
City Municipal Code, Chapter 18, Garbage and Refuse, by amending Article II, Municipal 
Collection and Disposal Service, Section 18-25, Container Required; Duty to Use; Section 18-
26 (c), Sanitation Containers at Commercial Establishments; Section 18-27(a), Residential 
Service Fees; Section 18-28, Business and Commercial Service Fees; Setting an effective 
Date; and providing for repealer and severability. (Public Works - R. Paul Streets) 

3. Discussion and consideration of ordinance amending Chapter 24, Motor Vehicles and Traffic 
of the City of Midwest City code, Article II, Administration and Enforcement, Division 2, 
Vehicle Impoundment, Section 24-47(b), Duration, Release, Impoundment Fee; Providing for 
repealer and severability and establishing an effective date.  (Police - B. Clabes) 

H.        ADJOURNMENT. 

  

006



 

 

      

 CONSENT AGENDA 

007



008



009



Notice of regular staff briefings for the Midwest City Council was filed for the calendar year with 
the City Clerk of Midwest City and copies of the agenda for this meeting were posted at City Hall 
and on the City’s website, accessible to the public for at least 24 hours in advance of this meeting. 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR STAFF BRIEFING FOR MIDWEST CITY COUNCIL 
 

April 25, 2017 – 6:00 p.m. 
 
This regular meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Conference Room on the second 
floor of City Hall, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard, Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of 
Oklahoma. The following members were present: Mayor Matt Dukes; Councilmembers, Pat 
Byrne, Rick Dawkins, Christine Allen, and Jeff Moore; and City Clerk Sara Hancock. Absent: 
Susan Eads and Sean Reed.  
 
Mayor Dukes called the meeting to order at 6:03 p.m.  
 
DISCUSSION.  Clarification of agenda items, handouts, and presentation of new or 
additional information for items on the City Council agenda for April 25, 2017. Staff briefed 
the councilmembers on various items on the agenda, and the councilmembers sought 
clarification and discussed individual agenda items with staff.  
 
Mayor Dukes closed the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 ________________________________________ 
ATTEST: MATTHEW D. DUKES, II, Mayor 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
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Notice of regular Midwest City Council meetings was filed for the calendar year with the City Clerk of Midwest 
City and copies of the agenda for this meeting were posted at City Hall and on the City’s website, accessible to 
the public for at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MIDWEST CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

April 25, 2017 – 7:00 p.m. 
 
This regular meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Chambers at City Hall, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard, 
Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of Oklahoma. The following members were present: Mayor Matt 
Dukes; Councilmembers, Pat Byrne, Rick Dawkins, Christine Allen, and Jeff Moore; and City Clerk Sara 
Hancock. Absent: Susan Eads and Sean Reed.  
 
Mayor Dukes called the meeting to order at 7:10 p.m.  
 
Opening Business. The meeting opened with the invocation by Public Works Director Vaughn Sullivan, followed 
by the Pledge of Allegiance led by Councilmember Moore. The Mayor made community related announcements 
and comments, and then presented a proclamation to Kelly McGlasson for his life-saving actions and read another 
for Fair Housing Month.        
 
Consent Agenda. Motion was made by Dawkins, seconded by Moore, to approve the items on the Consent 
Agenda except items 8 and 14, as submitted. 
 
1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the April 11, 2017 staff briefing and regular 

meeting, as submitted. 
 

2. Discussion and consideration of accepting the City Manager's Report for the month of March, 2017. 
 

3. Discussion and consideration of supplemental budget adjustments to the following funds for FY 2016-2017, 
increase: Reimbursed Projects Fund, revenue/Miscellaneous (06) $10,000; expenses/ Park & Rec (06) 
$10,000. Capital Improvements Fund, expenses/Transfers Out (00) $740,000; CDBG Fund, 
expenses/Transfers Out (39) $9,130; Grants/Housing Activities Fund, revenues/ Transfers In (37) $3,641. 
General Fund, revenue/Transfers In (00) $5,489. Police Fund, revenue/ Miscellaneous (00) $1,025; 
expenses/Police (62) $1,025. 
 

4. Discussion and consideration of accepting the monthly report on the City of Midwest City Employees’ Health 
Benefits Plan by the City Manager and action as deemed necessary by the Council to maintain the plan. 
 

5. Discussion and consideration of renewing the Consulting Agreement with Gallagher Benefit Services Inc. in 
the amount of $55,560 to include the coordination and management of benefit services, serving as the liaison 
with PlanSource to provide an electronic platform for streamlining benefit enrollments and information, and 
for the coordination and management of the Section 125 Flexible Spending Plan (Cafeteria Plan) with 
Discovery Benefits for the 2017-18 fiscal year. 
 

6. Discussion and consideration of renewing, for the Fiscal Year 2017/2018, the Blue Cross and Blue Shield 
COBRA contract in the amount of $75.00 per month administration fees, $10.00 per month for each 
participant and a $10.00 notification fee per participant. 
 

7. Discussion and consideration of revising the current Administrative Services Agreement with Health Care 
Services Corporation to provide administrative services for the Employee Health Benefits Plan for the fiscal 
year 2016/2017 to clarify the eligibility language of the Health Plan.
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City Council Meeting Minutes for the April 25, 2017 meeting 2 
Consent Agenda continued.  

 
8. Discussion and consideration of authorizing and entering into a Supplemental and Modification 

Agreement to the Original Engineering Contract for Federal-aid Railroad Project Number RRCS-
255N(410)CS, State Job Number 32589(23), with the Oklahoma Department of Transportation in the 
total supplemental amount of $3780.46 to reconstruct and signalize the railroad crossing located on 
Douglas Boulevard, between N.E. 10th Street and N.E. 23rd Street. Dawkins made a motion to authorize 
and enter into the agreement, as submitted, seconded by Allen. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore 
and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion carried. 
 

9. Discussion and consideration of approval of Resolution 2017-17 for the following project’s consideration of 
selection for the Transportation Alternatives Program: Palmer Loop East running between S.E. 15th Street 
and S.E. 29th Street. 
 

10. Discussion and consideration of approval of Resolution 2017-18 for the following project’s consideration of 
selection for the Transportation Alternatives Program: Replacement of three obsolete bridges with historical 
truss bridges, one located in Tom Poore Park and two located in Joe B. Barnes Regional Park. 
 

11. Discussion and consideration of approval of Resolution 2017-19 for the following project’s consideration of 
selection for the Transportation Alternatives Program: Rail with Trail segment between Maple Drive and Air 
Depot Boulevard. 
 

12. Discussion and consideration of approval of Resolution 2017-20 for the following project’s consideration of 
selection for the Transportation Alternatives Program: Rail with Trail segment between Air Depot Boulevard 
and Quinlan Park. 
 

13. Discussion and consideration of approval of Resolution 2017-21 for the following project’s consideration of 
selection for the Transportation Alternatives Program: Rail with Trail segment between Quinlan Park and 
Sooner Road. 
 

14. Discussion and consideration of authorizing and entering into a Supplemental and Modification 
Agreement to the Original Engineering Contract for Federal-aid Railroad Project Number RRCS-
255B(411)CS, State Job Number 32589(24), with the Oklahoma Department of Transportation in the 
total reduced supplemental amount of -$3,779.54 to reconstruct and signalize the railroad crossing 
located on Midwest Boulevard, between N.E. 10th Street and N.E. 23rd Street. Dawkins made a motion 
to authorize and enter into the agreement, as submitted, seconded by Allen. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, 
Allen, Moore and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion carried. 
 

15. Discussion and consideration of the acceptance of and making a matter of record Permit No. 
WL000055170084 from the State Department of Environmental Quality for the Forest Glen North Addition, 
Section 3, Water Line Extension, Midwest City, Oklahoma. 
 

16.  Discussion and consideration of awarding the bid to and entering into a contract with Holland Backhoe, Inc. 
in the amount of $84,370.00 for the S.E. 10th Street and Meade Drive Waterline Project. 
 

17. Discussion and consideration of renewing a contract for FY 17-18 weekly Welcome Center cleaning services 
with Crush Enterprises Inc., dba Jan-Pro of OKC, in the amount of $295.00 per month. 
 

18. Discussion and consideration of 1) declaring ten (10) wheeled conference chairs and seven (7) office desk 
chairs as surplus property; and 2) authorizing the disposal of this property by public auction or sealed bid.  
 
Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion 
carried.
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City Council Meeting Minutes for the April 25, 2017 meeting 3 
 
Discussion Items. 
 
1. (MP-12) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of approval of the Uptown Addition Minor 

Plat located in the SE/4 of Section 3, T-11-N, R-2-W of the Indian Meridian, Oklahoma County, 
Oklahoma. Josh Adkins, 7430 SE 15th, and staff spoke with the Council after discussion, Dawkins made a 
motion to approve the Plat, as submitted, seconded by Moore. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore and 
Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion carried. 
 

2. (PC-1895) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of a request to amend the existing SPUD, 
Simplified Planned Unit Development, for the property described as part of Lots 1, 2, and 3 of Block 3, 
East Highland Acres located at 601 S Air Depot Blvd. Dawkins made a motion to approve Ordinance 
3295, as submitted, seconded by Moore. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore and Mayor Dukes. Nay: 
none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion carried. 
 

3. (PC–1896) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of approval of an ordinance to redistrict 
from R-6, Single Family Detached Residential and A-1, Agriculture, to Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) governed by the R-6, Single Family district for the property described as a tract of land lying in 
the E/2 of Section 8, T-11-N, R-1-W, of the Indian Meridian, City of Midwest City, Oklahoma County, 
Oklahoma. Brad Reed, 300 Parkway Blvd, Yukon with Crafton Tull, at the request of the applicant requested 
a continuance until May 23, 2017.  Jim Ray, 12000 Jaycie Circle, Sam Yearby, 1925 Gerrie St., Mike Dickey, 
12045 Tuscany Ridge, Karl Schaefer, 12050 Jayce Circle, Russ Calhoun, 11611 Lorene Ave., Colette 
Ralston, 11636 Lorene Ave., Shane Willard, 11032 Sheffield St., and Linda Lynn, 2300 S. Anderson Rd; and 
staff, all spoke with the Council. Byrne made a motion to continue this item until the May 23, 2017 City 
Council meeting, seconded by Moore. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore and Mayor Dukes. Nay: 
none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion carried.  
 

4. (PC–1897) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of approval of the Preliminary Plat of 
Anderson Crossing for the property described as a tract of land lying in the E/2 of Section 8, T-11-N, R-
1-W, of the Indian Meridian, City of Midwest City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma. Dawkins made a 
motion to continue this item until the May 23, 2017 City Council meeting, seconded by Moore. Voting aye: 
Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion carried. 

5. (PC–1899) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of approval of an ordinance to amend the 
Planned Unit Development governed by the C-3, Community Commercial district for the property 
described as a tract of land lying in the SW/4 of Section 4, T-11-N, R-2-W, of the Indian Meridian, City 
of Midwest City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma. Dawkins made a motion to approve Ordinance 3296, 
seconded by Byrne. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads 
and Reed. Motion carried. 

6. (PC–1900) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of approval a resolution to amend a 
portion of the Comprehensive Plan from MDR, Medium Density Residential to OR, Office/Retail and 
an ordinance to redistrict from R-6, Single Family Detached Residential and C-3, Community 
Commercial to Planned Unit Development (PUD) governed by the C-3, Community Commercial 
district for the property described as a tract of land lying in the SW/4 of Section 4, T-11-N, R-2-W, of 
the Indian Meridian, City of Midwest City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma. Chris Challis, Sooner 
Investment, 2301 W. I-44 Service Rd, OKC; and Jerry Maynard, 5900 SE 11th; and staff spoke to the Council. 
After discussion, Dawkins made a motion to approve Resolution 2017-15 and Ordinance 3297, seconded by 
Byrne. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. 
Motion carried. 

7. (PC–1901) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of approval of the Sooner Rose Addition 
Phase II Preliminary Plat for the property described as a tract of land lying in the SW/4 of Section 4, T-
11-N, R-2-W, of the Indian Meridian, City of Midwest City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma. Dawkins 
made a motion to approve the preliminary plat, as submitted, seconded by Allen. Voting aye: Byrne, 
Dawkins, Allen, Moore and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion carried.
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City Council Meeting Minutes for the April 25, 2017 meeting 4 
Discussion Items continued. 
 
8. (PC–1902) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of approval of a resolution to amend a 

portion of the Comprehensive Plan from MDR, Medium Density Residential to OR, Office/Retail and 
an ordinance to redistrict from R-6, Single Family Detached Residential and C-3, Community 
Commercial to Planned Unit Development (PUD) governed by the C-3, Community Commercial 
district for the property described as a tract of land lying in the SW/4 of section 4, T-11-N, R-2-W, of 
the Indian Meridian, City of Midwest City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma. Brad Tetum, 121 N. Meade, 
Wichita KS spoke with the Council. Dawkins made a motion to approve Resolution 2017-16 and Ordinance 
3298, seconded by Byrne. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: 
Eads and Reed. Motion carried. 

9. (PC–1903) Public hearing with discussion and consideration of approval the Sooner Rose Warren 
Addition Preliminary Plat for the property described as a tract of land lying in the SW/4 of Section 4, 
T-11-N, R-2-W, of the Indian Meridian, City of Midwest City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma. Dawkins 
made a motion to approve the preliminary plat, seconded by Byrne. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, 
Moore and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion carried. 

New Business/Public Discussion. There was no new business or public discussion.  
 
Adjournment. There being no further business, Mayor Dukes adjourned the meeting at 8:27 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
        _____________________________ 
ATTEST:        MATTHEW D. DUKES, II, Mayor 
 
         
 
_______________________  
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk  
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 The City of 

MIDWEST CITY 
 
___________________________________________________________ 

100 N. MIDWEST BLVD * MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 73110  
(405) 739-1245 * FAX (405) 739-1247 * TDD (405) 739-1359 

             
Memorandum 

 

TO:   Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
FROM: Christy Barron, Finance Director 
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 
Subject:    Discussion and consideration of supplemental budget adjustments to the following 

funds for FY 2016-2017, increase:  Reimbursed Projects Fund, 
revenue/Intergovernmental (05) $24,000; expenses/Community Development (05) 
$24,000.  Technology Fund, revenue/Transfers In (14) $4,800; expenses/General 
Government (14) $4,800.  Downtown Redevelopment Fund, expenses/29th Street 
(92) $8,000.  General Fund, expenses/Transfers Out (00) $17,000.  Juvenile Fund, 
revenue/Transfers In (00) $17,000.  Fleet Fund, revenue/Miscellaneous (00) $3,265; 
expenses/Fleet (25) $3,265.      

 
The first supplement is needed to budget Trails Wayfinding Signage Grant from Oklahoma City 
Community Foundation.  The second supplement is needed to budget transfer into Technology Fund 
from General Gov’t Sales Tax Fund to meet estimated overtime expenses to end of fiscal year.  The 
third supplement is needed to increase budget for wages and social security in Downtown 
Redevelopment Fund to meet expenses to end of fiscal year.  The fourth and fifth supplements are 
needed to budget transfer from General Fund to Juvenile Fund to offset revenue shortfall in Juvenile 
Fund during fiscal year.  The sixth supplement is needed to budget revenue from sales of surplus 
property to be used to purchase tool for Fleet Department.    
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SUPPLEMENTS

May 9, 2017

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

REIMBURSED PROJECTS (016) Fiscal Year 2016-2017

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

05 Intergovernmental 24,000
05 Community Development 24,000

24,000 0 24,000 0

Explanation:

Budget Trails Wayfinding Signage Grant from Oklahoma City Community Foundation.

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

TECHNOLOGY (014) Fiscal Year 2016-2017

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

14 Transfers In 4,800
14 General Government 4,800

4,800 0 4,800 0

Explanation:

Budget transfer in from Gen Gov't Sales Tax Fund and increase budget for overtime to meet estimated expenses to end of fiscal 
year. 

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

DOWNTOWN REDEVELOPMENT (194) Fiscal Year 2016-2017

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

92 29th Street 8,000

0 0 8,000 0

Explanation:

Budget wages ($7,000) and social security ($1,000) for fiscal year 2016-2017 in Downtown Redevelopment Fund.  Funding to come
from fund balance.
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SUPPLEMENTS

May 9, 2017

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

GENERAL (010) Fiscal Year 2016-2017

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

00 Transfers Out 17,000

0 0 17,000 0

Explanation:

Budget transfer out to Juvenile Fund to offset revenue shortfall in that fund for fiscal year.  Funding to come from fund balance.

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

JUVENILE (025) Fiscal Year 2016-2017

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

00 Transfers In 17,000

17,000 0 0 0

Explanation:

Budget transfer in from General Fund to offset revenue shortfall for fiscal year. 

Fund BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

FLEET (080) Fiscal Year 2016-2017

Estimated Revenue Budget Appropriations

Dept Number Department Name Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

00 Miscellaneous 3,265
25 Fleet 3,265

3,265 0 3,265 0

Explanation:

Budget revenue from surplus property sales to be used to partially fund purchase of tool for Fleet Dept.  
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Assistant City Manager  
100  N. Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, OK  73110 
office 405.739.1201 

 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
FROM: Tim Lyon, Assistant City Manager  
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 

Discussion and consideration of entering into an administrative service contract with 
Consolidated Benefits Resources to provide claims services for the City of Midwest 
City’s workers compensation program and general liability program for the 2017-
2018 fiscal year for the amount of $42,000 per year. 
 

 
 Attached is a copy of the administrative services agreement for Consolidated Benefits 
Resources to provide claims service to the City of Midwest City’s self-insured workers 
compensation program and general liability program for the 2017-2018 fiscal year.  Consolidated 
Benefits Resources will be providing claims service that was previously performed by Mutual 
Assurance Administrators/HealthSmart.  Mutual Assurance Administrators was recently purchased 
by HealthSmart and no longer can provide local services to meet all requirements to adjust claims. 
The cost of the contract is the same price as last fiscal year’s contract with Mutual Assurance 
Administrators/HealthSmart that will expire June 30, 2017. 
 
 In order to purchase excess workers insurance and general liability insurance and meet all 
federal guidelines, we are required to utilize an outside third party administrator.  
 
 If you have any questions about this program, please feel free to contact me at 739-1201. 
 
Tim L. Lyon 
______________________________ 
Tim Lyon 
 Assistant City Manager  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment (1) 

018



019



020



021



022



5 
 

ATTEST for the City of Midwest City: 
  
 
_______________________ 
CITY CLERK, Sara Hancock 
  
APPROVED as to form and legality this _____ day of __________, 2017. 
 
  
___________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY, Philip W. Anderson 
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City Manager 
100 N. Midwest Blvd. 

Midwest City, OK  73110 
ghenson@midwestcityok.org 

Office: 405-739-1207 /Fax: 405-739-1208 
www.midwestcityok.org 

 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, City Manager 
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving the management representation letters 

to Grant Thornton LLP and accepting of the associated Combined Financial 
Statements and Report of Certified Public Accountants of Sooner Town Center 
(STC), LLC, and STC Lowe’s LLC; STC II, LLC; and STC III, LLC for calendar 
years ending December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015.  

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Attached for your review and approval are the management representation letters and the 
combined financial statements and report for the entities leasing the property associated with the 
Downtown Redevelopment Project for calendar years 2014 and 2015.  

 

 
 

J. Guy Henson, AICP 
City Manager 
 

024



 Sooner Town Center, LLC 

May 9, 2017 

 

Grant Thornton LLP 
201 S. College St. #2500 
Charlotte, NC 28244 
 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

We are providing this letter in connection with your audits of the combined financial statements of Sooner 
Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC (collectively referred to as “Sooner Town Center” or “the 
“Entity”), which comprise the combined balance sheets as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 
and the related combined statements of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash flows for the years 
then ended, and the related notes to the combined financial statements. We understand that your audits were 
made for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the combined financial statements are presented 
fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America (“US GAAP”).  

We have fulfilled our responsibility, as set out in the terms of the Engagement Letter, for the preparation and 
fair presentation in the combined financial statements of financial position, results of operations, and cash 
flows in accordance with US GAAP. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of combined financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, including programs and 
controls to prevent and detect fraud.  

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are 
considered to be material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, in light of the surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a 
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or 
misstatement. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary 
for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves, as of May 9, 2017, the following representations made 
to you during your audits.  

1. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the combined financial statements 
may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. We have no knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud 
affecting the Entity involving:  

a. Management 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or  
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the combined financial statements. 
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2. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Entity’s combined 
financial statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, 
short sellers, or others.  

3. There are no known violations or possible violations of, or no known instances of noncompliance or 
suspected noncompliance with, laws and regulations whose effects should be considered by management 
when preparing the combined financial statements, as a basis for recording a loss contingency or for 
disclosure.  

4. The Entity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on 
the combined financial statements in the event of a noncompliance.  

5. The Entity has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 
assets and liabilities.  

6. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Entity’s related parties and all related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware. Related party relationships and transactions and related amounts 
receivable from or payable to related parties (including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing 
arrangements, and guarantees) have been properly accounted for and disclosed in the combined financial 
statements in accordance with US GAAP.  

We understand that “related parties” include (1) affiliates of the Entity; (2) entities for which investments 
in their equity securities would be required to be accounted for by the equity method by the investing 
entity; (3) trusts for the benefit of employees, such as pension and profit-sharing trusts that are managed 
by or under the trusteeship of management; (4) principal owners of the Entity and members of their 
immediate families; and (5) management of the Entity and members of their immediate families.  

Related parties also include (1) other parties with which the Entity may deal if one party controls or can 
significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an extent that one of the 
transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests; and (2) other parties 
that can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the transacting parties or that 
have an ownership interest in one of the transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an 
extent that one or more of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests. 

7. There are no known actual or possible litigation, claims, or assessments that our legal counsel has advised 
us are probable of assertion whose effects should be considered by management when preparing the 
combined financial statements and that should be accounted for and disclosed in accordance with US 
GAAP (FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (ASC) 450, Contingencies).  

8. The calculation of participation rent for the year ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 as 
determined in the supplementary schedules of net operating income, debt service, net cash flow, and 
subtenant rents are prepared in compliance with the terms as defined in the Midwest City Downtown 
Redevelopment General Ground Lease (the Agreement). We have read the supplementary schedules and 
believe the information presented is consistent with and accurately reflects the provisions contained in 
the Agreement. 
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9. We believe the information included in the Leases footnote to the combined financial statements, which 
describes the participation rent calculation, is consistent with our understanding of the agreement. 

10. We believe the rent expense incurred totaled $1,435,004 and $1,413,721 for the years ended December 
31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 respectively, and is properly recorded in the combined statement of 
operations. 

11. Excluding the rent expense amount included in the promissory note, amounts due to Midwest City 
Memorial Hospital Authority for rent have been properly calculated and accrued in accordance with the 
terms of the Company’s Agreements with the City at $370,401 and $194,397 as of December 31, 2013 
and 2012, respectively. 

12. The Company and the City reached an agreement in 2012 regarding the settlement of any unpaid or 
disputed participation rent for all periods prior to January 1, 2010.  This agreement provided that 
irrespective of the terms of any lease or other prior agreement, participation rent from commencement 
through December 31, 2009 would be equal to the sum of amounts previously paid and a final settlement 
amount of $249,555.  The Company executed a promissory note to the City for the settlement amount, 
payable in four annual installments of $68,750 including interest at an initial rate of 4% with the first 
payment due in 2012.  The loan was paid in full during the year ending December 31, 2015. 

13. No events have occurred subsequent to the date of the combined financial statements through the date 
of this letter that would require, in accordance with US GAAP, recognition or disclosure in the combined 
financial statements. 

Very truly yours, 

SOONER TOWN CENTER, LLC AND STC LOWE’S LLC 

 
__________________________________________ 
Robert Collett 
Managing Member 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
John Cheek 
Consultant to Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center, LLC 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Kemp Woollen 
Chief Financial Officer of Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center, LLC 
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THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY 

 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Mayor 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

To the Members of 
Sooner Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC: 

We have audited the accompanying combined financial statements of Sooner Town Center, 
LLC (an Oklahoma limited liability company) and STC Lowe’s, LLC (an Oklahoma limited 
liability company), which comprise the combined balance sheets as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014, and the related combined statements of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the combined financial statements. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these combined financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of combined financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these combined financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the combined financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
combined financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the combined financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
combined financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion  
In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Sooner Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. 

Supplementary information 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the combined financial 
statements as a whole. The combining information included in Schedules I and II on pages 14, 
15 and 16 is presented for purposes of additional analysis, rather than to present the financial 
position, results of operations, and cash flows of the individual entities, and is not a required part 
of the combined financial statements. The other supplementary information included in 
Schedules III through VI is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required 
part of the combined financial statements. Such supplementary information is the responsibility 
of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the combined financial statements. The information has been subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the combined financial statements and certain 
additional procedures. These additional procedures included comparing and reconciling the 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
combined financial statements or to the combined financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and other supplementary information 
is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the combined financial statements as a whole. 

Charlotte, North Carolina 
May 9, 2017 
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Sooner Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC 3 

Combined balance sheets 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements. 

December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Assets
Real property, at cost:
Buildings and building improvements 28,433,088   28,433,088   
Land improvements and signage 12,501,802   12,501,802   

40,934,890   40,934,890   
Less – Accumulated depreciation (14,477,569)  (13,007,558)  

Real property, net 26,457,321   27,927,332   
Other assets:
Cash 767,914        723,472        
Restricted cash 998               998               
Accounts receivable 298,702        377,848        
Note receivable from related party 268,818        -                    
Security deposit trust account 43,925          43,925          
Deferred rent receivable 677,122        674,906        
Deferred charges and other assets, net 1,340,244     1,655,218     

Total assets 29,855,044   31,403,699   
Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Unearned revenue 42,050          163,019        
Note payable 40,864,618   41,606,694   
Note payable to related party -                    66,106          
Note payable to members and aff iliates 1,000            1,000            
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 575,747        403,471        
Security deposits 43,925          43,925          

Total liabilities 41,527,340   42,284,215   
Members’ deficit (11,672,296)  (10,880,516)  

Total liabilities and members' deficit 29,855,044   31,403,699   
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Combined statements of operations 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements. 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Rental revenues 6,719,316     6,616,218     
Operating expenses:
Common area maintenance 554,347        539,988        
General and administrative expenses 537,662        570,582        
Rent expense 1,435,004     1,413,721     
Property management fees 252,674        243,712        

Depreciation and amortization 1,799,896     1,809,791     
Total operating expenses 4,579,583     4,577,794     

Interest expense 2,487,513     2,535,116     
Net loss (347,780)       (496,692)       
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Combined statements of changes in members’ 
deficit 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements. 

Total Members' 
Deficit

$
Members' deficit, December 31, 2013 (9,874,824)                     
Net loss (496,692)                        
Distributions (509,000)                        

Members' deficit, December 31, 2014 (10,880,516)                   
Net loss (347,780)                        
Distributions (444,000)                        
Members' deficit, December 31, 2015 (11,672,296)                   
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Combined statements of cash flows 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements. 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
 $  $ 

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (347,780)       (496,692)       
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 1,470,011     1,470,940     
Amortization 329,885        338,851        
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 79,146          (22,272)         
Deferred rent receivable (2,216)           (61)                
Deferred charges and other assets (14,911)         (30,516)         
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 172,276        20,850          
Unearned revenue (120,969)       147,604        

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,565,442     1,428,704     
Cash flows from investing activities:
Issuance of note receivable to related party (268,818)       -                    

Net cash used in investing activities (268,818)       -                    
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on note payable (742,076)       (698,757)       
Repayments on note payable to related party (66,106)         (63,563)         
Member distributions (444,000)       (509,000)       

Net cash used in f inancing activities (1,252,182)    (1,271,320)    
Net increase in cash 44,442          157,384        
Cash, beginning of year 723,472        566,088        
Cash, end of year 767,914        723,472        
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 2,491,242     2,537,103     
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Notes to combined financial statements 

 

1  Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies 
Organization 

Sooner Town Center, LLC (an Oklahoma limited liability company) (STC) was organized in June 2002 for the 
purpose of acquiring, developing and leasing commercial properties in Oklahoma.  STC developed and operates a 
retail center (the Project) located in Midwest City, Oklahoma (the City).  The Project is defined by a 
redevelopment agreement between the City and STC as authorized by the Oklahoma Local Development Act.  
Under the terms of the agreement, the City leases the Project land to STC under two ground leases.  The City is 
considered to be a related party for financial reporting purposes.  STC is responsible for the design, construction, 
financing, leasing and management of the Project, all subject to City approval.  Income and loss will be allocated 
to members in accordance with the operating agreement. 

In September 2007, STC distributed its interest in the portion of the Project leased to Lowe’s to a related party 
under common control, STC Lowe’s, LLC (STC Lowe’s). 

Basis of Combination 

The accompanying combined financial statements include the operations of STC and STC Lowe’s (collectively 
referred to as the Company).  All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in 
combination. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company classifies highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of three months or less as cash 
equivalents. 

Restricted Cash 

Restricted cash includes $998 in amounts for utility deposits as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.  

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company’s operating property is located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Company’s ability to generate 
future revenues is dependent upon the economic conditions within this area. 

The Company’s tenants engage in a wide variety of businesses.  No single tenant accounted for more than 10% of 
total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  No single tenant accounted for more than 10% 
of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2015.  One tenant accounted for approximately 12% of accounts 
receivable as of December 31, 2014.   

The Company maintains its cash in a commercial bank.  Substantially all of the Company’s cash and cash 
equivalents are held in noninterest-bearing accounts.  Regularly during the year, the Company maintained cash 
and cash equivalents in accounts in excess of the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  
The Company’s management regularly monitors the financial stability of these financial institutions. 
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Revenue Recognition 

Rental revenue is generally recognized based on the terms of leases entered into with tenants.  Rental revenue 
from leases with scheduled rent increases, incentives, or abatements is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
noncancelable term of the respective leases.  Property operating cost recoveries from tenants for common area 
maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs totaling $1,080,957 and $1,019,614 for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, are recognized in the period in which the related expenses are 
incurred, and are included in rental revenues in the accompanying combined statements of operations.  
Receivables relating to these recoveries totaled $241,586 and $358,660 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively, and are recognized as accounts receivable on the accompanying combined balance sheets.  Interest 
income is recognized as it is earned.  If it becomes probable a tenant will fail to perform according to the terms of 
the lease, a loss equal to the accrued rental revenue unlikely to be received from that tenant would be charged to 
operations. 

Rental revenue received in advance from tenants is recognized as unearned rent on the accompanying combined 
balance sheets.  Unearned rent as of December 31, 2015 was $42,050. Unearned rent as of December 31, 2014 
was $163,019. 

Rental revenue recognized on a straight-line basis over rents due amounted to $2,216 and $61 for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  The aggregate excess of rental revenue recognized on a straight-line 
basis over rents due in accordance with the provisions of the leases was $677,122 and $674,906 at December 31, 
2015 and 2014, respectively. 

The Project consists of 604,093 square feet of retail space and 13 outparcel sites and was completed in 2008.  At 
December 31, 2015, tenants occupying 599,579 square feet and 13 of the outparcel sites were operating under 
noncancelable leases providing for future minimum rents of $35,161,423. 

Future minimum rents receivable under noncancelable leases for all known tenants at December 31, 2015, are as 
follows.  Most leases have renewal options which are not included below. 

Amount
$

2016 5,390,978   
2017 4,561,003   
2018 3,229,923   
2019 2,902,333   
2020 2,659,322   
Thereafter 16,417,864 

35,161,423 

 
Rent and other receivables are reported at their estimated net realizable value.  When necessary, the Company 
provides an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection 
information and existing economic conditions.  Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the 
receivables.  Rent and other receivables are written-off based on individual credit evaluation and specific 
circumstances of the customer.  Management has concluded that all of the Company’s accounts receivable 
amounts will be realizable and, accordingly, has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 
2015 and 2014. 
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Real Property 

Buildings and building improvements are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful life of 39 years.  Land improvements and signage are depreciated using an accelerated method of 
depreciation over the useful life of the assets, usually 15 years.  Direct and indirect costs that relate to land 
development and building construction are capitalized.  Costs are allocated to Project components by the specific 
identification method whenever possible.  Otherwise, costs are allocated based on square footage or acreage.   

Depreciation on real property charged to operations was $1,470,011 and $1,470,940 for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

Repairs are charged against operations.  Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of an asset are 
capitalized. 

The Company reviews the real property for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the real property may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of the real property is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the real property to undiscounted future net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the real property.  If the real property is considered to be impaired, the impairment 
to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the real property exceeds its fair 
value.  No impairment was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

Deferred Charges and Other Assets 

Deferred charges consist of lease commissions, lease costs and loan costs, and are stated at cost net of 
accumulated amortization.  At December 31, 2015 and 2014, total deferred charges capitalized were $4,330,487 
and $4,312,667, respectively, with accumulated amortization of $3,090,388 and $2,760,503, respectively.  The lease 
commissions and lease costs are amortized on the straight-line method over the terms of the respective leases.  
Lease commission and lease costs amortization expense of $263,817 and $272,783 is included in depreciation and 
amortization in the accompanying combined statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively.  Loan costs consist of various debt issuance costs and are amortized on the straight-line 
method, which approximates the effective interest method, based on terms of the respective debt agreements.  
Loan cost amortization expense of $66,068 is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying 
combined statements of operations for the years ended December 2015 and 2014. 

Deferred charges and other assets also include $100,145 and $103,054 of prepaid expenses at December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

The Company is a limited liability company treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes.  
As a result, the Company’s results of operations are included in the income tax returns of its individual members.  
Accordingly, no provision for federal or state income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying combined 
financial statements. 

The Company follows applicable authoritative guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes which, 
among other things, prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement 
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and provides 
guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and disclosure.  The 
Company has no uncertain tax positions. 

039



Sooner Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC 10 

 

Use of Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

2 Note Payable 

The Company entered into a note payable agreement with 40|86 Mortgage Capital for borrowings in the principal 
amount of $44,760,000 on January 4, 2007.  The note is collateralized by a deed of trust on real property and 
assignment of rents.  The interest rate for the term of the loan is fixed at an annual rate of 6.03%.  Principal and 
interest are payable in monthly installments of $269,223 through November 1, 2017, when all remaining principal 
and interest are due. 

Interest incurred related to the above note totaled $2,484,868 and $2,528,405 for the years ended December 31, 
2015 and 2014, respectively.   

Scheduled principal payments on the note payable amounts are as follows: 

Amount
$

2016 788,081      
2017 40,076,537 

40,864,618 
 

3 Note Payable to Related Party 

The Company and the City reached an agreement in 2012 regarding the settlement of any unpaid or disputed 
participation rent for all periods prior to January 1, 2010.  This agreement provided that, irrespective of the terms 
of any lease or other prior agreement, participation rent from commencement through December 31, 2009, would 
be equal to the sum of amounts previously paid and a final settlement amount of $249,555.  The Company 
executed a promissory note to the City for the settlement amount, payable in four annual installments of $68,750 
including interest at an annual rate of 4% with the first payment due in 2012.  This loan was paid in full during the 
year ending December 31, 2015. 

Interest incurred related to the above note totaled $2,645 and $5,187 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively.    

4 Note Receivable from Related Party 

Sooner Town Center III, LLC (STC III) and the Company reached an agreement in 2015 whereby the Company 
loaned STC III $268,818.  Monthly interest payments commenced on June 1, 2015, with interest-only payments 
of $576.  The interest rate is fixed at 2.57%.  The entire outstanding principal balance, plus any accrued but 
unpaid interest, shall be due and payable on October 31, 2017.   
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5 Leases 

The Company leases the Project land from the City under two ground leases, designated anchor and general.  
Both have terms commencing on June 1, 2004, with rent commencement on February 12, 2006, and expire on 
October 31, 2062.  Subsequent to rent commencement, the anchor ground lease rent is $510,000 annually.  The 
general ground lease provides for three tiers of rent – general ground rent of $1 per year, preferred rent of 
$305,000 annually, payable to the extent of net operating income in excess of debt service as defined in the 
redevelopment agreement, and participation rent equivalent to 50% of net operating income in excess of debt 
service remaining after payment of preferred rent.  Preferred rent is cumulative after the Project is 50% leased.  
To the extent that calculated preferred rent payable is less than $305,000, the difference is accrued and is payable 
when future net operating income in excess of debt service is sufficient.  Participation rent expense totaled 
$620,004 and $598,720 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Total rental expense 
totaled $1,435,004 and $1,413,721 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Excluding the 
rent expense amount included in the note payable to the City, rent expense incurred and unpaid totaled $370,401 
and $194,397 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and is included in accounts payable and accrued 
expenses on the accompanying balance sheets.  

6 Related-party Transactions and Balances 

Collett Management, LLC (Collett), an affiliated property management company, provides management and 
brokerage services to the Company.  Collett receives a monthly fee of 4% of gross monthly collections, net of 
anchor ground lease rent, for providing property management services.  Such fees totaled $252,674 and $242,426 
for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Additionally, tenant security deposits are held in a 
trust account maintained by Collett, consistent with industry practice and regulatory requirements.  Amounts due 
under this arrangement are recognized as security deposit trust account and totaled $43,925 as of December 31, 
2015 and 2014.  The Company paid nominal amounts for various expense reimbursements to Collett for both 
years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

Sooner Investment Realty (SIR), an affiliated entity, provides leasing services to the Company.  The Company 
paid $17,820 and $6,807 in leasing commissions to SIR for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively.   

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company has recorded $1,000 in a related-party note payable. 

The Company paid approximately $17,576 and $23,556 in utilities expense to the City for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.    

The Company subleases part of the Project land to Sooner Town Center II, LLC (STC II), a related party.  The 
lease commenced on July 19, 2012, with rent commencement on October 31, 2012.  The lease expires on 
October 31, 2062, with a five-year renewal option.  Annual rent for the first 10 years is $45,000.  The monthly 
rent amount increases by 10% on the 10th anniversary of the commencement date, and every five years thereafter.  
Straight-line rental income for this lease totaled $65,609 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  These 
amounts are included in the future minimum rents receivable schedule included in Note 1, on page 8. 

The Company subleases part of the Project land to STC III, a related party.  Rent commenced on July 2, 2014.  
The lease expires on October 31, 2062, with a five-year renewal option.  Annual rent for the first 10 years is 
$50,000.  The monthly rent amount increases by 10% on the 10th anniversary of the commencement date, and 
every five years thereafter.  Straight-line rental income for this lease totaled $71,717 and $35,665 for the years 
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  These amounts are included in the future minimum rents 
receivable schedule included in Note 1, on page 8. 
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7 Subsequent Events 

The Company has analyzed its operations subsequent to December 31, 2015, through May 9, 2017, the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued.    
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Schedule I - Combining balance sheets  

 

December 31, 2015
Sooner Town 

Center, LLC STC Lowe's, LLC Eliminations Combined
$ $ $ $

Assets
Real property, at cost:
Buildings and building improvements 28,433,088              -                             -                    28,433,088    
Land improvements and signage 12,230,038              271,764                 -                    12,501,802    

40,663,126              271,764                 -                    40,934,890    
Less – Accumulated depreciation (14,252,988)             (224,581)                -                    (14,477,569)  

Real property, net 26,410,138              47,183                   -                    26,457,321    
Other assets:
Cash 767,914                   -                             -                    767,914         
Restricted cash 998                          -                             -                    998                
Accounts receivable 298,702                   307,970                 (307,970)       298,702         
Notes receivable from related party 268,818                   -                             -                    268,818         
Security deposit trust account 43,925                     -                             -                    43,925           
Deferred rent receivable 677,122                   -                             -                    677,122         
Deferred charges and other assets, net 1,156,188                184,056                 -                    1,340,244      

29,623,805              539,209                 (307,970)       29,855,044    
Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Unearned revenue 42,050                     -                             -                    42,050           
Note payable 40,864,618              -                             -                    40,864,618    
Note payable to related party -                           -                             -                    -                    
Note payable to members and aff iliates 308,970                   -                             (307,970)       1,000             
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 575,747                   -                             -                    575,747         
Security deposits 43,925                     -                             -                    43,925           

Total liabilities 41,835,310              -                             (307,970)       41,527,340    
Members’ (deficit) equity (12,211,505)             539,209                 -                    (11,672,296)  

29,623,805              539,209                 (307,970)       29,855,044    

044



Sooner Town Center, LLC and STC Lowe’s, LLC 15 

Schedule I - Combining balance sheets (cont’d) 

 

December 31, 2014
Sooner Town 

Center, LLC STC Lowe's, LLC Eliminations Combined
$ $ $ $

Assets
Real property, at cost:
Buildings and building improvements 28,433,088              -                             -                    28,433,088    
Land improvements and signage 12,230,038              271,764                 -                    12,501,802    

40,663,126              271,764                 -                    40,934,890    
Less – Accumulated depreciation (12,799,076)             (208,482)                -                    (13,007,558)  

Real property, net 27,864,050              63,282                   -                    27,927,332    
Other assets:
Cash 723,472                   -                             -                    723,472         
Restricted cash 998                          -                             -                    998                
Accounts receivable 377,848                   281,308                 (281,308)       377,848         
Security deposit trust account 43,925                     -                             -                    43,925           
Deferred rent receivable 674,906                   -                             -                    674,906         
Deferred charges and other assets, net 1,452,124                203,094                 -                    1,655,218      

31,137,323              547,684                 (281,308)       31,403,699    
Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Unearned revenue 163,019                   -                             -                    163,019         
Note payable 41,606,694              -                             -                    41,606,694    
Note payable to related party 66,106                     -                             -                    66,106           
Note payable to members and aff iliates 282,308                   -                             (281,308)       1,000             
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 403,471                   -                             -                    403,471         
Security deposits 43,925                     -                             -                    43,925           

Total liabilities 42,565,523              -                             (281,308)       42,284,215    
Members’ (deficit) equity (11,428,200)             547,684                 -                    (10,880,516)  

31,137,323              547,684                 (281,308)       31,403,699    
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Schedule II - Combining statements of operations  

 

For the year ended December 31, 2015
Sooner Town 

Center, LLC STC Lowe's, LLC Combined
$ $ $

Rental revenues 6,169,316                               550,000                 6,719,316   
Operating expenses:
Common area maintenance 554,347                                  -                             554,347      
General and administrative expenses 524,324                                  13,338                   537,662      
Rent expense 925,004                                  510,000                 1,435,004   
Property management fees 252,674                                  -                             252,674      
Depreciation and amortization 1,764,759                               35,137                   1,799,896   

Total operating expenses 4,021,108                               558,475                 4,579,583   
Interest expense 2,487,513                               -                             2,487,513   
Net loss (339,305)                                 (8,475)                    (347,780)    

For the year ended December 31, 2014
Sooner Town 

Center, LLC STC Lowe's, LLC Combined
$ $ $

Rental revenues 6,066,218                               550,000                 6,616,218   
Operating expenses:
Common area maintenance 539,988                                  -                             539,988      
General and administrative expenses 566,374                                  4,208                     570,582      
Rent expense 903,721                                  510,000                 1,413,721   
Property management fees 243,712                                  -                             243,712      
Depreciation and amortization 1,774,751                               35,040                   1,809,791   

Total operating expenses 4,028,546                               549,248                 4,577,794   
Interest expense 2,535,116                               -                             2,535,116   
Net loss (497,444)                                 752                        (496,692)    
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Schedule III – Net operating income 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Rental revenues per audited f inancial statements 6,719,316        6,616,218        
Less - Anchor ground lease revenue up to related expense (510,000)          (510,000)          

Rental revenues excluding anchor tenant 6,209,316        6,106,218        
Adjustments to cash basis: 

Deferred rent receivable (2,216)              (61)                   
Common area maintenance receivable 117,075           (16,911)            
Unearned rent (120,969)          147,604           

Gross operating revenue (subtenant rents) 6,203,206        6,236,850        
Operating expenses:

Operating expenses per audited f inancial statements 4,579,583        4,577,794        
Less - Anchor tenant rent expense (per Schedule II) (510,000)          (510,000)          
Plus - Additions to project development costs 17,820             7,690               

Operating expenses, net 4,087,403        4,075,484        
Adjustments for non-cash expenses:

Depreciation and amortization per audited f inancial statements (1,799,896)       (1,809,791)       
Other adjustments:

Preferred rent, accrued or paid (305,000)          (305,000)          
Participation rent, accrued or paid (620,004)          (598,720)          

Operating expenses 1,362,503        1,361,973        
Net operating income 4,840,703        4,874,877        
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Schedule IV – Debt service 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Debt service:
Interest expense on debt per audited f inancial statements 2,487,513     2,535,116     
Debt principal payments 742,076        698,757        
Principal payments on City Note 66,106          63,563          
          Total debt service 3,295,695     3,297,436     
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Schedule V – Net cash flow 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Net operating income 4,840,703         4,874,877         
Less - Debt service (3,295,695)        (3,297,436)        
Net cash flow 1,545,008         1,577,441         
Less - Cash reserve -                        (75,000)             
Less - Preferred rent (305,000)           (305,000)           
Less - General ground lease (1)                      (1)                      
Net cash flow, after preferred rent and general ground lease 1,240,007         1,197,440         
Participation rent factor 50% 50%
Participation rent 620,004            598,720            
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Schedule VI – Subtenant rents 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014

$ $
Subtenant rents, excluding the anchor ground lease 6,203,206     6,236,850     
          Total subtenant rents (cash basis) 6,203,206     6,236,850     
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Sooner Town Center II, LLC 

May 9, 2017 

 

Grant Thornton LLP 
201 S. College St. #2500 
Charlotte, NC 28244 
 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

We are providing this letter in connection with your audits of the financial statements of Sooner Town Center 
II, LLC (the “Entity”), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 
and the related statements of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. We understand that your audits were made for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material 
respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US 
GAAP”).  

We have fulfilled our responsibility, as set out in the terms of the Engagement Letter, for the preparation and 
fair presentation in the financial statements of financial position, results of operations, and cash flows in 
accordance with US GAAP. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, including programs and controls to 
prevent and detect fraud.  

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are 
considered to be material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, in light of the surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a 
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or 
misstatement. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary 
for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves, as of May 9, 2017, the following representations made 
to you during your audits.  

1. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. We have no knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the 
Entity involving:  

a. Management 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or  
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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2. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Entity’s financial 
statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short 
sellers, or others.  

3. There are no known violations or possible violations of, or no known instances of noncompliance or 
suspected noncompliance with, laws and regulations whose effects should be considered by management 
when preparing the financial statements, as a basis for recording a loss contingency or for disclosure.  

4. The Entity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on 
the financial statements in the event of a noncompliance.  

5. The Entity has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 
assets and liabilities.  

6. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Entity’s related parties and all related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware. Related party relationships and transactions and related amounts 
receivable from or payable to related parties (including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing 
arrangements, and guarantees) have been properly accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements 
in accordance with US GAAP.  

We understand that “related parties” include (1) affiliates of the Entity; (2) entities for which investments 
in their equity securities would be required to be accounted for by the equity method by the investing 
entity; (3) trusts for the benefit of employees, such as pension and profit-sharing trusts that are managed 
by or under the trusteeship of management; (4) principal owners of the Entity and members of their 
immediate families; and (5) management of the Entity and members of their immediate families.  

Related parties also include (1) other parties with which the Entity may deal if one party controls or can 
significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an extent that one of the 
transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests; and (2) other parties 
that can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the transacting parties or that 
have an ownership interest in one of the transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an 
extent that one or more of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests. 

7. There are no known actual or possible litigation, claims, or assessments that our legal counsel has advised 
us are probable of assertion whose effects should be considered by management when preparing the 
financial statements and that should be accounted for and disclosed in accordance with US GAAP 
(FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (ASC) 450, Contingencies).  

8. The calculation of participation rent for the year ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 as 
determined in the supplementary schedules of net operating income, debt service, net cash flow, and 
subtenant rents are prepared in compliance with the terms as defined in the Westside General Ground 
Lease (the Agreement). We have read the supplementary schedules and believe the information presented 
is consistent with and accurately reflects the provisions contained in the Agreement. 

9. We believe the information included in the Leases footnote to the financial statements, which describes 
the participation rent calculation, is consistent with our understanding of the agreement. 
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10. We believe that the rent expense for participation rent is $105,345 for the year ended December 31, 2015 
and a participation rent credit was granted in the amount of $91,648 for the year ended December 31, 
2014 due to negative cumulative Net Cash Flows as of December 31, 2014. 

11. We believe that amounts due for participation rent are $105,345 and $0 as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014 respectively. 

12.  No events have occurred subsequent to the date of the financial statements through the date of this 
letter that would require, in accordance with US GAAP, recognition or disclosure in the financial 
statements. 

Very truly yours, 

SOONER TOWN CENTER II, LLC 

 
__________________________________________ 
Robert Collett 
Managing Member 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
John Cheek 
Consultant to Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Kemp Woollen 
Chief Financial Officer of Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
 
THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY 

 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Mayor 
 

MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Chairman 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

To the Members of 
Sooner Town Center II, LLC: 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
(an Oklahoma limited liability company), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 
2015 and 2014, and the related statements of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Sooner Town Center II, LLC as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Supplementary information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as 
a whole. The supplementary information presented in Schedules I through IV is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such 
supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. 
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and certain additional procedures. These additional procedures included 
comparing and reconciling the information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

Charlotte, North Carolina 
May 9, 2017 
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Balance sheets 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Assets
Real property, at cost:
Buildings 6,867,756     6,867,756     
Land improvements and signage 1,772,745     1,772,745     

8,640,501     8,640,501     
Less – Accumulated depreciation (1,023,599)    (705,667)       

Real property, net 7,616,902     7,934,834     
Other assets:
Cash 304,700        58,536          
Accounts receivable 91,771          143,386        
Deferred charges and other assets, net 504,195        590,539        

Total assets 8,517,568     8,727,295     
Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Note payable 8,726,952     8,914,345     
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 183,485        133,360        
Unearned revenue 128,119        109,540        

Total liabilities 9,038,556     9,157,245     
Members’ deficit (520,988)       (429,950)       

Total liabilities and members' deficit 8,517,568     8,727,295     
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Statements of operations 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Rental revenues 1,218,881         1,099,505         
Operating expenses:
Common area maintenance 62,312              81,032              
General and administrative expenses 244,324            265,112            
Rent expense (credit) 170,954            (26,038)             
Depreciation and amortization 404,637            404,379            

Total operating expenses 882,227            724,485            
Interest expense 427,692            431,787            
Net loss (91,038)             (56,767)             
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Statements of changes in members’ deficit 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Total Members' 
Deficit

$
Members' deficit, December 31, 2013 (373,183)                        
Net loss (56,767)                          
Members' deficit, December 31, 2014 (429,950)                        
Net loss (91,038)                          
Members' deficit, December 31, 2015 (520,988)                        
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Statements of cash flows 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

For the years ending December 31 2015 2014
 $  $ 

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (91,038)                     (56,767)                     
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation 317,932                     321,961                     
Amortization 86,705                       82,418                       
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 51,615                       (51,852)                     
Deferred charges and other assets (361)                          (36,697)                     
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 50,125                       (394,064)                   
Unearned revenue 18,579                       46,082                       

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 433,557                     (88,919)                     
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to real property -                            (416,398)                   

Net cash used in investing activities -                            (416,398)                   
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on note payable (210,220)                   (178,599)                   
Proceeds from note payable 22,827                       -                            

Net cash used in f inancing activities (187,393)                   (178,599)                   
Net increase (decrease) in cash 246,164                     (683,916)                   
Cash, beginning of year 58,536                       742,452                     
Cash, end of year 304,700                     58,536                       
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 426,127                     434,923                     
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Notes to financial statements 

 

1  Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies 
Organization 

Sooner Town Center II, LLC (an Oklahoma limited liability company) (the Company) was organized in 
January 2012 for the purpose of acquiring, developing and leasing commercial properties in Oklahoma.  The 
Company developed and operates a retail center (the Project) located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Project is 
defined by a ground lease agreement between Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority, an affiliate of Midwest 
City, Oklahoma (collectively, the City) and the Company.  The City is considered to be a related party for financial 
reporting purposes.  The Company is responsible for design, construction, financing, leasing and management of 
the Project, all subject to City approval.  Income and loss will be allocated to members in accordance with the 
operating agreement. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company classifies highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of three months or less as cash 
equivalents. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company’s operating property is located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Company’s ability to generate 
future revenues is dependent upon the economic conditions within this area. 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had three tenants.  Each tenant comprised more than 10% of 
total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  Two tenants comprised more than 10% of 
accounts receivable as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

The Company maintains its cash in a commercial bank.  Regularly during the year, the Company maintained cash 
and cash equivalents in accounts in excess of the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  
The Company’s management regularly monitors the financial stability of these financial institutions. 

Revenue Recognition 

Rental revenue is generally recognized based on the terms of leases entered into with tenants.  Rental revenue 
from leases with scheduled rent increases, incentives or abatements is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
noncancelable term of the respective leases.  Property operating cost recoveries from tenants for common area 
maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs totaling $249,232 and $217,037 for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, are recognized in the period in which the related expenses are 
incurred, and are included in rental revenues in the accompanying statements of operations.  Receivables relating 
to these recoveries totaled $5,201 and $99,772 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and are 
recognized as accounts receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.  If it becomes probable that a tenant will 
fail to perform according to the terms of the lease, a loss equal to the accrued rental revenue unlikely to be 
received from that tenant would be charged to operations.  The Company also earns percentage rent from a 
tenant based on a gross receipts calculation.  This revenue is recognized in the period it is earned.  Receivables 
relating to percentage rent totaled $78,877 and $41,156 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and are 
recognized as accounts receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.   

Revenue received in advance from tenants is recognized as unearned revenue on the accompanying balance 
sheets.  Unearned revenue as of December 31, 2015, was $128,119.  Unearned revenue as of December 31, 2014 
was $109,540.   
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The Project consists of 69,308 square feet of retail space and was completed in 2012.  At December 31, 2015, 
three tenants occupying 69,308 square feet were operating noncancelable leases providing for future minimum 
rents of $7,479,841, with the latest expiration date of July 31, 2029. 

Future minimum rents receivable under noncancelable leases for all known tenants at December 31, 2015, are as 
follows.  Most leases have renewal options which are not included below. 

Amount
$

2016 926,692      
2017 926,692      
2018 845,452      
2019 829,204      
2020 829,204      
Thereafter 3,122,597   

7,479,841   

 
Rent and other receivables are reported at their estimated net realizable value.  When necessary, the Company 
provides an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection 
information and existing economic conditions.  Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the 
receivables.  Rent and other receivables are written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific 
circumstances of the customer.  Management has concluded that all of the Company’s accounts receivable 
amounts will be realizable and, accordingly, has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 
2015 and 2014.  
Real Property 

Buildings are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 
39 years.  Land improvements and signage are depreciated using an accelerated method of depreciation over the 
useful life of the assets, usually 15 years.  Direct and indirect costs that relate to land development and building 
construction are capitalized.  Costs are allocated to Project components by the specific identification method 
whenever possible.  Otherwise, costs are allocated based on square footage or acreage.   

Depreciation on real property charged to operations was $317,932 and $321,961 for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

Repairs are charged against operations.  Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of an asset are 
capitalized. 

The Company reviews the real property for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the real property may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of the real property is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the real property to undiscounted future net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the real property.  If the real property is considered to be impaired, the impairment 
to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the real property exceeds its fair 
value.  No impairment was recognized as of December 31, 2015. 
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Deferred Charges and Other Assets 

Deferred charges consist of lease commissions, lease costs and loan costs and are stated at cost net of 
accumulated amortization.  At December 31, 2015 and 2014, total deferred charges capitalized were $729,017 
with accumulated amortization of $255,569 and $168,864, respectively.  The lease commissions and lease costs are 
amortized on the straight-line method over the terms of the respective leases.  Lease commission and lease costs 
amortization expense of $63,990 and $59,703 is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying 
statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Loan costs consist of 
various debt issuance costs and are amortized on the straight-line method, which approximates the effective 
interest method, based on terms of the respective debt agreements.  Loan cost amortization expense of $22,715 is 
included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying statement of operations for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

Deferred charges and other assets also includes $30,747 and $30,386 of prepaid expenses at December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

The Company is a limited liability company treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes.  
As a result, the Company’s results of operations are included in the income tax returns of its individual members.  
Accordingly, no provision for federal or state income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying financial 
statements. 

The Company follows applicable authoritative guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes which, 
among other things, prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement 
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and provides 
guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and disclosure.  The 
Company has no uncertain tax positions.   

Use of Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

2 Debt 

The Company entered into a note payable agreement with First National Bank for borrowings in the maximum 
principal amount of $9,136,970 on September 18, 2012.  Total amounts drawn on this loan as of December 31, 
2015 and 2014, were $8,726,952 and $8,914,345, respectively.  The note is collateralized by a deed of trust on real 
property and assignment of rents.  From September 18, 2012 to September 10, 2013, the interest rate was variable 
at a rate equal to 3% per annum in excess of the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR).  From September 11, 
2013 to September 10, 2018, the interest rate is variable at a rate equal to 3% per annum in excess of the Treasury 
Rate but not less than 4.5%.  For the years ending December 31, 2015 and 2014, the interest rate was 4.76%. 
Interest-only payments on the amounts disbursed under the note were to be paid monthly until October 10, 2013, 
at which time principal and interest payments began.   

On February 10, 2017, the Company refinanced the note with First National Bank for the entire outstanding 
balance on that date.  Under the amended terms, the interest rate is fixed at a rate equal to 3.50% per annum in 
excess of the Treasury Rate adjustable every five years.  The entire unpaid balance of principal and accrued unpaid 
interest owing on the note will be due and payable on February 10, 2039. 
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Interest incurred related to the above loans totaled $427,692 and $431,787 for the years ended December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. 

Scheduled principal payments on the note payable are as follows: 

Amount
$

2016 201,288      
2017 171,240      
2018 144,171      
2019 152,213      
2020 160,703      
Thereafter 7,897,337   

8,726,952   
 

3 Leases 

The Company subleases the Project land from Sooner Town Center, LLC (STC), a related party, which leases the 
land from the City.  The lease commenced on July 19, 2012, with rent commencement on October 31, 2012.  The 
lease expires on October 31, 2062, with a five-year renewal option.  The monthly rent amount increases by 10% 
on the 10th anniversary of the commencement date, and every five years thereafter. 

Straight-line rental expense totaled $65,609 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  Rent expense 
related to this lease incurred and unpaid totaled $41,218 and $20,609 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively, and is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the accompanying balance sheet. 

Future minimum rent payments for the original term are as follows: 

Amount
$

2016 45,000        
2017 45,000        
2018 45,000        
2019 45,000        
2020 45,000        
Thereafter 2,912,882   

3,137,882   
 

The Company also has a ground lease with the Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority, an affiliated entity, 
which provides for participation rent equivalent to 50% of net cash flow as defined measured on a cumulative 
basis.  Rent commenced on October 31, 2012, under this lease which expires on October 31, 2062, with a five-
year renewal option.  In addition to participation rent, starting one year after the commencement date, annual rent 
will be $1.  Participation rent is due and payable only to the extent that cumulative net cash flows are positive. 
Rent expense under this lease is $105,345 for the year ended December 31, 2015.  Due to negative cumulative net 
cash flows as of December 31, 2014, and with the concurrence of the parties to the lease, a participation rent 
credit was granted on unpaid participation rent in the amount of $91,648 as of December 31, 2013, resulting in 
cancellation of the rent liability as of that date.  
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4 Related-party Transactions and Balances 

Collett Management, LLC (Collett), an affiliated entity, provides leasing, development and brokerage services to 
the Company.  The Company paid nominal amounts for various expense reimbursements to Collett for the years 
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  Property management fees totaling $47,091 and $44,075 were paid to 
Collett for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

John S. Cheek, Inc. (Cheek), an affiliated entity, provides tax and accounting services to the Company.  The 
Company paid $4,375 and $3,000 in fees to Cheek for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.   

The Company leases land from the City (see Note 3).  Utility expenses paid to the City totaled $7,579 and $4,451 
for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

Certain members guarantee the note payable.    

5 Subsequent Events 

The Company has analyzed its operations subsequent to December 31, 2015 through May 9, 2017, the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued.   
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Schedule I – Net operating income 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Rental revenues per audited financial statements 1,218,881         1,099,505         
Adjustments to cash basis: 

Rent & CAM receivable 51,615              (51,852)             
Unearned rent 18,579              46,082              

Gross operating revenue (cash basis) 1,289,075         1,093,735         
Total operating expenses 882,227            724,485            
Adjustments for noncash expenses and expenses funded w ith loan proceeds
Depreciation and amortization (404,637)           (404,379)           
Expenses paid w ith loan proceeds -                        63,605              
Project costs in excess of loan -                        232,342            
Participation rent, accrued or paid (105,345)           91,648              
Operating expenses 372,245            707,701            
Net operating income 916,830            386,034            
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Schedule II – Debt service 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Debt service:
Interest expense per audited f inancial statements 427,692                431,787                
Net principal payments 187,393                178,599                
          Total debt service 615,085                610,386                
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Schedule III – Net cash flow 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Net operating income 916,830               386,034               
Less - Debt service (615,085)              (610,386)              
Net cash flow, current year 301,745               (224,352)              
Less - Cash Reserve (50,000)                -                           
Less Distributions Paid -                           (50,000)                
Less - 2013 Participation Rent Paid -                           (50,000)                
Net cash f low , current year, after reserves and distributions 251,745               (324,352)              

Cumulative net cash flow, beginning of year (41,056)                283,296               
Cumulative net cash flow, end of year 210,689               (41,056)                

Participation rent factor 50% 50%
Participation rent (minimum of $0) 105,345               -                       

Prior year accrued participation rent -                       141,648               
Less - 2013 Participation Rent Paid -                       (50,000)                
Net prior year accrued participation rent, cancelled in 2014 due to negative
cumulative net cash f low -                       91,648                 
Participation rent credit due to negative end of year cumulative cash flow -                       (91,648)                

 
 

070



Sooner Town Center II, LLC 16 

Schedule IV – Subtenant rents 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014

$ $
Tenant rents 1,289,073         1,093,735         
          Total rents (cash basis) 1,289,073         1,093,735         
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 Sooner Town Center III, LLC 

May 9, 2017 

 

Grant Thornton LLP 
201 S. College St. #2500 
Charlotte, NC 28244 
 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

We are providing this letter in connection with your audits of the financial statements of Sooner Town Center 
III, LLC (the “Entity”), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 
and the related statements of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended 
December 31, 2015, and for the period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, and the related 
notes to the financial statements. We understand that your audits were made for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”).  

We have fulfilled our responsibility, as set out in the terms of the Engagement Letter, for the preparation and 
fair presentation in the financial statements of financial position, results of operations, and cash flows in 
accordance with US GAAP. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, including programs and controls to 
prevent and detect fraud.  

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are 
considered to be material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, in light of the surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a 
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or 
misstatement. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary 
for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves, as of May 9, 2017, the following representations made 
to you during your audits.  

1. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. We have no knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the 
Entity involving:  

a. Management 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or  
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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2. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Entity’s financial 
statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short 
sellers, or others.  

3. There are no known violations or possible violations of, or no known instances of noncompliance or 
suspected noncompliance with, laws and regulations whose effects should be considered by management 
when preparing the financial statements, as a basis for recording a loss contingency or for disclosure.  

4. The Entity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on 
the financial statements in the event of a noncompliance.  

5. The Entity has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 
assets and liabilities.  

6. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Entity’s related parties and all related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware. Related party relationships and transactions and related amounts 
receivable from or payable to related parties (including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing 
arrangements, and guarantees) have been properly accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements 
in accordance with US GAAP.  

We understand that “related parties” include (1) affiliates of the Entity; (2) entities for which investments 
in their equity securities would be required to be accounted for by the equity method by the investing 
entity; (3) trusts for the benefit of employees, such as pension and profit-sharing trusts that are managed 
by or under the trusteeship of management; (4) principal owners of the Entity and members of their 
immediate families; and (5) management of the Entity and members of their immediate families.  

Related parties also include (1) other parties with which the Entity may deal if one party controls or can 
significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an extent that one of the 
transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests; and (2) other parties 
that can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the transacting parties or that 
have an ownership interest in one of the transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an 
extent that one or more of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests. 

7. There are no known actual or possible litigation, claims, or assessments that our legal counsel has advised 
us are probable of assertion whose effects should be considered by management when preparing the 
financial statements and that should be accounted for and disclosed in accordance with US GAAP 
(FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (ASC) 450, Contingencies).   

8. No events have occurred subsequent to the date of the financial statements through the date of this letter 
that would require, in accordance with US GAAP, recognition or disclosure in the financial statements. 
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Very truly yours, 

 

SOONER TOWN CENTER III, LLC 

 
__________________________________________ 
Robert Collett 
Managing Member 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
John Cheek 
Consultant to Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center III, LLC 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Kemp Woollen 
Chief Financial Officer of Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center III, LLC 
 
 

THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY 

 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Mayor 
 

 

MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 

 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Chairman 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

To the Members of 
Sooner Town Center III, LLC: 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sooner Town Center III, LLC (an 
Oklahoma limited liability company), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 
2015 and 2014, and the related statements of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash 
flows for the year ended December 31, 2015 and for the period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) 
to December 31, 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Sooner Town Center III, LLC as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2015 and the 
period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Charlotte, North Carolina 
May 9, 2017 
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Balance sheets 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Assets
Real property, at cost:
Buildings 2,695,501     2,241,756     
Land improvements and signage 715,216        705,111        

3,410,717     2,946,867     
Less – Accumulated depreciation (146,770)       (14,507)         

Real property, net 3,263,947     2,932,360     
Other assets:
Cash 11,855          41,542          
Accounts receivable 19,264          28,644          
Deferred charges and other assets, net 165,862        180,629        

Total assets 3,460,928     3,183,175     
Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Note payable 3,196,504     3,000,128     
Note payable to related party 268,818        -                    
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 90,034          219,280        
Unearned revenue 12,354          -                    

Total liabilities 3,567,710     3,219,408     
Members’ deficit (106,782)       (36,233)         

Total liabilities and members' deficit 3,460,928     3,183,175     
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Statements of operations 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 
For the year 

ended 
December 31, 

2015

For the period from 
May 16, 2014 

(Inception) to 
December 31, 2014

For the period from 
January 11, 2012 

(Inception) to 
December 31, 2012

$ $ $
Rental revenues 409,600               28,644                           128,964                          
Operating expenses:
Common area maintenance 52,524                 2,875                             8,979                              
General and administrative expenses 82,273                 16,530                           13,493                            
Rent expense 71,717                 20,799                           7,621                              
Depreciation and amortization 186,690               15,250                           65,908                            

Total operating expenses 393,204               55,454                           96,001                            
Interest expense 86,945                 9,423                             41,088                            
Net loss (70,549)                (36,233)                          (8,125)                            
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Statements of changes in members’ deficit 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Total Members' 
Deficit

$
Members' equity at May 16, 2014 (Inception) -                                     
Net loss (36,233)                          
Members' deficit, December 31, 2014 (36,233)                          
Net loss (70,549)                          
Members' deficit, December 31, 2015 (106,782)                        
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Statements of cash flows 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2015

For the Period 
from May 16, 2014 

(Inception) to 
December 31, 2014

For the Period 
from January 11, 
2012 (Inception) 
to December 31, 

2012
 $  $  $ 

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (70,549)               (36,233)                     (8,125)                    
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by
    operating activities:

Depreciation 132,263              14,507                       54,292                    
Amortization 54,427                743                            11,616                    
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 9,380                  (28,644)                     (1,000)                    
Deferred charges and other assets (39,660)               (82,067)                     (128,964)                
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (129,246)             219,280                     (226,768)                
Unearned revenue 12,354                -                            (436,002)                

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (31,031)               87,586                       (734,951)                
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to real property (463,850)             (2,946,867)                (7,791,686)             

Net cash used in investing activities (463,850)             (2,946,867)                (7,791,686)             
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of debt issuance costs -                      (99,305)                     -                         
Repayments on note payable (203,496)             -                            2,000,000               
Proceeds from note payable 399,872              3,000,128                  (2,000,000)             
Proceeds from note payable to related party 268,818              -                            

Net cash provided by f inancing activities 465,194              2,900,823                  -                         
Net (decrease) increase in cash (29,687)               41,542                       -                         
Cash, beginning of period 41,542                -                            -                         
Cash, end of period 11,855                41,542                       -                         
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 107,875              -                            25,708                    
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Notes to financial statements 

 

1  Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies 
Organization 

Sooner Town Center III, LLC (an Oklahoma limited liability company) (the Company) was organized in 
May 2014 for the purpose of acquiring, developing and leasing commercial properties in Oklahoma.  The 
Company developed and operates a retail center (the Project) located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Project is 
defined by a ground lease agreement between Sooner Town Center, LLC and the Company.  The Company is 
responsible for design, construction, financing, leasing and management of the Project.  Income and loss will be 
allocated to members in accordance with the operating agreement. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company classifies highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of three months or less as cash 
equivalents. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company’s operating property is located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Company’s ability to generate 
future revenues is dependent upon the economic conditions within this area. 

As of December 31, 2015, the Company had two tenants.  The initial tenant comprised approximately 64% of 
rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015.  As of December 31, 2015, substantially all of the accounts 
receivable balance was due from the second tenant.  As of December 31, 2014, the Company had one tenant.  
Accordingly, 100% of rental revenues and accounts receivable related to this tenant.    

The Company maintains its cash in a commercial bank.  Regularly during the year, the Company maintained cash 
and cash equivalents in accounts in excess of the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  
The Company’s management regularly monitors the financial stability of these financial institutions. 

Revenue Recognition 

Rental revenue is generally recognized based on the terms of leases entered into with tenants.  Rental revenue 
from leases with scheduled rent increases, abatements, or incentives is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
noncancelable term of the respective leases.  Property operating cost recoveries from tenants for common area 
maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs totaling $80,917 and $4,483 for the year ended 
December 31, 2015 and for the period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, respectively, are 
recognized in the period in which the related expenses are incurred, and are included in rental revenues in the 
accompanying statements of operations.  Receivables relating to these recoveries totaled $15,843 and $4,483 as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and are recognized as accounts receivable on the accompanying 
balance sheets.  If it becomes probable that a tenant will fail to perform according to the terms of the lease, a loss 
equal to the accrued rental revenue unlikely to be received from that tenant would be charged to operations.  

Revenue received in advance from tenants is recognized as unearned revenue on the accompanying balance 
sheets.  Unearned revenue as of December 31, 2015 was $12,354.  Unearned revenue as of December 31, 2014 
was $0.   

The Project consists of two units totaling 23,024 square feet of retail space and was completed in 2015.  At 
December 31, 2015, two tenants were operating noncancelable leases providing for future minimum rents of 
$2,092,722, with the latest expiration date of January 31, 2025.  
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Future minimum rents receivable under noncancelable leases for all known tenants at December 31, 2015, are as 
follows.  Both leases have renewal options which are not included below. 

Amount
$

2016 346,336      
2017 346,336      
2018 346,336      
2019 322,381      
2020 143,333      
Thereafter 588,000      

2,092,722   
 

Rent and other receivables are reported at their estimated net realizable value.  When necessary, the Company 
provides an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection 
information and existing economic conditions.  Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the 
receivables.  Rent and other receivables are written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific 
circumstances of the customer.  Management has concluded that all of the Company’s accounts receivable 
amounts will be realizable and, accordingly, has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 
2015 and 2014.  

Real Property 

Buildings are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 
39 years.  Land improvements and signage are depreciated using an accelerated method of depreciation over the 
useful life of the assets, usually 15 years.  Direct and indirect costs that relate to land development and building 
construction are capitalized.  Costs are allocated to Project components by the specific identification method 
whenever possible.  Otherwise, costs are allocated based on square footage or acreage.   

Depreciation on real property charged to operations was $132,263 and $14,507 for the year ended December 31, 
2015 and for the period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, respectively. 

Repairs are charged against operations.  Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of an asset are 
capitalized. 

The Company reviews the real property for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the real property may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of the real property is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the real property to undiscounted future net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the real property.  If the real property is considered to be impaired, the impairment 
to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the real property exceeds its fair 
value.  No impairment was recognized as of December 31, 2015. 
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Deferred Charges and Other Assets 

Deferred charges consist of lease commissions, lease costs and loan costs, and are stated at cost net of 
accumulated amortization.  At December 31, 2015 and 2014, total deferred charges capitalized were $199,972 and 
$181,372, respectively, with accumulated amortization of $55,170 and $743, respectively.  The lease commissions 
and lease costs are amortized on the straight-line method over the terms of the respective leases.  Lease 
commission and lease costs amortization expense of $19,378 and $743 is included in depreciation and 
amortization in the accompanying statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 and for the 
period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, respectively.  Loan costs consist of various debt 
issuance costs and are amortized on the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest method, 
based on terms of the debt agreement.  Loan cost amortization expense of $35,049 and $0 is included in 
depreciation and amortization in the accompanying statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 
2015 and for the period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, respectively. 

Deferred charges and other assets also includes $21,060 and $0 of prepaid expenses at December 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

The Company is a limited liability company treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes.  As 
a result, the Company’s results of operations are included in the income tax returns of its individual members.  
Accordingly, no provision for federal or state income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying financial 
statements. 

The Company follows applicable authoritative guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes which, 
among other things prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement 
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and provides 
guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and disclosure.  The 
Company has no uncertain tax positions.   

Use of Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

2 Debt 

The Company entered into a note payable agreement with Midwest City Hospital Authority for borrowings in the 
maximum principal amount of $3,400,000 on July 2, 2014.  Total amounts drawn on this loan as of December 31, 
2015 and 2014, were $3,196,504 and $3,000,128, respectively.  The note is collateralized by a deed of trust on real 
property and assignment of rents.  The interest rate on this note is 2.57%.  Installments of principal and interest 
on the total amount disbursed under the note are paid monthly.  The agreement states that such payments were to 
begin 30 days following the commencement date of the initial tenant, which occurred in December 2014.  The 
entire unpaid balance of principal and accrued unpaid interest owed on the note will be due and payable on 
November 1, 2017. 
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Interest incurred related to the above loan totaled $82,915 and $24,960 for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 
for the period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, respectively. 

Scheduled principal payments on the note payable are as follows: 

Amount
$

2016 176,746      
2017 3,019,758   

3,196,504   
 

3 Note Payable to Related Party 

Sooner Town Center, LLC (STC) and the Company entered into an agreement in 2015 whereby STC loaned the 
Company $268,818.  Monthly interest payments commenced on June 1, 2015, with interest-only payments of 
$576.  The interest rate is fixed at 2.57%.  The entire outstanding principal balance, plus any accrued but unpaid 
interest, shall be due and payable on October 31, 2017.    

Interest expense related to this loan totaled $4,030 for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

4 Leases 

The Company subleases the Project land from Sooner Town Center, LLC, a related party.  Rent commenced on 
July 2, 2014.  The lease expires on October 31, 2062, with a five year renewal option.  Annual rent for the first 10 
years is $50,000.  The monthly rent amount increases by 10% on the 10th anniversary of the commencement date, 
and every five years thereafter. 

Straight-line rental expense totaled $71,717 and $20,799 for the year ended December 31, 2015 and for the period 
from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, respectively.  Rent expense related to this lease incurred 
and unpaid totaled $32,516 and $14,966 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and is included in 
accounts payable and accrued expenses on the accompanying balance sheet. 

Future minimum rent payments for the original term are as follows: 

Amount
$

2016 50,000        
2017 50,000        
2018 50,000        
2019 50,000        
2020 50,000        
Thereafter 3,141,239   

3,391,239   
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5 Related-party Transactions and Balances 

Robert Collett, Collett Management LLC, and Collett & Associates LLC (collectively Collett), affiliated entities, 
provide leasing, development, and brokerage services to the Company.  The Company paid $9,300 and $0 in 
leasing commissions to Collett for the year ended December 31, 2015 and for the period from May 16, 2014 
(Inception) to December 31, 2014, respectively.  Additionally, the Company paid Collett $24,750 in development 
fees in connection with the construction of the Project for the year ended December 31, 2015.  The Company 
also paid $1,000 and $5,000 to Collett for account maintenance services for the year ended December 31, 2015 
and for the period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, respectively.  Nominal amounts for 
various expense reimbursements were paid to Collett for the year ended December 31, 2015 and for the period 
from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014.  Property management fees totaling $28,113 were paid to 
Collett for the year ended December 31, 2015, no such fees were paid for the period from May 16, 2014 
(Inception) to December 31, 2014. 

Sooner Investment Realty (SIR), an affiliated entity, provides leasing and development services to the Company.  
The Company paid $9,300 and $0 in leasing commissions to SIR for the year ended December 31, 2015 and for 
the period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, respectively.  Additionally, the Company paid 
SIR $24,750 and $10,000 in development fees in connection with the construction of the Project for the year 
ended December 31, 2015 and for the period from May 16, 2014 (Inception) to December 31, 2014, respectively. 

Utility expenses paid during 2015 to Midwest City totaled $2,329, no such fees were paid during 2014. 

6 Subsequent Events 

The Company has analyzed its operations subsequent to December 31, 2015, through May 9, 2017, the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued.    

087



   
The City of Midwest City 

NEIGHBORHOODS IN ACTION  
 

1124 N. DOUGLAS BLVD. * MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA, 
73130 * (405) 736-1973 * FAX * (405) 869-9289 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TO:   Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
FROM: Tom Bridgett, Neighborhoods in Action Coordinator 
 
Date:   May 9, 2017 
 
Subject: Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into a contract in an 

amount not to exceed $2,000.00 for fiscal year 2017-2018 with Crutcho 
Public School to establish the terms and conditions under which Crutcho 
Public School will provide a school bus and driver for Neighborhoods in 
Action Youth Summer Camp.   

 
Crutcho Public School will provide transportation equipment (“buses”) and bus operators 
(“drivers”) for the transportation of Summer Camp participants (children between the ages 
of 8 and 13, and Neighborhoods in Action staff and volunteers) to and from Summer 
Camp activities at locations in the Oklahoma City metro area.   
 
This contract, a copy which is attached for your review, provides for a comprehensive 
scope of services associated with the transportation of Neighborhoods in Action Summer 
Youth Camp participants, staff and volunteers.   
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
 
 
Tom Bridgett 
Neighborhoods in Action Coordinator  
 
Attachment (1) 
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CRUTCHO PUBLIC SCHOOL 
Use of District Transportation Equipment 

(School District Bus Lease Contract) 
 

This contract is made and entered into by and between Crutcho Public School of 
Oklahoma County (“Crutcho”) and the City of Midwest City, a municipal corporation (“City”). 
 

City desires to enter into this contract with Crutcho whereby Crutcho will provide 
transportation equipment (“buses”) and bus operators (“drivers”) for the transportation of 
Summer Camp participants (children between the ages of 8 and 13, and Neighborhoods in 
Action staff and volunteers) to and from Summer Camp activities at locations in the Oklahoma 
City metro area. 
 

Therefore, in consideration of the mutual conditions and agreements herein contained 
and, intending to be legally bound, the parties agree as follows: 

 
1. The transportation to be furnished by Crutcho under this contract will commence 

on June 19, 2017 and will terminate July 21, 2017. 
 

2. City shall pay Crutcho $ 20.00 per hour for each hour Crutcho provides City with 
transportation, including buses and drivers, for a maximum of 20 hours per week for a total of 
five weeks.  During the term of this contract, total compensation that will be paid to Crutcho for 
transportation shall not exceed a total of $2,000.00. 

 
3. All buses provided by Crutcho for the performance of this contract will comply 

with Crutcho policies and regulations, and state laws, rules and regulations applicable to 
transportation equipment used to transport school children including, but not limited to, the rules 
of the Oklahoma State Department of Education. 
 

4. Crutcho will be responsible for all fuel, repairs and maintenance for the buses, 
and replacement buses should the need arise. 
 

5. Crutcho will provide a qualified driver who is an employee of Crutcho and who 
meets all the requirements to operate a school bus and transport school children in the State of 
Oklahoma. 
 

6. A Certificate of Insurance must be provided by Crutcho indicating minimum 
liability coverage in the amount of: 

 
a) $ 100,000.00 property damage; 
b) $ 100,000.00 personal injury each accident or occurrence; and 
c) $1,000,000.00 aggregate (all claims for any one occurrence). 

 
7. Crutcho shall not be liable to City and there will be no adjustment in the contract 

amount for days on which Crutcho’s buses are unable to operate through no fault of Crutcho, 
such as adverse weather conditions. 
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8. Any notice from one party to the other party concerning this contract shall be in 

writing and shall be given by certified mail, return receipt requested, or in person by hand 
delivery to Crutcho at 2401 North Air Depot Boulevard, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73141 or to 
City at 100 North Midwest Boulevard, Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110. 
 

9. Any changes to this contract must be presented and approved by both parties at 
least 48 hours in advance of the commencement date. 

 
10. Any changes or modifications to the terms of this contract must have the 

signatures of both parties. 
 
This contract represents the entire understanding between and among the parties concerning the 
subject matter hereof.  Neither party may assign this contract. 
 
The parties have approved and executed this contract, Crutcho on the _______ day of 
_____________, 2017 and City on the 9th day of May, 2017. 
 

CRUTCHO PUBLIC SCHOOLS OF OKLAHOMA 
COUNTY, OKLAHOMA 

 
 

_______________________________________ 
ANTONIA JENNINGS, Board President 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
JAMES ERIKA, Board Secretary 

 
 
 
CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, a municipal 
corporation 

 
 

__________________________________________ 
MATHEW D. DUKES, II Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
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APPROVED as to form and legality this _______ day of ______________, 2017. 
 
 

_______________________________________ 
PHILIP W. ANDERSON, City Attorney 
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The City of Midwest City 

NEIGHBORHOODS IN ACTION  
 

1124 N. DOUGLAS BLVD. * MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA, 
73130 * (405) 736-1973 * FAX * (405) 869-9289 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TO:   Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
FROM: Tom Bridgett, Neighborhoods in Action Coordinator 
 
Date:   May 9, 2017 
 
Subject: Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into a contract in an 

amount not to exceed $6,500.00 for fiscal year 2017-2018 with THICK 
DESCRIPTIONS to establish the terms and conditions under which THICK 
DESCRIPTIONS will provide an extended week long S.T.E.A.M. (Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Anthropology, and Math) camp to Neighborhoods 
in Action Youth Summer Camp participants.   

 
THICK DESCRIPTIONS (“TD”) will provide an extended week long S.T.E.A.M. (Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Anthropology and Math) camp to Neighborhoods in Action (NIA) 
Summer Camp participants (children between the ages of 8 and 12).    
 
This contract, a copy which is attached for your review, provides for a comprehensive 
scope of services associated with S.T.E.A.M. to be provided to NIA Summer Youth Camp 
participants.    
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
 
 
Tom Bridgett 
Neighborhoods in Action Coordinator  
 
Attachment (1) 
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THICK DESCRIPTIONS 
S.T.E.A.M. LEARNING JOURNEY CONTRACT 

 
THIS CONTRACT is made and entered into this 9th day of May, 2017 by and between 

THICK DESCRIPTIONS, (“TD”) and the City of Midwest City, a municipal corporation 

(“City”). 
 

City desires to enter into this contract with TD whereby TD will provide a S.T.E.A.M. 

(Science, Technology, Engineering, Anthropology and Math) Learning Journey to youth 

between the ages of 8 – 12. 
 

Therefore, in consideration of the mutual conditions and agreements herein 

contained and, intending to be legally bound, the parties agree as follows: 
 

1)  TD agrees to provide camp services to City tweens on Monday, June 19, 26 

and July 3, 10, 17, 2017 from 8:00 am. to 5:00 pm. The purpose of this 

learning journey is to provide S.T.E.A.M. to youth. This learning journey is 

free to all attendees. 
 

 

2)  S.T.E.A.M. Learning Journey will accommodate up to 30 students (tweens 

between the ages of 8 – 12) in Midwest City, providing hands on instruction. 

The learning journey will be held at Neighborhoods in Action, Midwest City, 

Oklahoma. 
 

 

3)  The City shall pay TD $6,500.00 to execute this learning journey. 
 
 

4)  A Certificate of Insurance must be provided by TD indicating minimum 

liability coverage in the amount of: 

a)  $100,000.00 personal injury each accident or occurrence; and 

b)  $1,000,000.00 aggregate (all claims for any one occurrence). 
 

 

5)  TD shall not be liable to the City and there will be no adjustment in the 

contract amount for days on which TD is unable to execute the camp through 

no fault of TD, such as adverse weather conditions. 
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6)  Any notice from one party to the other party concerning this contract shall be 

in writing and shall be given by certified mail, return receipt requested, or in 

person by hand delivery to TD at 2701 NW 110th Street, Oklahoma City, 

Oklahoma, 73120. 
 

 

7)  Any changes to this contract must be presented and approved by both parties 

at least 48 hours in advance of the commencement date. 
 

 

8)  Any changes or modifications in the terms of this contract must have the 

signatures of both parties. 
 

 
 

This contract represents the entire understanding between and among the parties 

concerning the subject matter hereof. Neither party may assign this contract. 
 

The parties have approved and executed this contract, TD on the    day of   , 2017 

and City on the 9th day of May, 2017. 
 

 
 
 

Thick Descriptions City of Midwest City 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 

 
 
 
 
 

_____________________________________                   ___________________________________ 

SUZETTE V. CHANG, FOUNDER/COO MATTHEW D. DUKES, II Mayor 
 
 
 
 

APPROVED as to form and legality this   day of  , 2017 
 

 
 
 
 
 
       _________________________________
 
 

Attest: 
PHILIP W. ANDERSON, City Attorney 

____________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
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THICK DESCRIPTIONS  
S.T.E.A.M. LEARNING JOURNEY CONTRACT 

 
 THIS CONTRACT is made and entered into this 9th day of May, 2017 by and between 

THICK DESCRIPTIONS, (“TD”) and the City of Midwest City, a municipal corporation 

(“City”). 

City desires to enter into this contract with TD whereby TD will provide a S.T.E.A.M. 

(Science, Technology, Engineering, Anthropology and Math) Learning Journey to youth 

between the ages of 8 – 12. 

 Therefore, in consideration of the mutual conditions and agreements herein 

contained and, intending to be legally bound, the parties agree as follows: 

1) TD agrees to provide camp services to City tweens on Monday, June 19, 26 

and July 3, 10, 17, 2017 from 8:00 am. to 5:00 pm.  The purpose of this 

learning journey is to provide S.T.E.A.M. to youth.  This learning journey is 

free to all attendees.   

 

2) S.T.E.A.M. Learning Journey will accommodate up to 30 students (tweens 

between the ages of 8 – 12) in Midwest City, providing hands on instruction.  

The learning journey will be held at Neighborhoods in Action, Midwest City, 

Oklahoma. 

 

3) The City shall pay TD $6,500.00 to execute this learning journey. 

 

4) A Certificate of Insurance must be provided by TD indicating minimum 

liability coverage in the amount of: 

a) $100,000.00 personal injury each accident or occurrence; and 

b) $1,000,000.00 aggregate (all claims for any one occurrence). 

 

5) TD shall not be liable to the City and there will be no adjustment in the 

contract amount for days on which TD is unable to execute the camp through 

no fault of TD, such as adverse weather conditions. 
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6) Any notice from one party to the other party concerning this contract shall be 

in writing and shall be given by certified mail, return receipt requested, or in 

person by hand delivery to TD at 2701 NW 110th Street, Oklahoma City, 

Oklahoma, 73120. 

 

7) Any changes to this contract must be presented and approved by both parties 

at least 48 hours in advance of the commencement date. 

 

8) Any changes or modifications in the terms of this contract must have the 

signatures of both parties. 

 

This contract represents the entire understanding between and among the parties 

concerning the subject matter hereof.  Neither party may assign this contract. 

The parties have approved and executed this contract, TD on the   day of  , 2017 

and City on the 9th day of May, 2017. 

 

Thick Descriptions      City of Midwest City 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 
 
 

  
__________________________________________  ____________________________________________ 
SUZETTE V. CHANG, FOUNDER/COO   MATTHEW D. DUKES, II Mayor 
 
 
 
APPROVED as to form and legality this   day of__________________________, 2017 
 
   
 
       ____________________________________________ 
       PHILIP W. ANDERSON, City Attorney 
Attest: 

___________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk        
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City of Midwest City Police Department 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 
Midwest City, OK 73110 

Office 405.739.1320 
Fax 405.739.1398 

www.MidwestCityOK.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Brandon Clabes, Chief of Police 
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of renewing an agreement with the City of Choctaw to provide 

emergency animal control services for fiscal year 2017-18. 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
With the renewal of this agreement, the City of Midwest City will provide emergency animal control 
services for the City of Choctaw for fiscal year 2017-18. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
Brandon Clabes 
Chief of Police 
 
Attachment:  Agreement 
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City of Midwest City Police Department 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 
Midwest City, OK 73110 

Office 405.739.1320 
Fax 405.739.1398 

www.MidwestCityOK.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Brandon Clabes, Chief of Police 
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of renewing an agreement with the Oklahoma Humane Place 

Spay/Neuter Clinic to perform veterinary services associated with the Adopt-A-Pet program 
for fiscal year 2017-2018. 

 
 
 
With this agreement, the Oklahoma Humane Spay/Neuter clinic will perform veterinary services associated 
with the City’s Adopt-A-Pet program for fiscal year 2017-2018. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 

 
Brandon Clabes 
Chief of Police 
 
Attachment:  Proposed Agreement 
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City of Midwest City Police Department 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 
Midwest City, OK 73110 

Office 405.739.1320 
Fax 405.739.1398 

www.MidwestCityOK.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Brandon Clabes, Chief of Police 
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of renewing the Jail Services Agreement for fiscal year 

2017-18 with the City of Choctaw, to provide labor and jail facilities to retain all 
prisoners who are placed into a confinement status by law enforcement officials at a 
rate of $58.00 per day, plus a $25.00 booking fee that will be applied to the daily 
compensation charge if the inmate is held longer than eleven (11) hours. 

 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
The Midwest City Police Department requests the Council to renew the current agreement with the 
City of Choctaw, to provide labor and jail facilities to retain all prisoners who are placed into a 
confinement status by law enforcement officials.  This agreement will allow the Midwest City 
Police Department jail facility to hold adult prisoners for this town at a rate of $58.00 per day, plus a 
$25.00 booking fee that will be applied to the daily compensation charge if the inmate is held longer 
than eleven (11) hours.  The terms of the agreement shall be from July 1, 2017 through June 30, 
2018. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
Brandon Clabes 
Chief of Police 
 
Attachment:  Agreement 
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City of Midwest City Police Department 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 
Midwest City, OK 73110 

Office 405.739.1320 
Fax 405.739.1398 

www.MidwestCityOK.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Brandon Clabes, Chief of Police 
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of renewing the agreement with the City of 

Choctaw for animal care services for fiscal year 2017-18. 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
With the renewal of this agreement, the City of Midwest City will continue to house and care 
for the animals that the City of Choctaw may bring to Midwest City’s animal welfare facility 
for fiscal year 2017-18. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
Brandon Clabes 
Chief of Police 
 
Attachment:  Agreement 
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City of Midwest City Police Department 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 
Midwest City, OK 73110 

Office 405.739.1320 
Fax 405.739.1398 

www.MidwestCityOK.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
FROM:  Brandon Clabes, Chief of Police 
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement with Reno 

Animal Hospital, who are electing to offer free services to adopted animals, in conjunction 
with the Adopt-A-Pet program for fiscal year 2017-18. 

 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Under this agreement, local veterinary businesses would perform a limited amount of veterinary services 
free of charge for those who choose to adopt an animal from the Midwest City Animal Shelter.  This 
includes an office visit and a wellness exam free of charge to the City of Midwest City and the adopter; 
providing the adopter presents adoption paperwork from the Midwest City Shelter bearing a date on or 
after the date of the agreement. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
Brandon Clabes 
Chief of Police 
 
Attached:  Proposed Agreement 
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City of Midwest City Police Department 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 
Midwest City, OK 73110 

Office 405.739.1320 
Fax 405.739.1398 

www.MidwestCityOK.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Brandon Clabes, Chief of Police 
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of renewing agreement with Midwest Veterinary Hospital in 

conjunction with the Adopt-A-Pet program for fiscal year 2017-18. 
 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
With the renewal of this agreement, a sample of which is attached, the listed animal hospitals will continue 
to perform veterinary services associated with the Adopt-A-Pet program for fiscal year 2017-18. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
Brandon Clabes 
Chief of Police 
 
Attachment:  Proposed Agreement 
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Public Works Administration  
Vaughn Sullivan, Director 

vsullivan@midwestcityok.org 
R. Paul Streets, Assistant Director 

                                              rstreets@midwestcityok.org 
      www.midwestcityok.org                                                8730 S.E. 15th Street, 

                                                                   Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
                                                              O: 405-739-1060 /Fax: 405-739-1090 

        
Memorandum 

 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and Council  
 
FROM: Vaughn Sullivan, Public Works Director  
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement with 

Western Enterprises, Inc. in the amount of $24,000 to provide a fireworks production 
for the 4th of July celebration (Tribute to Liberty) at Joe B. Barnes Regional Park on 
July 4, 2017. 

 
In observance of the 2017 July 4th holiday, the City of Midwest City wishes to once again provide a 
fireworks production located in Regional Park as part of the Tribute to Liberty event.  This year’s 
fireworks production will honor the 75th anniversary of Midwest City. In addition there will be live 
music and an evening finale of fireworks choreographed to patriotic music. 
 
Western Enterprises provided an outstanding fireworks display during last year’s Independence Day 
celebration at Joe B. Barnes Regional Park assisting staff in creating a festive atmosphere appealing 
to patrons of all ages. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Vaughn Sullivan  
Public Works Director 

Attachment: Western Enterprises Agreement 
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FIREWORKS PRODUCTION CONTRACT 
1 of 2 

 
1.  This Contract is entered into this ______ day of _________________, 20___, by and between 
WESTERN ENTERPRISES, INC., designated herein as the "SELLER", and CITY OF MIDWEST 
CITY AND MIDWEST CITY MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY, designated herein as the 
"PURCHASER" for a fireworks production to be held on JULY 4, 2017. 
 
2.  SELLER will secure, prepare, design, deliver and stage said fireworks as outlined in “Attachment 
A”, or will make necessary substitutions of equal or greater value.  SELLER will include the services of 
a Pyrotechnic Operator to take charge of, set up and fire the display, along with such help as he deems 
necessary to perform the fireworks display safely, and in accordance with such Federal, State or Local 
laws that might be applicable. 
 
3.  SELLER agrees that the Operator and Assistant(s) are to check the display area after the presentation 
of the fireworks display for any "duds" or other material that might not have ignited.  Any such material, 
found by any person other than the Operator, shall be turned to the Operator for safe handling or disposal 
of said material. 
 
4.  PURCHASER will furnish the secured minimum safety distances established by the SELLER after 
an on-site inspection of the proposed firing location.  PURCHASER will provide adequate police 
protection and/or other adequate security to maintain these distances.  PURCHASER also agrees to have 
a fire truck available on location during the display. 
 
5.  A Certificate of Insurance covering the fireworks display will be provided by the SELLER upon 
signing of the contract, for coverage in the amount of FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($5,000,000.00) 
broad form, bodily injury and property damage liability, Statutory Workers Compensation Coverage, 
Comprehensive Automobile Liability in the amount of FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($5,000,000.00) 
Combined Single Limit.  PURCHASER agrees to provide a complete list of all additional insureds to be 
named on the certificate. Those entities/individuals listed on the certificate of insurance shall be deemed 
as additional insured per this contract.  
 
6.  It is agreed and understood that the PURCHASER will pay to the SELLER the sum of TWENTY-
FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS & NO/100 ($24,000.00) to be paid within thirty (30) days after the 
date of the display.  HOWEVER, if payment is made in full by April 17, 2017, a five percent (5%) 
discount ($1,200.00) will apply.  That discount can either be deducted from the total contract price, or the 
PURCHASER may elect to receive that amount of extra pyrotechnic product in lieu of the discount.  
Unpaid accounts are subject to one percent (1%) interest charge per month after thirty days. 
 
7.  In the event of inclement weather or other adverse conditions, so as to cause postponement of the 
display it is agreed and understood that PURCHASER will notify SELLER regarding the postponement 
date, normally the following night, or at some future date within the calendar year.  If the PURCHASER 
will not re-schedule the display within the calendar year, or completely cancels the display, the 
PURCHASER agrees and understands that a 30% cancellation fee ($7,200.00) of the full contract 
amount will apply.  This amount will be deemed as full payment for cancellation of the display.  If 
the PURCHASER has exercised the “Early-Payment Option” for discount; the difference between the 
30% cancellation fee and the early-payment amount will be refunded to the PURCHASER. 
 
It is understood and agreed that SELLER shall be solely responsible for failure of the performance of the 
fireworks display for any reason under SELLERS control. 
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FIREWORKS PRODUCTION CONTRACT 
2 of 2 

 
 
 
8.  Witness whereof, we have caused our signatures to be affixed to this Document, on this ______ day of 
__________________, 20___. 
      
 
WESTERN ENTERPRISES, INC.   CITY OF MIDWEST CITY 
SELLER      PURCHASER 
 
 
 
BY:       BY:      
 authorized agent     authorized agent 

 
 

       MIDWEST CITY MUNICIPAL 
AUTHORITY 
       PURCHASER 
 
 
 
       BY:      
                authorized agent 
        
(SIG)        
        
Notary Public in and for the State of     
        
          
        
My Commission Expires:      
 

ATTEST: 
  
 
_______________________ 
CITY CLERK, Sara Hancock 
  
APPROVED as to form and legality this _____ day of __________, 2017. 
  
 
___________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY, Philip W. Anderson 
 

127



100 N. Midwest Boulevard  Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 

Engineering Division (405) 739-1215  FAX (405) 739-1399  TDD (405) 739-1359 
An Equal Opportunity Employer 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
  Patrick Menefee, City Engineer 

CURRENT PLANNING DIVISION 
Kellie Gilles, Manager 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING  
 Julie Shannon, Comprehensive Planner 
BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION 

Charles Belk, Building Official 
GIS DIVISION 

Kathy Spivey, GIS Coordinator 

The City of        

MIDWEST CITY 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT -  
ENGINEERING DIVISION 
 
Billy Harless, Community Development Director 
Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 

     
 

              TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 

              FROM: Billy Harless, Director 
 
              DATE: May 9, 2017 

 
SUBJECT: 

 
Discussion and Consideration of granting a Perpetual Easement to the State of 
Oklahoma at the Southeast corner of I-40 and Sooner Road in the Sooner Park  
area of the Plat of Aviation Acres subdivision within the corporate Boundaries  
of Midwest City in the Northwest Quarter (NW/4) of Section Nine (9) Township 
Eleven (11) North Range Two (2) West of the Indian Meridian in Oklahoma 
County, Oklahoma. (Community Development - B. Harless) 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
The easement is needed in connection with the I-40 and Sooner Road Bridge Project. Federal  
Regulations require several documents in addition to the Perpetual Easement document.   
 
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
 

          ______________________________ 
Billy Harless, AICP 
Community Development Director 
 
Attachments 
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100 N. Midwest Boulevard  Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 

Engineering Division (405) 739-1220  FAX (405) 739-1399  TDD (405) 739-1359 
An Equal Opportunity Employer 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
  Patrick Menefee, City Engineer 

CURRENT PLANNING DIVISION 
Kellie Gilles, Manager 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING  
Julie Shannon, Comprehensive Planner 
BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION 

Charles Belk, Building Official 
GIS DIVISION 

Kathy Spivey, GIS Coordinator 

The City of 

MIDWEST CITY 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT -  
ENGINEERING DIVISION 
 
Billy Harless, Community Development Director 
Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 

     
 
 
TO : 

 
 
Honorable Mayor and City Council 

  
FROM : Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 
  
DATE : May 9th, 2017 
  
SUBJECT : Discussion and consideration of accepting maintenance bonds from H&H 

Plumbing and Utilities, Inc. in the amount of $1602.00. 
 

 
 

The one year maintenance bonds from H&H Plumbing and Utilities, Inc. is for the water line 
improvements installed in conjunction with the new Home 2 Suites located near S.E. 15th Street 
and Sooner Road. 
 
 
 
Staff recommends acceptance as this is consistent with past policy. 
 
 

 
 
Patrick Menefee, P.E. 
City Engineer 
 
 
Attachments 
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Public Works Administration  
Vaughn Sullivan, Director 

vsullivan@midwestcityok.org 
R. Paul Streets, Assistant Director 

                                              rstreets@midwestcityok.org 
      www.midwestcityok.org                                                8730 S.E. 15th Street, 

                                                                   Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
                                                              O: 405-739-1060 /Fax: 405-739-1090 

        
Memorandum 

 
TO:  Council Members 
 
FROM: Vaughn Sullivan, Public Works Director 
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement with Mid-

Del Group Home for FY 17/18 to provide cleaning at various pavilions parks and for 
litter pick up around Midwest City. 

 
Since July 2003 Mid-Del Group Home has provided cleaning of pavilions at various parks and 
provided cleaning assistance with other special projects and events.  The City pays $35.00 per 
pavilion for each weekend requested and $35.00 per hour for special projects and events.  In addition 
Mid-Del Group Home can provide litter crews of 8-10 people for the cost of $100.00 per hour or 
smaller crews of 3-4 people for the cost of $45.00 per hour to help with litter along roadside rights-
of-way. 
 
The agreement runs through June 30, 2018.    
 
The City projected to pay Mid-Del Group Home $10,000.00 for cleaning services in FY 17/18. 
 
 
Staff recommends renewal of the agreement. 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
 
_______________________________ 
Vaughn Sullivan 
Public Works Director 
 
Attachments:  Renewal form Agreement 
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AGREEMENT 
 

The City of Midwest City desires to enter into an agreement with the Mid-Del Group 
Home for the period of July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018.  The purpose of this 
agreement is to provide cleaning of pavilions at various City parks and provide assistance 
with other special projects and events as specified below.  Following is a list of tasks for 
each entity: 
 
Terms: 
 
The total term of the contract shall be five (5) years maximum and shall commence with 
the signing of the contract and expire on June 30 of each year.  The contract will be 
reviewed annually and approved by the City for continuance if such action is in the best 
interests of the City and Mid Del Group Homes. The contract may be renewed by the 
City and Mid Del Group Homes for additional one (1) year terms upon the same terms 
and conditions set forth in this scope of services, up to maximum of four (4) annual 
extensions. The renewal agreement is to be completed 60 days before the contract 
expires. 
 
FOR PAVILIONS: 
 
City of Midwest City will be responsible for: 
 
1. Providing trash can liners, toilet tissue, brooms, disinfectant, cleaning tools, and 

buckets. 
2. Paying $35.00 per pavilion for each weekend requested. 
3. Paying $35.00 per hour for any work requested by the city performed on any 

special project or events by Group Home residents. 
 

Mid-Del Group Home will responsible for: 
 
1. Sweeping, emptying trash at Kiwanis South (Kiwanis Park), Rotary Pavilion 

(Regional Park),  Joe B. Barnes Pavilion (Regional Park),  Garden Pavilion 
(Regional Park), Lions Pavilion and Lions Spray Pad (Lions Park) by 8:00 a.m.. 
on Saturdays and Sundays. 

2. Providing manpower to wash down the same pavilions on Saturdays and Sundays 
by 8:00 a.m. 

3. Providing manpower to wash down and stock restrooms at Regional Park 
(restrooms at Rotary, Joe B. Barnes and at the Garden pavilions), Kiwanis Park 
and Lions Park on Saturdays and Sundays by 8:00 a.m. 

4. Providing proof of liability insurance (i.e., workers compensation) for personnel. 
5. Contacting the Park and Recreation office on a weekly basis to get the schedule of 

pavilions needed to be cleaned. 
6. Provide the city with an invoice monthly with date(s) and name(s) of pavilions 

cleaned. 
7. Contact the city if unable to provide needed service for a weekend. 
 
FOR LITTER PICK-UP 
 
Mid-Del Group Home, Inc. will be responsible for: 
 
1. Picking up litter around parks as requested by the city. 
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2. Transportation to site. 
3. Provide proof of liability insurance (i.e. workers compensation) for personnel. 
4. Provide the City of Midwest City with a monthly invoice with dates and location 

of services. 
5. Contact City of Midwest City if for any reason service cannot be provided. 
6. Litter crew will consist of between 8-10 people. 
7. Cost of service will be $100.00 per hour. 
8. For roadside/parking lot litter pick-up the crew will be 3-4 people and the rate for 

this service will be $45.00 per hour. 
 
 
City of Midwest City will be responsible for: 
 
1. Notifying Mid-Del Group Home locations and times for litter to be picked up. 
2. Supply trash bags and trash dumpster to dispose of trash. 
 
Renewal Clause 
8. This Agreement may be renewable annually at the option of both parties.  

However, this Agreement may otherwise be terminated by either party upon thirty 
(30) days written notice of intent to terminate. 

 
CITY OF MIDWEST CITY              MID-DEL GROUP HOME 
 
_________________________                                  _______________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes II, Mayor     BY: 
 
DATE:_________________    DATE:__________________ 

 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________       
CITY CLERK  
      
APPROVED as to form and legality this ______day of ____________, 2017 
          
 
        ________________________ 
                CITY ATTORNEY 
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100 N. Midwest Boulevard  Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 

Engineering Division (405) 739-1220  FAX (405) 739-1399  TDD (405) 739-1359 
An Equal Opportunity Employer 

The City of        
MIDWEST CITY  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT   
 
 
 
Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

  
 

TO : Honorable Mayor and City Council 
  
FROM : Billy Harless, Director 
  
DATE : May 9, 2017 
  
SUBJECT : Discussion and consideration of reappointing Tammy Cook and Cy Valanejad to serve 

additional 3-year terms  on the Board of Adjustment. 
 

 
The terms of Tammy Cook and Cy Valanejad will end on May 14, 2017.  Both wish to be considered for 
reappointment.  In accordance with Sec. 6.2.2. of the Municipal Code, the board of adjustment shall be 
composed of five (5) members, citizens of the City of Midwest City, each appointed by the mayor with the 
approval of the city council for a term of three (3) years.  Two members of the board may be appointed 
from the planning commission. 
  
The Board of Adjustment meets on call.   
 
Current members are as follows: 
  
Dr. Charles McDade - Term ends 12-14-19 
Frank Young - Term ends 12-14-19 
Jess Huskey - Term ends 5-14-19 
Tammy Cook - Term ends 5-14-17 
Cy Valanejad – Term ends 5-14-17  
 
 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
Billy Harless, AICP 
Community Development Director 
 
BH:lkb 

 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
Patrick Menefee, City Engineer 

CURRENT PLANNING DIVISION 
Kellie Gilles, Manager 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING  
Julie Shannon, Comprehensive Planner 
BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION 

Charles Belk, Building Official 
GIS DIVISION 

Kathy Spivey, GIS Coordinator 
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100 N. Midwest Blvd.    Midwest City, OK 73110    (405) 739-1320    Fax (405) 739-1398 
An Equal Opportunity Employer 

 

 
 

 
 

The City of 

idwest  
Police Department 

 
 
 

 
Brandon Clabes 
   Chief of Police 

 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Brandon Clabes, Chief of Police 
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of declaring as surplus the items of found property 

and seized non-drug evidence on the attached list, and authorizing their disposal 
through sealed bid or public auction, or destruction in the case of items posing a 
threat to the general safety of the general public. 

 
 
On March 31, 2017, Case # CP 2017-2, the Court ordered, adjudged and decreed that the Chief of 
Police of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, be authorized at his discretion to sell, convert or 
dispose of this property. 
 
The Midwest City Police Department requests that you declare the items on the attached lists as 
surplus and authorize their disposal by sealed bid or auction, or destruction in the case of items 
posing a threat to the general safety of the general public such as firearms. 
 
This seized evidence is not equipment that could be utilized by the Midwest City Police 
Department. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
Brandon Clabes 
Chief of Police 
 
Attachment:  Surplus Conversion Lists 
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 DISCUSSION ITEMS 

163



Public Works Administration  
Vaughn Sullivan, Director 

vsullivan@midwestcityok.org 
R. Paul Streets, Assistant Director 

                                              rstreets@midwestcityok.org 
      www.midwestcityok.org                                                8730 S.E. 15th Street, 

                                                                   Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
                                                              O: 405-739-1060 /Fax: 405-739-1090 

 
 

Memorandum 
 
To: Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
From: Vaughn K. Sullivan, Public Works Director 
 
Date: May 9, 2017 
 
Subject: Discussion and consideration of approving and passing an ordinance amending Chapter 30, 

Parks and Recreation, of the Midwest City Code, Article IV, In General, by amending Section 
30-46(a) and (b), Golf course rates; establishing an effective date; and providing for repealer 
and severability (This item was under Further Information on the April 25, 2017 agenda). 

 
Staff is recommending a one dollar ($1.00) increase per player in the regular green fee rate and senior 
rate, as well as a fifty cent ($.50) increase for driving range tokens at John Conrad Golf Course. In 
addition staff is proposing a one dollar ($1.00) increase to Senior/Military green fees at John Conrad and 
Hidden Creek Family Golf Course.  However, in an effort to attract some new senior players to both golf 
courses, staff proposes reducing the senior age to fifty five and older. 
 
The proposed rates will be effective July 1, 2017.  This rate increase keeps our pricing below our 
competitors in each category. 
 
John Conrad (after rate increase)   Oklahoma City (current) 
Weekday: $25.00  Weekday: $26.00, Lincoln $28.00 
Weekend: $25.00  Weekend: $26.00, Lincoln $28.00 
Twilight: $16.00 (after 2:00pm)  Twilight: $21.00 (after 1:00pm) 
Super twilight: $8.00(after 6:00pm)  Super twilight:  $15.75 (after 4:00pm) 
Senior & Military Fee $16.50  Senior Fee $15.75 
Junior $6.00  Junior $7.25 
18 hole cart rental $28.00  18 hole cart rental $28.00 
18 hole cart rental $14.00 (single rider)  18 hole cart rental $14.00 (single rider) 
9 hole cart rental $14.00  9 hole cart rental $14.00 
9 hole cart rental $7.00 (single rider)  9 hole cart rental $7.00 (single rider) 
Monday thru Thursday special: $9.00*  Monday thru Thursday special: None 
Range $3.50 (42 balls)  Range $3.25 (30 balls) 
 
Hidden Creek (after rate increase) 
Footgolf 9 hole $7.00 
Regular 9 hole Senior and Military $7.00 
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*The Monday special is from dawn to 3:00 and the Tuesday through Thursday special is from 1:00 
to 3:00. (Staff is also proposing we change the start time from 1:30 to 1:00 p.m. on Tuesday through 
Thursday and make this fee good year round by eliminating the “during daylight savings time” 
language.) 
 
The rate increase is expected to generate approximately $20,000.00 annually. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
 
 
Vaughn K. Sullivan, Public Works Director 
 
Attachments: Redlined copy of the ordinance 
  Clean copy of the ordinance 
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ORDINANCE NO.________ 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 30, PARKS AND RECREATION, OF THE 
MIDWEST CITY CODE, ARTICLE IV, IN GENERAL, BY AMENDING SECTION 30-
46 (a) AND (b), GOLF COURSE RATES; ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; 
AND PROVIDING FOR REPEALER AND SEVERABILITY. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA: 
 

ORDINANCE 
 
SECTION 1.  That Chapter 30, Parks and Recreation, of the Midwest City Code, Article IV, In General, 
Section 30-46(a) and (b), Golf course rates, be amended to read as follows: 
 

(a) The following rates, which do not include tax, will be in effect at the Hidden 
Creek Family Golf Course for each nine (9) holes played: 

 
(1) Regular 9 hole green fees shall be eight dollars and seventy five cents 

($8.75) and for all day play shall be fourteen dollars ($14.00) and Foot-
golf 9 hole green fee shall be fivesix dollars ($5.00); 

 
(2) Regular 9 hole green fees for City of Midwest City employees shall be six 

dollars and twenty five cents ($6.25) and regular all day green fees for 
City of Midwest City employees shall be ten dollars ($10.00). 

 
(3) Regular 9 hole green fees for seniors (age sixty (60)age fifty five (55) or 

older), and military, for weekdays shall be six dollars and forty three 
centsseven dollars ($6.43$7.00) and for all day play shall be ten dollars 
and thirty cents ($10.30); 

 
(4) Regular 9 hole green fees for juniors shall be four dollars ($4.00) and for 

all day play shall be six dollars ($6.00); 
 

(5) Nine-hole golf car rental shall be  six dollars ($6.00) per player; 
 

(6) Daily trail fees shall be four dollars and fifty cents ($4.50); 
 

(7) Annual regular green fee memberships shall be four hundred twenty dol-
lars ($420.00); 

 
(8) Annual junior green fee memberships shall be one hundred ninety-seven 

dollars and forty cents ($197.40); 
 

(9) Annual regular green fee membership with half golf car shall be one 
thousand dollars ($1,000.00); 

 
(b) The following rates, which do not include tax, will be in effect for all day play at 

the John Conrad Regional Golf Course: 
 

(1) Regular green fees shall be twenty fourfive dollars ($24.00$25.00); 
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(2) Green fees for City of Midwest City employees shall be ten dollars and 
fifty cents ($10.50); 

 
(3) Green fees for seniors (age sixty (60)age fifty five (55) or older) and mili-

tary for weekdays shall be fifteensixteen dollars and fifty cents 
($15.50$16.50). This fee shall also apply after 12:00 p.m. on Saturdays, 
Sundays and federal  holidays; 

 
(4) Green fees for juniors shall be six dollars ($6.00); 
 
(5) Registered school golf team green fees shall be four dollars ($4.00); 
 
(6) Twilight green fees (after 2:00 pm during daylight savings time and after 

1:00 pm during regular time) shall be sixteen dollars ($16.00); 
 

(7) Green fees shall be  eight dollars ($8.00) after 6:00 p.m.; 
 
(8) Golf car rentals shall be twenty eight dollars ($28.00) for eighteen (18) 

holes. Single rider car rental shall be fourteen dollars $14.00) for (18) 
holes. Golf car rentals shall be fourteen dollars ($14.00) for nine (9) 
holes. Single rider car rental shall be seven dollars ($7.00) for nine (9) 
holes. 

 
(9) Trail fees shall be ten dollars ($10.00); 
 
(10) Senior (age sixty (60) age fifty five or older) trail fees shall be seven dol-

lars ($7.00); 
 
(11) Annual locker rental fee shall be thirty dollars ($30.00); 
 
(12) Driving range fees shall be three dollars and twenty five 

cents($3.00$3.25). 
 

(13) Annual green fee memberships shall be one thousand one hundred eighty 
dollars ($1,180.00); 

 
(14) Annual green fee membership with half golf car rental shall be two thou-

sand dollars ($2,000.00); 
 

(15) Annual Monday through Thursday green fee memberships shall be seven 
hundred dollars ($700.00); 

 
(16) Annual Monday through Thursday green fee memberships with half golf 

car rental shall be one thousand two hundred dollars ($1,200.00); 
 

(17) Annual junior green fee memberships shall be three hundred sixty dollars 
($360); 

 
(18) Annual trail fee, with annual green fee membership, shall be four hundred 

dollars ($400.00). Annual trail fee, with annual Monday through Thurs-
day membership shall be two hundred dollars ($200.00); 
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(19) Regular green fees for each 18 holes played before 3:00 p.m. on Mondays 
year round and 1:301:00 to 3:00 Tuesday through Thursday during day-
light savings time shall be nine dollars ($9.00).  This fee shall not apply 
on federal holidays, or for tournaments or league play; 

 
SECTION 2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This ordinance shall be in force and effect on and after July 1, 
2017. 
 
SECTION 3. REPEALER.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby re-
pealed. 
 
SECTION 4.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is for any 
reason held to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of the ordi-
nance. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, on the 
_______ day of May 9, 2017. 
 

THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 
 
 
 
            

Mathew Dukes., Mayor 
 
ATTEST:_______________________________ 
 
 
      
Sara Hancock, City Clerk 
 
 

APPROVED as to form and legality this                  day of May, 2017. 
 
 
      
Philip Anderson, City Attorney 
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Public Works Administration  
Vaughn Sullivan, Director 

vsullivan@midwestcityok.org 
R. Paul Streets, Assistant Director 

                                              rstreets@midwestcityok.org 
      www.midwestcityok.org                                                8730 S.E. 15th Street, 

                                                                   Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
                                                              O: 405-739-1060 /Fax: 405-739-1090 

 
 

Memorandum 
 
To: Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
From: Vaughn K. Sullivan, Public Works Director 
 
Date: May 9, 2017 
 
Subject: Discussion and consideration of approving and passing an ordinance amending Chapter 30, 

Parks and Recreation, of the Midwest City Code, Article I, In General, by amending 
Section 30-1(c), Park hours, posting signs, trespass, disorderly conduct; penalty; 
establishing an effective date; and providing for repealer and severability (This item was 
under Further Information on the April 25, 2017 agenda). 

 
Staff is recommending a change in the hours of operation for the pavilions and improved 
playgrounds located in Regional, Kiwanis and Lions parks.  This change provides for seasonal hours 
of operation based roughly on sunset times.  This adjustment is being made in an effort to provide 
patrol officers the ability to prohibit loitering in or near these facilities after dark. 
 
The Park Board will be hearing and discussing this recommendation at their April 19th meeting, and 
will be providing a recommendation to you prior to voting on the ordinance change. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
 
 
Vaughn K. Sullivan, Public Works Director 
 
Attachments: Redlined copy of the ordinance 
  Clean copy of the ordinance 
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ORDINANCE NO.________ 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 30, PARKS AND RECREATION, OF THE 
MIDWEST CITY CODE, ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, BY AMENDING SECTION 30-1 
(C), PARKS HOURS, POSTING SIGNS, TRESPASS, DISORDERLY CONDUCT; 
PENALTY; ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING FOR 
REPEALER AND SEVERABILITY. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA: 
 

ORDINANCE 
 
SECTION 1.  That Chapter 30, Parks and Recreation, of the Midwest City Code, Article I, In General, 
Section 30-1 (c), Park hours, posting signs, trespass, disorderly conduct; penalty, be amended to read as 
follows: 
 

Sec. 30-1. - Park hours, posting signs, trespass, disorderly conduct; penalty.  

(a) It shall be unlawful and an offense for any person to occupy or use the designated public 
parks and public municipal facilities other than during those hours hereafter set forth:  

(1) Regional Park shall be open for public use between the hours of 5:00 a.m. and 11:00 
p.m.  

(2) Lions Park and Kiwanis Park shall be open for public use between the hours of 7:00 
a.m. and 10:00 p.m.  

(3) All other parks, unless otherwise posted, including the pavilions therein, shall be open 
for public use between the hours of dawn and dusk.  

(b) The city manager shall cause signs of the hours of such parks to be posted therein.  

(c) It shall be unlawful and an offense for any person to occupy or use the designated special 
facilities in the city except between the hours hereinafter set forth and with the approval of 
the city park and recreation board, if approval of the board is hereinafter indicated as 
necessary:  

(1) Regional Park lighted tennis, basketball and volleyball court shall be open for public 
use between the hours of 5:00 a.m. and 11:00 p.m.  

(2) Regional Park trail shall be open for public use between the hours of 5:00 a.m. to 11:00 
p.m.  

(3) Regional, Kiwanis and Lions pavilions and improved playgrounds shall be open for 
public use between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 10:009:00 p.m. the months of March 
through October and 8:00 a.m. through 6:00 p.m. the months of November through 
February. 

(d) Any person present in a park during other than the designated hours in this section shall be 
guilty of trespass in accordance with and subject to the penalties prescribed under section 
28-54.  

(e) Any person who remains on the premises of a park, city recreational facility or other city-
owned public facility after being issued a lawful command or demand by a city official 
having authority to issue such lawful command or demand shall be guilty of trespass and/or 
disorderly conduct subject to the penalties prescribed under sections 28-54 and/or 28-90.1 
respectively.  

SECTION 2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This ordinance shall be in force and effect on and after July 1, 
2017. 
 
SECTION 3. REPEALER.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 
repealed. 
 
SECTION 4.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is for any 
reason held to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of the 
ordinance. 
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PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, on the 
_______ day of May 9, 2017. 
 

THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 
 
 
 
            

Mathew Dukes., Mayor 
 
ATTEST:_______________________________ 
 
 
      
Sara Hancock, City Clerk 
 
 

APPROVED as to form and legality this                  day of May, 2017. 
 
 
      
Philip Anderson, City Attorney 
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Assistant City Attorney  
Municipal Court 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 
 Midwest City, OK  73110 

 Office: 405-739-1284 
makarns@midwestcityok.org 

www.midwestcityok.org 
 

 
To:      Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
From:      Mary Ann Karns, Assistant City Attorney/City Prosecutor  
 
Date:      April 25, 2017 
 
Subject: Discussion and consideration of approving and passing an ordinance amending Chapter 

25, Municipal Court, of the Midwest City Code, Article I, General Provisions, of the 
Midwest City Code, by Adding a New Section 25-45, Expungement Fee, Providing for 
an Effective Date, Providing for Severability, and Providing for Repealer.  

 
 
 
Attached you will find the proposed amended ordinance. Every month, the City receives 5-8 requests 
for the expungement of records of those who have been convicted of an offense in municipal court 
or who were arrested by the Midwest City Police Department with charges filed elsewhere. This 
request is allowed by Oklahoma Statutes under certain circumstances, and those circumstances have 
become broader over time. 
  
When a request is made, the offender files a petition in District Court and serves the Prosecutor. The 
Prosecutor reviews the petition to determine whether it is in order and then either contests or agrees 
to the request. The cases proceed on until a District Court Judge issues an order of expungement. At 
that time, the Prosecutor is served with that order and distributes it to the Court Clerk and the Police 
Department Records Division. Those departments withdraw both the computer and paper records 
and seal them. Thereafter, if anyone asks about the defendant's history or seeks the records, the 
person is told we have no record of that person. 
  
The Prosecutor, Court Clerk and Records Clerk total time in these matters is at least one hour and 
sometimes more.  
  
I recommend that the Mayor and City Council impose a fee of $50 for each expungement, to be paid 
at the time the District Court order is filed. The distribution would be 60% to the Court fund, due to 
the involvement of the Prosecutor and 40% to the Police fund.  
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
Mary Ann Karns 
Assistant City Attorney/City Prosecutor  
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ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

An Ordinance Amending Chapter 25, Municipal Court, Article I, General 
Provisions, of the Midwest City Code, by Adding a New Section 25-45, Expungement Fee, 
Providing for an Effective Date, Providing for Severability, and Providing for Repealer. 

Chapter 25, Article 1 

WHEREAS, individuals who have been arrested by Police Department of Midwest 
City frequently seek to have those records expunged; and 

WHEREAS, if the individuals were charged in the Municipal Court of Midwest City 
they also seek to have those records expunged; and 

WHEREAS, in order to obtain expungement, the individual files a court action which 
is reviewed by an attorney for the City to determine whether the petition is in the proper form 
according to statutes; and 

WHEREAS, if a court orders an expungement, employees of the Records Division of 
the Midwest City Police Department and employees of the Court Clerk’s Office of the 
Municipal Court then research the records, remove them from paper files and computer 
records, then seal or otherwise place them in storage, and 

WHEREAS, this is a special service and an amount should be charged to defray the 
City’s expenses for these actions;  

IT IS ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MIDWEST CITY THAT SUCH A FEE SHOULD BE DETERMINED: 

Section 1. There is hereby established a fee for processing an order for expungement of 
records from Municipal Court and Police Department files. The Fee shall be Fifty Dollars 
($50.00), and shall be paid by the defendant when the order of expungement is presented to the 
court. Forty percent (40%) of the revenues generated by this fee shall be placed into the police 
fund and Sixty Percent (60) shall be placed into the Court fund.   

Section 2. Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect thirty days after publication. 

Section 3. Severability.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is for any 
reason held to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of  
the ordinance. 
 
Section 4. Repealer. Any section, subsection or portion thereof in conflict with this ordinance is 
hereby repealed. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, 
on the _______ day of ___________, 2017. 

 
      THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 
 
 
      ________________________________ 

ATTEST:         MATTHEW D. DUKES II, Mayor 
 

_________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form and legality: 
 

 
_______________________________ 

PHILIP ANDERSON, City Attorney 
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100 N. Midwest Boulevard  Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 

Engineering Division (405) 739-1215  FAX (405) 739-1399  TDD (405) 739-1359 
An Equal Opportunity Employer 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
  Patrick Menefee, City Engineer 

CURRENT PLANNING DIVISION 
Kellie Gilles, Manager 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING  
Julie Shannon, Comprehensive Planner 
BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION 

Charles Belk, Building Official 
GIS DIVISION 

Kathy Spivey, GIS Coordinator 

The City of        

MIDWEST CITY 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT -  
ENGINEERING DIVISION 
 
Billy Harless, Community Development Director 
Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 

     
 
 
To:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
From:  Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 
 
Date:  May 9th, 2017 
 
Subject: Discussion and consideration of approving the Termination of the Sewer and Water 

Agreement with the Yes Companies EXP, LLC for the water and sewer service 
provided to the Timberland Mobile Home Park property east of the corporate limits of 
the City of Midwest City. 

 
 
The accompanying proposal is for terminating the service that allows the City to provide water 
and sewer service to the Timberland mobile home park.  An agreement to provide service was 
made between the park’s prior ownership group and the City, March 11th, 2014.  Before the 
agreement could be recorded at the county clerk’s office, the park’s ownership group changed, 
making the parties to the agreement inaccurate.  If the existing agreement is terminated, the 
current ownership group will reenter into a new agreement with the city under its name, allowing 
the City to continue to provide service to the Timberland mobile home park. 
 
 
Staff recommends terminating the agreement. 
 

 
Patrick Menefee, P.E. 
City Engineer 
 
 
Attachments 
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100 N. Midwest Boulevard  Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 

Engineering Division (405) 739-1220  FAX (405) 739-1399  TDD (405) 739-1359 
An Equal Opportunity Employer 

The City of        
MIDWEST CITY  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT   
 
 
 
Billy Harless, Community Development Director 

  
 

TO : Honorable Mayor and City Council 
  
FROM : Billy Harless, Director 
  
DATE : May 9, 2017 
  
SUBJECT : Discussion on the status, condition, progress or recommendations concerning the latest 

evaluation of Heritage Park Mall located at 6801 East Reno. 
 

 
 
Staff will provide information concerning the latest status of Heritage Park Mall, 6801 East Reno. These 
status reports will be given on a quarterly basis and may include reports from Community Development, 
Fire Department, Neighborhood Services and/or the EDC Director. Mr. Amhad Bahreni, the land owner of 
Heritage Park Mall, will be notified and encouraged to attend and participate during the discussion.   
 
Action is at the discretion of Council. 
 

 
Billy Harless, AICP 
Community Development Director 
 
BH:lkb 

 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
Patrick Menefee, City Engineer 

CURRENT PLANNING DIVISION 
Kellie Gilles, Manager 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING  
Julie Shannon, Comprehensive Planner 
BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION 

Charles Belk, Building Official 
GIS DIVISION 

Kathy Spivey, GIS Coordinator 
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City Manager 
100 N. Midwest Blvd. 

Midwest City, OK  73110 
ghenson@midwestcityok.org 

Office: 405-739-1207 /Fax: 405-739-1208 
www.midwestcityok.org 

 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Chairman and Commissioners 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, City Manager 
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion of the refinancing of the Town Center Redevelopment Project.  
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Bob Stearns of Sooner Investment, LLC, will be present to share information regarding the need 
for refinancing and alternatives approaches.  

 

 
 

J. Guy Henson, AICP 
City Manager 
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NEW BUSINESS/                    

PUBLIC DISCUSSION 
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 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
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City Manager 
100 N. Midwest Blvd. 

Midwest City, OK  73110 
ghenson@midwestcityok.org 

Office: 405-739-1207 /Fax: 405-739-1208 
www.midwestcityok.org 

 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, City Manager 
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of 1) entering into executive session, as allowed 

under 25 O.S. § 307(C)(10), to confer on matters pertaining to economic 
development, including the transfer of property, financing or the creation of a 
proposal to entice a business to remain or to locate within the City; and 2) in open 
session, authorizing the city manager to take action as appropriate based on the 
discussion in executive session 

 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Appropriate information will be provided in executive session. 

 

 
 

J. Guy Henson, AICP 
City Manager 
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City Manager 
100 N. Midwest Blvd. 

Midwest City, OK  73110 
ghenson@midwestcityok.org 

Office: 405-739-1207 /Fax: 405-739-1208 
www.midwestcityok.org 

 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, City Manager 
 
DATE:  May 09, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of 1) entering into executive session, as allowed 

under 25 O.S. § 307(B)(3), to discuss the purchase or appraisal of real property; 
and 2) in open session, authorizing the city manager to take action as appropriate 
based on the discussion in executive session. 

 

Appropriate information will be provided in executive session. 

 

J. Guy Henson, City Manager 
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Assistant City Attorney  
Municipal Court 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 
 Midwest City, OK  73110 

 Office: 405-739-1284 
makarns@midwestcityok.org 

www.midwestcityok.org 
 

 
To:      Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
From:      Mary Ann Karns, Assistant City Attorney/City Prosecutor  
 
Date:      May 9, 2017 
 
Subject: Discussion and Consideration of an Ordinance amending Section 25-40 of the Municipal 

Code, increasing the Technology Fee to $45.00 from $40.00, and providing for effective 
date, severability and repealer. 

 
 
One of the fees paid by a defendant in Municipal Court is the Technology Fee. The mayor and 
council first enacted this fee in October of 1999; it has been amended twice, the most recent 
amendment in 2012. It is currently $40.00. 
 
The purpose of the Technology Fee is to establish “a technology fund for the express and sole 
purpose of funding technological maintenance and improvements for the city. “ 
 
Last fiscal year, the fee generated $313,213 in income. The technology fund costs for the city were 
$434,687.  For this fiscal year, the fee is projected to generate $276,275 with projected costs of 
$592,356.   Increasing the fee to $45.00 will increase the revenue by approximately $35,000. 
 
Attached you will find the proposed amended ordinance.  
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
Mary Ann Karns 
Assistant City Attorney/City Prosecutor  
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ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

An Ordinance Amending Chapter 25, Municipal Court, Article II, General Provisions, 
 Section 25-40, Technology Fee; Providing for Effective Date, Providing for Severability 

and Providing for Repealer Chapter 25, Article 1 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Midwest City has previously enacted a technology fee to be 
assessed in addition to Court Costs to provide for the technology needs of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the amount needed for maintain the technology exceeds the revenues 
generated by this fee; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY: 

Section 1.  Section 25-40 of Chapter 25, Article II of the Midwest City Municipal Code is 
hereby amended to read as follows: 

There is hereby established a technology fund for the express and sole purpose of funding 
technological maintenance and improvements for the city. There shall be a forty dollar ($40.00) 
forty-five dollar ($45) fee assessed in addition to any other costs or fees assessed on every 
citation disposed of in the municipal court except those that are voided, declined for prosecution 
or on which the defendant is acquitted. The revenues generated by this fee shall be deposited in a 
nontransferable interest bearing account. Expenditures may be made from this account only for 
technological maintenance and improvements for the city. 

Section 2. Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect thirty days after publication. 

Section 3. Severability.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is for any 
reason held to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of  
the ordinance. 
 
Section 4. Repealer. Any section, subsection or portion thereof in conflict with this ordinance is 
hereby repealed. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, 
on the _______ day of ___________, 2017. 
 

 
      THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 
 
 
 
      ________________________________ 

ATTEST:         MATTHEW D. DUKES II, Mayor 
 
 
 

_________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form and legality: 
 

 
_______________________________ 

                                                                                             PHILIP ANDERSON, City Attorney 
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ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

An Ordinance Amending Chapter 25, Municipal Court, Article II, General Provisions, 
 Section 25-40, Technology Fee; Providing for Effective Date, Providing for Severability 

and Providing for Repealer Chapter 25, Article 1 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Midwest City has previously enacted a technology fee to be 
assessed in addition to Court Costs to provide for the technology needs of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the amount needed for maintain the technology exceeds the revenues 
generated by this fee; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY: 

Section 1.  Section 25-40 of Chapter 25, Article II of the Midwest City Municipal Code is 
hereby amended to read as follows: 

There is hereby established a technology fund for the express and sole purpose of funding 
technological maintenance and improvements for the city. There shall be a forty-five dollar ($45) 
fee assessed in addition to any other costs or fees assessed on every citation disposed of in the 
municipal court except those that are voided, declined for prosecution or on which the defendant 
is acquitted. The revenues generated by this fee shall be deposited in a nontransferable interest 
bearing account. Expenditures may be made from this account only for technological 
maintenance and improvements for the city. 

Section 2. Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect thirty days after publication. 

Section 3. Severability.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is for any 
reason held to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of  
the ordinance. 
 
Section 4. Repealer. Any section, subsection or portion thereof in conflict with this ordinance is 
hereby repealed. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, 
on the _______ day of ___________, 2017. 
 

 
      THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 
 
 
 
      ________________________________ 

ATTEST:         MATTHEW D. DUKES II, Mayor 
 
 
 

_________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form and legality: 
 

 
_______________________________ 

                                                                                             PHILIP ANDERSON, City Attorney 
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Public Works Administration  
Vaughn Sullivan, Director 

vsullivan@midwestcityok.org 
R. Paul Streets, Assistant Director 

                                              rstreets@midwestcityok.org 
      www.midwestcityok.org                                                8730 S.E. 15th Street, 

                                                                   Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
                                                              O: 405-739-1060 /Fax: 405-739-1090 

        

Memo 
 
 
To:  Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
From:   R. Paul Streets, Assistant Public Works Director 
 
Date:  May 9, 2017 
 
Subject: Discussion and consideration of passing and approving an ordinance amending the 

Midwest City Municipal Code, Chapter 18, Garbage and Refuse, by amending Article 
II, Municipal Collection and Disposal Service, Section 18-25, Container Required; 
Duty to Use; Section 18-26 (c), Sanitation Containers at Commercial Establishments; 
Section 18-27(a), Residential Service Fees; Section 18-28, Business and Commercial 
Service Fees; Setting an effective Date; and providing for repealer and severability 
(This item is under further information on the May 9, 2017 agenda).  
 

The proposed ordinance establishes new sanitation rates for residential, commercial, apartments, and 
mobile home park accounts due to an increased cost of tipping fees and recycling which reflects the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) and was passed on to the City, as allowed in the contract, by Republic 
Services (Southeast Landfill). This increase is based on a 2.50% CPI increase.  

 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
R. Paul Streets 

Assistant Public Works Director 
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ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE MIDWEST CITY MUNICIPAL CODE, CHAPTER 18, 
GARBAGE AND REFUSE, BY AMENDING ARTICLE II, MUNICIPAL COLLECTION AND 
DISPOSAL SERVICE, SECTION 18-25(b), CONTAINER REQUIRED, DUTY TO USE; SECTION 
18-26(c) SANITATION CONTAINERS AT COMMERCIAL ESTABLISHMENTS; SECTION 18-
27(a), RESIDENTIAL SERVICE FEES; SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR MOBILE HOME PARKS; 
SECTION 18-28, BUSINESS AND COMMERCIAL SERVICE FEES; AND PROVIDING FOR 
REPEALER AND SEVERABILITY. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY THAT: 
 

ORDINANCE 
 
SECTION 1. The Midwest City Municipal Code, Chapter 18, Garbage and Refuse, Article II, Municipal 
Collection and Disposal Service, Section 18-25(b), Container required; duty to use, is hereby amended to 
reads as follows: 

 
(b) The city shall provide one (1) cart for each residence for garbage and refuse, and one 

(1) cart for each residence for materials that are to be recycled. Residents are allowed to have 
additional refuse carts per residence from the city. These carts will be emptied on a weekly basis 
when the primary cart is emptied with the monthly cost to the resident of the additional carts being 
five dollars and fifty cents ($5.50) for each additional cart. Residential recycling carts will be 
emptied bi-weekly. 
The resident may place normal household garbage and refuse, as defined in section 18-1 of this 
Code, in the refuse cart(s) for collection. Residents may place materials they wish to be recycled in 
the recycling cart. The resident shall be responsible for the safekeeping of the carts until such time as 
an inspection is made by the city and service is terminated. Should any person change residences, the 
person shall promptly notify the city. If any cart is lost or stolen, the resident shall promptly notify 
the police department of the loss or theft of the cart and obtain a case number. Lost or stolen carts 
will not be replaced without a case number from the police department. The city will empty the carts 
so long as the carts contain no more than two hundred (200) pounds of garbage and refuse in each 
cart during any given pickup. If a cart is damaged beyond normal wear and tear, including fire 
damage from improper disposal of fire ashes, the cost of replacement shall be charged to the resident 
at the current replacement cost of the cart. All carts shall remain the property of the city even though 
the resident may have paid for a replacement cart. All carts are to remain at the residence to which 
they are assigned. It shall be unlawful and an offense for a person to be in possession of a cart 
without the permission of the resident to which it is assigned. It is the responsibility of the resident to 
keep the cart clean. At the request of the resident, carts can be cleaned by the city. Such cleaning 
shall be performed for a five twenty dollars ($5.00 $20.00) charge which shall be paid by the 
resident.  

 
SECTION 2. The Midwest City Municipal Code, Chapter 18, Garbage and Refuse, Article II, Municipal 
Collection and Disposal Service, Section 18-26(c), Sanitation Containers at commercial establishments, is 
hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

(c) All containers at business establishments shall be placed in a location  
approved by the environmental services director and easily accessible for collection under  
regulations issued by the city. Should the collector be unable to empty a commercial container 
because it contains inappropriate items or because access is blocked or prohibited, no 
unscheduled return trip will be made unless the special pickup fee is paid by the owner, manager 
or agent of the commercial business. Commercial account drivers are not allowed to exit the 
vehicle to open enclosure gates. Gates must be opened by 5:00 am on the day of collection. If the 
driver must return to a business because a gate is not opened, the return trip fee of $25.00  fifty 
dollars ($50.00) will be applied to the account.  

 
SECTION 3. The Midwest City Municipal Code, Chapter 18, Garbage and Refuse, Article II, Municipal 
Collection and Disposal Service, Section 18-27(a), Residential service fees; special provisions for mobile 
home parks, is hereby amended to reads as follows: 
 

(a) Residential service shall consist of the removal of garbage and household refuse 
which has been placed in either 65-gallon or 95-gallon carts, which size shall be the choice of the 
resident, in accordance with section 18-25 of this Code.  This service is deemed to be necessary 
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to protect the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the city, and the fees for such service 
are deemed necessary to pay for the removal of such garbage and household refuse to protect the 
health of the occupant, owner, tenant or lessee and others in the near vicinity by such removal.  
The fees for this service shall be as follows: 
 

1. Single-family residences, duplexes, single-family garage apartments, and apartment 
complexes of three units or less: Fourteen dollars and ten cents  Fourteen dollars and 
forty-five cents  ($14.10 $14.45) per month for a 95-gallon refuse container or eleven 
dollars and eighty cents twelve dollars and nine cents ($11.80 $12.09) per month for 
a 65-gallon refuse container.  

 
2. Apartments complexes in excess of three units: eleven dollars and thirteen cents 

forty-one cents ($11.13 $11.41) per month per apartment, whether vacant or 
occupied.  For more than two (2) pickups per week, four dollars and twenty-five 
cents ($4.25) additional, per apartment per pickup. Dumpsters shall be furnished 
for apartment complexes on the basis of a one-yard dumpster for each five (5) 
apartments.  Any containers placed at any apartment complex in excess of three 
apartments that exceeds the calculated number of containers, as outlined above, 
will be charged at the regular commercial rate in section 18-28 of this Code for 
the emptying of those additional containers.  Apartment complexes in excess of 
three apartments that utilize a commercial compactor for disposal of their garbage 
and refuse will be charged as indicated in section 18-22 of this Code. 

 
3. Mobile home parks:  Fourteen dollars and ten cents forty-five cents ($14.10 $14.45) 

per month per mobile home space, based on the highest number of spaces that are 
occupied during the month. 

 
3. Mobile home parks: Fourteen dollars and nine cents ($14.09) per month per mobile 

home space, based on the highest number of spaces that are occupied during the 
month.  

 
SECTION 4. The Midwest City Municipal Code, Chapter 18, Garbage and Refuse, Article II, Municipal 
Collection and Disposal Service, Section 18-28, Business and commercial services fees, is hereby amended 
to reads as follows: 
 

(a)  The minimum charge for commercial sanitation dumpster services per month shall be at the 
shared rate of a 4 yard dumpster serviced twice per month fifty-one dollars and sixty-two cents 
($51.62) per business, unless the Director has allowed the business to be serviced by a residential 
cart in which case the minimum charge per month shall be twenty-seven dollars and eighty-three 
cents twenty-eight dollars and fifty-three cents ($27.83 $28.53) without bi-weekly recycling or thirty 
dollars and seventy-seven cents thirty-one dollars and fifty-four cents ($30.77 $31.54) with bi-
weekly recycling.  Sharing of dumpsters by businesses will be allowed on a case by case basis, based 
on space limitation, fire lane location, etc.  These must be approved by the Director and will be 
assessed the “shared fee” listed below regardless of how many businesses share the same dumpster. 

 
(b)  Where the city furnishes a four-, six-, or eight-yard dumpster, or a “roll-out” container such 

as a cart, the following fee schedule shall be charged per month: 
 
Container/Service      Fee   Shared 

 
Cart 
1-Pickup per Week per cart    $27.83  28.53         Not allowed 
1-Pickup per Week w/ Bi-weekly Recycling  $30.77 31.54 
 
4 - Yard Box 
 
1-Pickup per Week    $ 76.92 78.84  $ 38.46 39.42 
2-Pickups per Week    $117.40 120.34 $ 58.70 60.17 
3-Pickups per Week    $160.92 164.95 $ 79.96 82.47 
4-Pickups per Week    $204.44 209.56 $102.22 104.78 
5-Pickups per Week    $246.95 253.13 $123.48 126.56 
6-Pickups per Week    $296.55 303.96 $148.27 151.98 
1-Pickup per Month    $ 51.62  $ 25.81  
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2-Pickups per Month    $ 57.18 58.61   $ 28.59 29.31 
 
6 – Yard Box 
 
1-Pickup per Week    $ 95.14 97.52  $ 47.57 48.76 
2-Pickups per Week    $147.77 151.46 $ 73.88 75.73 
3-Pickups per Week    $198.37 203.33 $ 99.19 101.67 
4-Pickups per Week    $248.98 255.20 $124.49 127.60 
5-Pickups per Week    $301.61 309.15 $150.80 154.57 
6-Pickups per Week    $362.33 371.39 $181.17 185.70 
1-Pickup per Month    $ 64.27  $ 32.13 
2-Pickups per Month    $ 70.85 72.62  $ 35.42 36.31 
 
8 – Yard Boxes 
 
1-Pickup per Week    $114.87 117.75 $ 57.454 58.87 
2-Pickups per Week    $177.12 181.55 $ 88.56 90.77 
3-Pickups per Week    $247.96 254.16 $123.98 127.08 
4-Pickups per Week    $308.69 316.41 $154.35 158.20 
5-Pickups per Week    $369.42 378.65 $184.714 189.33 
6-Pickups per Week    $440.26 451.27 $220.13 225.64 
1-Pickup per Month    $ 80.97  $ 40.48 
2-Pickups per Month    $ 91.09 93.37  $ 45.54 46.68 

 
(c)  Where additional (special) pickups are requested, a minimum fee of fifty dollars ($50.00) 

will be charged per emptied dumpster.  The Director shall base additional charges on time required 
to perform the additional (special pickup) and on the basis of manpower and equipment available. 

 
(d) Commercial accounts that utilize a solid waste compactor serviced by the city front loader 

vehicles will be charged based on the listed compaction rate for that compactor times the service 
frequency and size of container. 

 
SECTION 5. REPEALER.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 6. SEVERABILITY.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is for any 
reason held to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of the 
ordinance. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, this 
_______ day of ___________________________, 2017. 
 

CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
MATTHEW D. DUKES II, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
 
 

APPROVED as to form and legality this _______ day of __________________, 2017. 
 

 
_______________________________________ 
PHILIP ANDERSON, City Attorney 
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City of Midwest City Police Department 

100 N. Midwest Boulevard 
Midwest City, OK 73110 

Office 405.739.1320 
Fax 405.739.1398 

www.MidwestCityOK.org 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and Council 
 
FROM: Brandon Clabes, Chief of Police 
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of ordinance amending Chapter 24, Motor Vehicles and 

Traffic of the City of Midwest City code, Article II, Administration and Enforcement, 
Division 2, Vehicle Impoundment, Section 24-47(b), Duration, Release, Impoundment Fee; 
Providing for repealer and severability and establishing an effective date. 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The current Midwest City Ordinance 24-47 was amended in 2006 to recoup the cost associated with the 
impound process of a vehicle under MCO 24-44 which continues to increase dramatically and plague law 
enforcement agencies nationwide.  It is estimated that a commissioned officer will average one hour work 
time or more for a standard impound and this does not include the additional administrative staff necessary 
to handle the vehicle release, none of which is the responsibility of anyone other than the owner/operator of 
the vehicle in question. 
 
In order to reduce the amount of financial burden to the city related to vehicle impounds and releases, a 
police impound fee was created, to authorize the collection of this fee to the police department as a cost 
prior to release of the vehicle from impound and to create a special fund for deposit of this fee to enhance 
the police department by offsetting expenditures related to special traffic overtime expenses such as DUI, 
Traffic Safety Inspections and Seat Belt violations was created.  Enumerated charges that shall be subject 
to the impound fee are; driving under suspension, driving under the influence of alcohol and or drugs and 
reckless driving. 
 
It is recommended to change Section 24-47 (b) by eliminating the language that the fee be used for strictly 
traffic safety and to substitute that language for any and all law enforcement related expenses.  This 
amendment will assist in a more effective and efficient use of the impound fee. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 

 
Brandon Clabes 
Chief of Police 
 
Attachment: Proposed Ordinance 
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Ordinance No. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 24, MOTOR VEHICLES & TRAFFIC OF THE CITY OF 

MIDWEST CITY CODE, ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT, DIVISION 2 VEHICLE 

IMPOUNDMENT, SECTION 24-47 (b), DURATION, RELEASE, IMPOUNDMENT FEE; PROVIDING 

FOR REPEALER AND SEVREABILITY AND ESTABISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, 

OKLAHOMA: 

ORDINANCE 

Section 1. That Chapter 24, Motor Vehicles and Traffic, of the Midwest City Code, Article II, 

Administration and Enforcement is hereby amended by amending Section 24-47(b), Duration; 

release; impoundment fee as follows: 

(b) There is hereby created within the police fund, a special account into which all impound fees 

shall be deposited from which expenditures may be used for enforcement of traffic safety. any 

and all law enforcement related expenses. 

Section 2. Severability.  If any section, sentence, clause or portion of this ordinance is for any 

reason held to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions o 

of the ordinance. 

Section 3. Repealer. Any section, subsection or portion thereof in conflict with this ordinance is 
hereby repealed. 
 
Section 4. Effective Date. This ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days after passage. 
 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma, on 
the _______ day of ___________, 2017. 

 
      THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY, OKLAHOMA 
 
 
      ________________________________ 
      MATTHEW D. DUKES II, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 

_________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED as to form and legality this______ day of _____________________, 2017. 
 
 

_________________________________ 
PHILIP W. ANDERSON, City Attorney 
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MIDWEST CITY MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY AGENDA 
City Hall - Midwest City Council Chambers, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

 
May 09, 2017 - 7:01 PM 

 
Special Assistance requests – tcoplen@midwestcit yok.org or 739-1002. (Please provide no less 

than 24 hours’ notice) Special assistance request during a meeting call 739-1388. 
 

A.      CALL TO ORDER. 

B.      CONSENT AGENDA.  These items are placed on the Consent Agenda so that trustees of 
          the Midwest City Municipal Authority, by unanimous consent, can approve routine 
          agenda items by one motion. If any item proposed does not meet with approval of all  

trustees, or members of the audience wish to discuss an item with the trustees, that item  
will be removed and heard in regular order. 
 
1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the staff briefing and regular 

meeting of April 25, 2017, as submitted. (Secretary - S. Hancock) 

2. Discussion and consideration of entering into a Memorandum of Understanding to 
study establishing a partnership to perform commercial solid waste management 
services at Tinker Air Force Base. (City Manager - T. Lyon) 

3. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement in the 
amount of $10,000 with Dr. Irvin L. Wagner, Professor of Music at University of 
Oklahoma, for a 50-piece concert band to provide the headliner entertainment in 
Regional Park as part of the 2017 Tribute to Liberty 4th of July celebration. (Parks and 
Recreation - F. Gilles) 

4. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement in the 
amount of $6,000 with Ryan Audio Services, LLC to provide a sound system and 
sound system services associated with entertainment in Regional Park as part of the 
2017 Tribute to Liberty 4th of July celebration. (Parks and Recreation - F. Gilles) 

5. Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement with 
Western Enterprises, Inc. in the amount of $24,000 to provide a fireworks production 
for the 4th of July celebration (Tribute to Liberty) at Joe B. Barnes Regional Park on 
July 4, 2017. (Parks and Recreation - F. Gilles) 

C.      DISCUSSION ITEM. 

1. Discussion and consideration of approving the Termination of the Sewer and Water 
Agreement with the Yes Companies EXP, LLC for the water and sewer service 
provided to the Timberland Mobile Home Park property east of the corporate limits of 
the City of Midwest City.  (Community Development - P. Menefee) 

D.      NEW BUSINESS/PUBLIC DISCUSSION. 

E.      ADJOURNMENT. 

  

204



 

 

      

 CONSENT AGENDA 

205



Notice of regular meetings for staff briefings for the Midwest City Municipal Authority was filed 
for the calendar year with the City Clerk of Midwest City and copies of the agenda for this 
meeting were posted at City Hall and on the City’s website, accessible to the public for at least 
24 hours in advance of the meeting. 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR STAFF BRIEFING FOR 
MIDWEST CITY MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY TRUSTEES 

 
April 25, 2017 – 6:00 p.m. 

 
This regular meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Conference Room on the second 
floor of City Hall, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard, Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of 
Oklahoma. The following members were present: Chairman Matt Dukes; Trustees, Pat Byrne, 
Rick Dawkins, Christine Allen and Jeff Moore; and Secretary Sara Hancock. Absent: Susan Eads 
and Sean Reed.  
 
Chairman Dukes called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Clarification of agenda items, handouts, and presentation of new or additional information 
for items on the Municipal Authority agenda for April 25, 2017. The Trustees did not have 
questions for clarification or discussion on the individual agenda items. 
 
Chairman Dukes closed the meeting at 7:01 p.m. 
 
 
 
 _______________________________________ 
ATTEST: MATTHEW D. DUKES, II, Chairman 
 
 
____________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, Secretary 
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Notice of regular Midwest City Municipal Authority meetings was filed for the calendar year with the City Clerk 
of Midwest City and copies of the agenda for this meeting were posted at City Hall and on Midwest City’s 
website, accessible to the public for at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MIDWEST CITY MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY MEETING  
 

April 25, 2017 - 7:01 p.m. 
 
This regular meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Chambers, 100 North Midwest Boulevard, Midwest 
City, County of Oklahoma, State of Oklahoma. The following members were present: Chairman Matt Dukes, 
Trustees, Pat Byrne, Rick Dawkins, Christine Allen, and Jeff Moore; and Secretary Sara Hancock. Absent: Susan 
Eads and Sean Reed.  Chairman Dukes called the meeting to order at 8:27 p.m. 
 
Consent Agenda. Motion was made by Dawkins, seconded by Allen, to approve the Consent Agenda, as 
submitted, except for item 5.   

1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the staff briefing and regular meeting of April 11, 
2017, as submitted. 
 

2. Discussion and consideration of supplemental budget adjustments to the following funds for FY 2016-2017, 
increase: Sewer Construction Fund, expenses/Transfers Out (46) $99,677. Capital Improvements Revenue 
Bond Fund, revenue/Transfers In (00) $99,677. Hotel/Conference Center Fund, revenue/Transfers In (40) 
$740,000. 
 

3. Discussion and consideration of accepting the report on the current financial condition of the Sheraton 
Midwest City Hotel at the Reed Center for the period ending March 31, 2017. 
 

4. Discussion and consideration of approving the Reverter and Quitclaim Deed with the Yes Companies EXP, 
LLC for the property deeded to the City, east of the corporate limits of the City of Midwest City for the future 
site of a proposed elevated water tower. 
 

5. Discussion and consideration of approving the Termination of the Sewer and Water Agreement with 
the Yes Companies EXP, LLC for the water and sewer service provided to the Timberland Mobile 
Home Park property east of the corporate limits of the City of Midwest City. Motion was made by 
Dawkins, seconded by Byrne, to continue this item to the May 9, 2017 meeting. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, 
Allen, Moore, and Chairman Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion carried.  
 

6. Discussion and consideration of approving the Termination of Easement Grant for Sanitary Sewer with the 
Yes Companies EXP, LLC for the existing utility easement located on the Timberland Mobile Home Park 
property east of the corporate limits of the City of Midwest City. 

 
Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore, and Chairman Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion 
carried. 
 
New Business/Public Discussion. There was no new business or public discussion.  
 
Adjournment. Chairman Dukes adjourned the meeting at 8:28 p.m. 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________________ 
 MATTHEW D. DUKES II, Chairman 
 
____________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, Secretary 
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Assistant City Manager  
100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, OK  73110 
office 405.739.1201 

 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Honorable Chairman and Trustees 
  Midwest City Municipal Authority  
 
FROM: Tim Lyon, Assistant City Manager 
 
DATE:  May 9, 2017 
 

Discussion and consideration of entering into a Memorandum of Understanding  to 
study establishing a partnership to perform commercial solid waste management 
services at Tinker Air Force Base. 

 
   
 Attached is a copy of a Memorandum of Understanding between Tinker Air Force Base and 
the Midwest City Municipal Authority to study creating a partnership whereby city personnel 
collects commercial refuse at Tinker Air Force Base.  The purpose of the Memorandum of 
Understanding is to allow Tinker Air Force Base to submit a partnership initiative to the United 
States Air Force, which if approved, will enhance Air Force mission effectiveness through 
efficiencies and economies of scale.  Additionally, this project would be mutually beneficial as well 
for the Midwest City Municipal Authority by creating economies of scale through deferring direct 
overhead administrative expenses currently incurred. 
 
 The Air Force Community Partnership Program is a framework through which installation 
and community leaders can develop creative ways to leverage their capabilities and resources to 
focus on achieving reduced costs by finding shared value.  The attached Memorandum of 
Understanding is an excellent example of merging resources, saving capability and reducing costs. 
 
 Staff recommends approval. 
 
 If you have any questions about this program, please feel free to contact me at 739-1201. 
 
Tim L. Lyon 
______________________________ 
Tim Lyon, Assistant City Manager  
 
 
 
Attachment (1) 
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Public Works Administration  
Vaughn Sullivan, Director 

vsullivan@midwestcityok.org 
R. Paul Streets, Assistant Director 

                                              rstreets@midwestcityok.org 
      www.midwestcityok.org                                                8730 S.E. 15th Street, 

                                                                   Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
                                                              O: 405-739-1060 /Fax: 405-739-1090 

        
Memorandum 

 
 
TO:  Honorable Chairman and Trustees, Midwest City Municipal Authority 
 
FROM: Vaughn Sullivan, Public Works Director  
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement in the 

amount of $10,000 with Dr. Irvin L. Wagner, Professor of Music at University of 
Oklahoma, for a 50-piece concert band to provide the headliner entertainment in 
Regional Park as part of the 2017 Tribute to Liberty 4th of July celebration. 

 
The Tribute to Liberty event will be similar to last year, with live music and an evening finale of 
fireworks choreographed to patriotic music.  Staff has successfully negotiated an agreement again 
this year with Dr. Irvin L. Wagner, David Ross Boyd and Regents Professor of Music at University 
of Oklahoma, in the amount of $10,000 for a 50-piece concert band to provide the evening’s 
headliner entertainment.  Last year was Dr. Wagner’s fourth year to perform at the Tribute to Liberty 
event and his band’s performance received great reviews from attendees of all ages. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Vaughn Sullivan  
Public Works Director 

Attachment: Dr. Irv Wagner Agreement 
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100 North Midwest Boulevard, Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 
(405) 732-2281 - FAX (405) 739-1208 – TDD/TDY 
for ADA assistants please call 739-1202 or 739-1388 

An Equal Opportunity Employer 

                           
 

The City of 
MIDWEST CITY 

Parks & Recreation Department 
Vaughn Sullivan, Public Works Director  

 
 

Tribute to Liberty Musical Entertainment Services 
Agreement 

 
The Midwest City Municipal Authority (the “MCMA”) would like to provide musical entertainment 
during the 2017 Tribute to Liberty where members of Dr. Irv Wagner’s Concert Band (the “Band”) will 
play a patriotically themed concert in a designated area of Joe B. Barnes Regional Park on Tuesday, July 4, 
2017 from 8:30 p.m. until 9:45 p.m.  The MCMA and the Band each agree to be responsible for the 
following tasks ensuring successful event execution: 
 
The MCMA will: 
1. Provide the location; and 
2. Provide assistance with local publicity and public relations; and 
3. Provide staging, sound and lighting; and 
4. Provide electricity; and 
5. Provide designated parking areas for Band members; and 
6. Provide a tented area for Band members and equipment; and 
7. Provide port-a-potties near tent area; and 
8. Provide assistance in resolving other support issues that might arise; and 
9. Provide compensation of $10,000 to the Band. 
 
The Band will: 
1. Provide a concert band; and 
2. Provide all musical instruments, chairs, music stands and stand lighting; and 
3. Play patriotically themed music from 8:30 p.m. until 9:45 p.m. on July 4, 2017; and 
4. Clean the area used when the event ends; and 
5. Address and/or resolve other situations that might arise. 
 
______________________________    ______________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes II, Chairman  Date    Dr. Irv Wagner  Date 
MCMA        Dr. Irv Wagner’s Concert Band 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
Secretary  
 
APPROVED as to form and legality this _______ day of ___________________, 2017. 
 
______________________________ 
City Attorney 

212



Public Works Administration  
Vaughn Sullivan, Director 

vsullivan@midwestcityok.org 
R. Paul Streets, Assistant Director 

                                              rstreets@midwestcityok.org 
      www.midwestcityok.org                                                8730 S.E. 15th Street, 

                                                                   Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
                                                              O: 405-739-1060 /Fax: 405-739-1090 

        
Memorandum 

 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Chairman and Trustees, Midwest City Municipal Authority 
 
FROM: Vaughn Sullivan, Public Works Director  
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement in the 

amount of $6,000 with Ryan Audio Services, LLC to provide a sound system and 
sound system services associated with entertainment in Regional Park as part of the 
2017 Tribute to Liberty 4th of July celebration. 

 
The Tribute to Liberty event will be similar to last year’s event with Dr. Irvine Wagner’s 50 piece 
concert band as headliner entertainment. Once again, the evening’s grand finale will be fireworks 
choreographed to patriotic music.  Staff has successfully negotiated an agreement with Ryan Audio 
Services, LLC in the amount of $6,000 for sound system rental and sound system services associated 
with the performance of the 50-piece concert band. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Vaughn Sullivan  
Public Works Director 

Attachment: Ryan Audio Services Agreement 
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100 North Midwest Boulevard, Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 
(405) 732-2281 - FAX (405) 739-1208 – TDD (405) 739-1359 

An Equal Opportunity Employer 

The City of 
MIDWEST CITY 
Parks & Recreation Department 
 
Vaughn Sullivan, Community Services Director 

 

 
Tribute to Liberty Sound Services 

Agreement 
 

The Midwest City Municipal Authority (the “MCMA”) would like to provide musical entertainment during the 
2017 Tribute to Liberty where members Ryan Audio Services, LLC (the “Sound”) will provide the sound 
services for musical entertainment in a designated area of Joe B. Barnes Regional Park on Tuesday, July 4, 
2017 from 6:00 p.m. until 10:30 p.m.  The MCMA and the Sound each agree to be responsible for the 
following tasks ensuring successful event execution: 
 
The MCMA will: 
1. Provide the location; and 
2. Provide assistance with local publicity and public relations; and 
3. Provide staging, sound and lighting; and 
4. Provide electricity; and 
5. Provide designated parking areas for Sound members; and 
6. Provide a tented area for Sound members and equipment; and 
7. Provide port-a-potties near tent area; and 
8. Provide fireworks show soundtrack up to three days prior to show date of July 4, 2017; and 
9. Provide assistance in resolving other support issues that might arise; and 
10. Provide compensation of $6,000 to Sound upon the completion of the event. 
 
The Sound will: 
1. Provide sound equipment including speakers and speaker towers, mics, mic stands, sound boards 

and sound staff; and 
2. Provide concert related sound services for opening acoustic duo from 6:00 p.m. until 7:50 p.m. and 

headline 50 piece concert band from 8:30 p.m. until 9:45 p.m. on July 4, 2017; and 
3. Provide sound services for fireworks show from 9:45 p.m. until 10:30 p.m.; and 
4. Clean the area used when the event ends; and 
5. Address and/or resolve other situations that might arise. 
 
______________________________    ______________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes II, Chairman Date    George Ryan              Date 
MCMA         Ryan Audio Services, LLC 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
Secretary 
 
APPROVED as to form and legality this _______ day of ___________________, 2017. 
 
______________________________ 
City Attorney 
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Public Works Administration  
Vaughn Sullivan, Director 

vsullivan@midwestcityok.org 
R. Paul Streets, Assistant Director 

                                              rstreets@midwestcityok.org 
      www.midwestcityok.org                                                8730 S.E. 15th Street, 

                                                                   Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
                                                              O: 405-739-1060 /Fax: 405-739-1090 

        
Memorandum 

 
 
TO:  Honorable Chairman and Trustees, Midwest City Municipal Authority  
 
FROM: Vaughn Sullivan, Public Works Director  
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving and entering into an agreement with 

Western Enterprises, Inc. in the amount of $24,000 to provide a fireworks production 
for the 4th of July celebration (Tribute to Liberty) at Joe B. Barnes Regional Park on 
July 4, 2017. 

 
In observance of the 2017 July 4th holiday, the City of Midwest City wishes to once again provide a 
fireworks production located in Regional Park as part of the Tribute to Liberty event.  This year’s 
fireworks production will honor the 75th anniversary of Midwest City.  In addition there will be live 
music and an evening finale of fireworks choreographed to patriotic music. 
 
Western Enterprises provided an outstanding fireworks display during last year’s Independence Day 
celebration at Joe B. Barnes Regional Park assisting staff in creating a festive atmosphere appealing 
to patrons of all ages. 
 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Vaughn Sullivan  
Public Works Director 

Attachment: Western Enterprises Agreement 
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FIREWORKS PRODUCTION CONTRACT 
1 of 2 

 
 
1.  This Contract is entered into this ______ day of _________________, 20___, by and between WESTERN 
ENTERPRISES, INC., designated herein as the "SELLER", and CITY OF MIDWEST CITY AND MIDWEST 
CITY MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY, designated herein as the "PURCHASER" for a fireworks production to be held 
on JULY 4, 2017. 
 
2.  SELLER will secure, prepare, design, deliver and stage said fireworks as outlined in “Attachment A”, or will 
make necessary substitutions of equal or greater value.  SELLER will include the services of a Pyrotechnic Operator 
to take charge of, set up and fire the display, along with such help as he deems necessary to perform the fireworks 
display safely, and in accordance with such Federal, State or Local laws that might be applicable. 
 
3.  SELLER agrees that the Operator and Assistant(s) are to check the display area after the presentation of the 
fireworks display for any "duds" or other material that might not have ignited.  Any such material, found by any person 
other than the Operator, shall be turned to the Operator for safe handling or disposal of said material. 
 
4.  PURCHASER will furnish the secured minimum safety distances established by the SELLER after an on-site 
inspection of the proposed firing location.  PURCHASER will provide adequate police protection and/or other 
adequate security to maintain these distances.  PURCHASER also agrees to have a fire truck available on location 
during the display. 
 
5.  A Certificate of Insurance covering the fireworks display will be provided by the SELLER upon signing of the 
contract, for coverage in the amount of FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($5,000,000.00) broad form, bodily injury and 
property damage liability, Statutory Workers Compensation Coverage, Comprehensive Automobile Liability in the 
amount of FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($5,000,000.00) Combined Single Limit.  PURCHASER agrees to provide a 
complete list of all additional insureds to be named on the certificate. Those entities/individuals listed on the certificate 
of insurance shall be deemed as additional insured per this contract.  
 
6.  It is agreed and understood that the PURCHASER will pay to the SELLER the sum of TWENTY-FOUR 
THOUSAND DOLLARS & NO/100 ($24,000.00) to be paid within thirty (30) days after the date of the display.  
HOWEVER, if payment is made in full by April 17, 2017, a five percent (5%) discount ($1,200.00) will apply.  That 
discount can either be deducted from the total contract price, or the PURCHASER may elect to receive that amount of 
extra pyrotechnic product in lieu of the discount.  Unpaid accounts are subject to one percent (1%) interest charge per 
month after thirty days. 
 
7.  In the event of inclement weather or other adverse conditions, so as to cause postponement of the display it is 
agreed and understood that PURCHASER will notify SELLER regarding the postponement date, normally the 
following night, or at some future date within the calendar year.  If the PURCHASER will not re-schedule the display 
within the calendar year, or completely cancels the display, the PURCHASER agrees and understands that a 30% 
cancellation fee ($7,200.00) of the full contract amount will apply.  This amount will be deemed as full payment 
for cancellation of the display.  If the PURCHASER has exercised the “Early-Payment Option” for discount; the 
difference between the 30% cancellation fee and the early-payment amount will be refunded to the PURCHASER. 
 
It is understood and agreed that SELLER shall be solely responsible for failure of the performance of the fireworks 
display for any reason under SELLERS control. 
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FIREWORKS PRODUCTION CONTRACT 
2 of 2 

 
 
 
8.  Witness whereof, we have caused our signatures to be affixed to this Document, on this ______ day of 
__________________, 20___. 
      
 
WESTERN ENTERPRISES, INC.   CITY OF MIDWEST CITY 
SELLER      PURCHASER 
 
 
 
BY:       BY:      
 authorized agent     authorized agent 

 
 

       MIDWEST CITY MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY 
       PURCHASER 
 
 
 
       BY:      
                  authorized agent 
        
(SIG)        
        
Notary Public in and for the State of     
        
          
        
My Commission Expires:      
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ATTEST: 
  
________________________ 
SECRETARY, Sara Hancock 
  
APPROVED as to form and legality this _____ day of _________, 2017. 
  
________________________________ 
AUTHORITY COUNSEL, Phillip W. Anderson 
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100 N. Midwest Boulevard  Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110 

Engineering Division (405) 739-1215  FAX (405) 739-1399  TDD (405) 739-1359 
An Equal Opportunity Employer 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
  Patrick Menefee, City Engineer 

CURRENT PLANNING DIVISION 
Kellie Gilles, Manager 

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING  
Julie Shannon, Comprehensive Planner 
BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION 

Charles Belk, Building Official 
GIS DIVISION 

Kathy Spivey, GIS Coordinator 

The City of        

MIDWEST CITY 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT -  
ENGINEERING DIVISION 
 
Billy Harless, Community Development Director 
Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 

     
 
 
To:  Honorable Chairman and Trustees 
 
From:  Patrick Menefee, P.E., City Engineer 
 
Date:  May 9th, 2017 
 
Subject: Discussion and consideration of approving the Termination of the Sewer and Water 

Agreement with the Yes Companies EXP, LLC for the water and sewer service 
provided to the Timberland Mobile Home Park property east of the corporate limits of 
the City of Midwest City. 

 
 
The accompanying proposal is for terminating the service that allows the City to provide water 
and sewer service to the Timberland mobile home park.  An agreement to provide service was 
made between the park’s prior ownership group and the City, March 11th, 2014.  Before the 
agreement could be recorded at the county clerk’s office, the park’s ownership group changed, 
making the parties to the agreement inaccurate.  If the existing agreement is terminated, the 
current ownership group will reenter into a new agreement with the city under its name, allowing 
the City to continue to provide service to the Timberland mobile home park. 
 
 
Staff recommends terminating the agreement. 
 

 
Patrick Menefee, P.E. 
City Engineer 
 
 
Attachments 
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY AGENDA 
City Hall - Midwest City Council Chambers, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard 

 
May 09, 2017 - 7:02 PM 

 
Special Assistance requests – tcoplen@midwestcityok.org or 739-1002. (Please provide no less 

than 24 hours’ notice) Special assistance request during a meeting call 739-1388. 
 

A.      CALL TO ORDER. 

B.      CONSENT AGENDA. These items are placed on the Consent Agenda so that trustees of 
          the Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority, by unanimous consent, can approve  
          routine agenda items by one motion. If any item proposed does not meet with approval of  

all trustees, or members of the audience wish to discuss an item with the trustee, that item  
will be removed and heard in regular order. 
 
1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the April 20, 2017 special 

meeting, and the April 25, 2017 staff briefing and regular meeting, as submitted. 
(Secretary - S. Hancock)   

2. Discussion and consideration of approving a resolution and engagement letter for 
underwriting services for the Sooner Rose Increment District Project. (City Manager - 
G. Henson) 

3. Discussion and consideration of approving the management representation letter to 
Grant Thornton LLP and accepting the associated Combined Financial Statement and 
Report of Certified Public Accountants of Sooner Town Center, LLC II for calendar 
years ending December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015. (City Manager - G. Henson) 

C.      DISCUSSION ITEMS. 

1. Discussion and consideration of accepting the Hospital Authority Investment 
Performance Review for the period ending March 31, 2017 and action to reallocate 
assets, change fund managers or make changes in the Statement of Investment Policy, 
Guidelines and Objectives. (Hospital Authority - G. Henson)  

2. Discussion of the refinancing of the Town Center Redevelopment Project. (City 
Manager - G. Henson) 

D.      NEW BUSINESS/PUBLIC DISCUSSION. 

E.      EXECUTIVE SESSION. 

1. Discussion and consideration of 1) entering into executive session, as allowed under 25 
O.S. § 307(B)(3), to discuss the purchase or appraisal of real property; and 2) in open 
session, authorizing the general manager/administrator to take action as appropriate 
based on the discussion in executive session. (Hospital Authority - G. Henson) 

F.      ADJOURNMENT. 
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Notice of regular meetings for staff briefings for the Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority 
was filed for the calendar year with the City Clerk of Midwest City and copies of the agenda for 
this meeting were posted at City Hall and on the City of Midwest City’s website, accessible to 
the public for at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR STAFF BRIEFING FOR 

MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
 

April 25, 2017 – 6:00 p.m. 
 

This regular meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Conference Room on the second 
floor of City Hall, 100 N. Midwest Boulevard, Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of 
Oklahoma. The following members were present: Chairman Matt Dukes; Trustees, Pat Byrne, 
Rick Dawkins, Christine Allen, and Jeff Moore; and Secretary Sara Hancock. Absent: Susan Eads 
and Sean Reed.  
 
Chairman Dukes called the meeting to order at 7:01 p.m.  
 
Clarification of agenda items, handouts, and presentation of new or additional information 
for items on the Hospital Authority agenda for April 25, 2017. The Trustees did not have 
questions for clarification or discussion on the individual agenda items. 
 
Chairman Dukes closed the meeting at 7:02 p.m. 
 
 
  
 _______________________________________ 
ATTEST: MATTHEW D. DUKES, II, Chairman 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, Secretary 
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Notice of regular Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority meetings was filed for the calendar year 
with the City Clerk of Midwest City and copies of the agenda for this meeting were posted at City Hall 
and on the City of Midwest City’s website, accessible to the public for at least 24 hours in advance of 
the meeting. 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MIDWEST CITY  
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY MEETING 

 
April 25, 2017 - 7:02 p.m. 

 
This regular meeting was held in the Midwest City Council Chambers, 100 North Midwest Boulevard, 
Midwest City, County of Oklahoma, State of Oklahoma. The following members were present: 
Chairman Matt Dukes; Trustees Pat Byrne, Rick Dawkins, Christine Allen, and Jeff Moore; and 
Secretary Sara Hancock. Absent: Susan Eads and Sean Reed. Chairman Dukes called the meeting to 
order at 8:28 p.m. 

 
Discussion Item. 
 
1. Discussion and consideration of approving the minutes of the staff briefing and regular 

meeting of April 11, 2017, as submitted. Dawkins made a motion to approve the minutes, as 
submitted, seconded by Byrne. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: 
none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion carried. 
 

2. Discussion and consideration of action to reallocate assets, change fund managers or make 
changes in the Statement of Investment Policy, Guidelines and Objectives. No action was taken. 
 

New Business/Public Discussion. There was no new business or public discussion. 
 
Executive Session. 
 
1. Discussion and consideration of 1) entering into executive session, as allowed under 25 O.S. § 

307(C)(10), to confer on matters pertaining to economic development, including the transfer of 
property, financing or the creation of a proposal to entice a business to remain or to locate 
within the City; and 2) in open session, authorizing action as appropriate based on the 
discussion in executive session. Dawkins made a motion to go into executive session, seconded by 
Allen. Voting aye: Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and 
Reed. Motion carried. The Council went into executive session at 8:30 p.m.  
 
Mayor Dukes reconvened in open session at 10:27 p.m. Dawkins made a motion to authorize the 
City Manager to take action as discussed in executive session, seconded by Byrne. Voting aye: 
Byrne, Dawkins, Allen, Moore, and Mayor Dukes. Nay: none. Absent: Eads and Reed. Motion 
carried.  
 

Adjournment. There being no further business, Chairman Dukes adjourned the meeting at 10:27 p.m. 
 
 

______________________________________ 
ATTEST:              MATTHEW D. DUKES, II, Chairman  
 
________________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, Secretary 
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Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority 
100 North Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
Office (405) 739-1207 - Fax (405) 739-1208      

E-mail: ghenson@midwestcityok.org 
 

     J. Guy Henson 
       General Manager/ 

      Administrator 

         

     Trustees 

     Matthew D. Dukes II 
     Susan Eads 
     Pat Byrne 
     Rick Dawkins 
     M. Sean Reed 
     Christine Allen 
     Jeff Moore 
 
    Board of Grantors 

 Sherry Beaird 
 John Cauffiel  
 Marcia Conner  
 Pam Dimski 
 Dara McGlamery 
 Joyce Jackson  
 Charles McDade  
 Nancy Rice  
 Sheila Rose 

 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Chairman and Trustees 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, General Manager/Administrator 
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving a resolution, engagement letter 

for underwriting services and financial advisor contract for the Sooner 
Rose Increment District Project.  

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Attached for your review and approval are: (1) the Resolution designating Wells Nelson 
& Associates and D.A. Davidson & Co., as co-underwriters in connection with the sale 
and issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds to provide development financing assistance for 
the Sooner Rose Increment District Project, and designating The Baker Group of 
Oklahoma City as financial advisor for the Project; (2) the terms and conditions of that 
certain “Engagement Letter” dated May 10, 2017; and (3) the terms and conditions of 
that certain Financial Advisor Contract with The Baker Group of Oklahoma City. 
 
 
 
 

 
J. Guy Henson 
General Manager/Administrator 
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May 10, 2017 
 
Honorable Matt Dukes, Chairman 
Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority 
100 N. Midwest Blvd. 
Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110  
 
Re: Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority, Tax Apportionment Bonds 
 Series 2017A&B (Taxable) (Sooner Rose Increment District Project 
 
Dear Mr. Chairman: 
 
 On behalf of Wells Nelson & Associates, Inc. and D.A. Davidson & Co. (collectively, the 
“Underwriters”), we wish to thank you for the opportunity to serve as co-underwriters for the 
Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority (“the Issuer”) on its proposed offering and issuance 
of not to exceed $17,000,000 Tax Apportionment Bonds, Series 2017A&B (Taxable)(Sooner 
Rose Increment District Project) (the “Bonds”).  This letter will confirm the terms of our 
engagement; however, it is anticipated that this letter will be replaced and superseded by a bond 
purchase agreement to be entered into by the parties (the “Purchase Agreement”) if and when the 
Bonds are priced following successful completion of the offering process.  

 1.  Services to be Provided by the Underwriters. The Issuer hereby engages the 
Underwriters to serve as managing underwriters of the proposed offering and issuance of the 
Bonds, and in such capacity the Underwriters agrees to provide the following services: 

• Review and evaluate the proposed terms of the offering and the Bonds 

• Develop a marketing plan for the offering, including identification of potential investors 

• Assist in the preparation of the official statement and other offering documents 

• Contact potential investors, provide them with offering-related information, respond to 
their inquiries and, if requested, coordinate their due diligence sessions 

• If the Bonds are to be rated, assist in preparing materials to be provided to securities 
ratings agencies and in developing strategies for calls with the ratings agencies 

• Consult with bond counsel and other service providers about the offering and the terms of 
the Bonds 

• Inform the Issuer of the marketing and offering process 

• Negotiate the pricing, including the interest rate, and other terms of the Bonds 

• Obtain CUSIP number(s) for the Bonds and arrange for their DTC book-entry eligibility 
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• Plan and arrange for the closing and settlement of the issuance and the delivery of the 
Bonds 

• Such other usual and customary underwriting services as may be requested by the Issuer 

As underwriters, we will not be required to purchase the Bonds except pursuant to the terms of 
the Purchase Agreement, which will not be signed until successful completion of the pre-sale 
offering period. This letter does not obligate the Underwriters to purchase any of the Bonds.   

 2.  No Advisory or Fiduciary Role.  The Issuer acknowledges and agrees that: (i) the 
primary role of the undersigned, acting as underwriters, is to purchase securities, for resale to 
investors, in an arm’s-length commercial transaction between the Issuer and the Underwriters 
and that the Underwriters have financial and other interests that may differ from those of the 
issuer.; (ii) the Underwriters are not acting as municipal advisors, financial advisors, or 
fiduciaries to the Issuer and has not assumed any advisory or fiduciary responsibility to the 
Issuer with respect to the transaction contemplated hereby and the discussions, undertakings and 
procedures leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Underwriters have provided other 
services or is currently providing other services to the Issuer on other matters); (iii) the only 
obligations the Underwriters have to the Issuer with respect to the transaction contemplated 
hereby expressly are set forth in this agreement; and (iv) the Issuer has consulted its own 
financial and/or municipal, legal, accounting, tax and other advisors, as applicable, to the extent 
it deems appropriate. If the Issuer would like a municipal advisor in this transaction that has legal 
fiduciary duties to the Issuer, the Issuer is free to engage a municipal advisor to serve in that 
capacity. 

 In addition, the Issuer acknowledges receipt of certain regulatory disclosures as required 
by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board that are attached to this agreement as Exhibit A.  
The Issuer further acknowledges that the Underwriters may be required to supplement or make 
additional disclosures as may be necessary as the specific terms of the transaction progress.   

 3.  Fees and Expenses.  The Underwriters’ proposed underwriting fee/spread is not to 
exceed 1.25 Percent (1.25%) of the principal amount of the Bonds issued. The underwriting 
fee/spread will represent the difference between the price that the Underwriters pay for the 
Bonds and the public offering price stated on the cover of the final official statement. In addition 
to the underwriting fee/spread, the Issuer shall pay to the Underwriters a fee equal to $5,500 as 
reimbursement for the use of the Underwriters’ capital to advance certain costs prior to 
settlement, and to reimburse for the Underwriters’ payment of CUSIP, DTC, and IPREO 
(electronic book-running/sales order system).  The Issuer shall be responsible for paying or 
reimbursing the Underwriters for all other costs of issuance including, without limitation, 
municipal advisor, bond counsel, underwriter’s counsel, ratings agency fees and expenses, 
trustee bank acceptance and annual fees and all other expenses incident to the performance of the 
Issuer’s obligations under the proposed offering.  
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 4.  Term and Termination.  The term of this engagement shall extend from the date of this 
letter to the closing of the offering of the Bonds.  Notwithstanding the forgoing, any party may 
terminate the Underwriters’ engagement at any time without liability of penalty upon at least 30 
days’ prior written notice to the other party.  If the Underwriters’ engagement is terminated by 
the Issuer, the Issuer agrees to compensate the Underwriters for the services provided and to 
reimburse the Underwriters for their out-of-pocket expenses incurred until the date of 
termination.   

 5.  Miscellaneous.  This letter shall be governed and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Oklahoma.  This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by 
means of a written instrument executed by all parties hereto.  This Agreement may not be 
assigned by any party without the prior written consent of all other parties. 

 If there is any aspect of this Agreement that you believe requires further clarification, 
please do not hesitate to contact us.  If the foregoing is consistent with your understanding of our 
engagement, please sign and return the enclosed copy of this letter. 

 Again, we thank you for the opportunity to assist you with your proposed financing and 
the confidence you have placed in us. 

Very truly yours, 
 
WELLS NELSON & ASSOCIATES, LLC    D.A. DAVIDSON & CO.  
 
 
 
__________________     ___________________ 
Randall Nelson       Tom J. Thompson 
Executive Vice-President      Managing Director, Public Finance 
 
Accepted this ___ day of ___________, 2017 
 
 
    MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
 
 
    By:__________________ 
              Title:  Chairman 
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EXHIBIT A 

DISCLOSURES BY UNDERWRITER 
PURSUANT TO MSRB RULE G-17 

 

Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority 
100 N. Midwest Blvd. 
Midwest City, Oklahoma 73110  
 
Re:  Disclosures by Underwriter 
 Pursuant to MSRB Rule G-17 
 Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority Tax Apportionment Bonds 
 (Midwest City Increment District Project) Series 2017 
 
Ladies & Gentlemen: 
 
 We are writing to provide you with certain disclosures relating to the captioned bond 
issue (the “Bonds”), as required by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (MSRB)  Rule 
G-17 as set forth in MSRB Notice 2012-25 (May 7, 2012).  
 
 The Issuer has engaged Wells Nelson & Associates, LLC, and D.A. Davidson & Co. 
(collectively, the “Underwriters”) to serve as underwriters, and not as a financial advisors or 
municipal advisors, in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.  As part of our services as 
underwriter, the Underwriters may provide advice concerning the structure, timing, terms, and 
other similar matters concerning the issuance of the Bonds.  As the issuer of the Bonds, you will 
be a party to the bond purchase agreement and certain other legal documents to be entered into in 
connection with the issuance of the Bonds, but the material financial risks described in this letter 
will be borne by the Authority, as set forth in those legal documents.  
 
I. Disclosures Concerning the Underwriters’ Role: 
 

1.  MSRB Rule G-17 requires an underwriter to deal fairly at all times with both 
municipal issuers and investors.  
 
2.  The underwriters’ primary role is to purchase the Bonds with a view to distribution in 
an arm’s-length commercial transaction with the Issuer. The underwriters have financial 
and other interests that differ from those of the Issuer. 
 
3.  Unlike a municipal advisor, the underwriters do not have a fiduciary duty to the Issuer 
under the federal securities laws and are, therefore, not required by federal law to act in 
the best interests of the Issuer without regard to their own financial or other interests.  
 
4.  The underwriters have a duty to purchase the Bonds from the Issuer at a fair and 
reasonable price, but must balance that duty with their duty to sell the Bonds to investors 
at prices that are fair and reasonable.  
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The underwriters will review the official statement for the Bonds in accordance with, and 
as part of, their respective responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws, 
as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction.  

 
II. Disclosures Concerning the Underwriters’ Compensation:  
 
The underwriters will be compensated by an underwriting discount that will be set forth in the 
bond purchase agreement to be negotiated and entered into in connection with the issuance of the 
Bonds. Payment or receipt of the discount will be contingent on the closing of the transaction 
and the amount of the fee or discount may be based, in whole or in part, on a percentage of the 
principal amount of the Bonds. While this form of compensation is customary in the municipal 
securities market, it presents a conflict of interest since the underwriters may have an incentive to 
recommend to the Issuer a transaction that is unnecessary or to recommend that the size of the 
transaction be larger than is necessary. However, in this case, your financial advisor will 
determine the need for and size of the transaction.  
 
 If you or any other Issuer officials have any questions or concerns about these disclosures, 
please make those questions or concerns known immediately to the undersigned. In addition, you 
should consult with the Issuer’s own financial and/or municipal, legal, accounting, tax and other 
advisors, as applicable, to the extent you deem appropriate.  
 
 It is our understanding that you have the authority to bind the Issuer by contract with us, 
and that you are not a party to any conflict of interest relating to the subject transaction. If our 
understanding is incorrect, please notify the undersigned immediately.  
 
 We are required to seek your acknowledgement that you have received this letter.  
Accordingly, please send me an email to that effect, or sign and return the enclosed copy of this 
letter to me at the address set forth on page A-1.  
 
 We look forward to working with you and the Issuer and the Authority in connection with 
the issuance of the Bonds. Thank you.  

 
WELLS NELSON & ASSOCIATES, LLC    D.A. DAVIDSON & CO.  
 

 
____________________     ____________________ 
Randall Nelson       Tom J. Thompson 
Executive Vice-President      Managing Director, Public Finance 
 
Acknowledgement: 
 
    MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
 
 
    By:___________________  Date: _____________  
           Title:  Chairman 
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FINANCIAL ADVISOR CONTRACT 
 
 
THIS CONTRACT, made this_____day of _________, 2017, between Midwest City Memorial 
Hospital Authority , acting by and through its Trustees (hereinafter called "Authority"), and The 
Baker Group of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma (hereinafter called "Baker"), 
 
WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the Authority has determined to employ Baker to assist the Authority in 
securing capital for a project consisting of providing capital improvements for the City of 
Midwest City, Oklahoma, and 
 

WHEREAS, it is necessary and in the best interests of the Authority that the Trustees be 
provided with expert financial advice in making the terms and provisions for the issuance of said 
indebtedness most acceptable to the investment market, to the end that the same may be sold at 
interest rates most advantageous to the Authority; 
 
IT IS AGREED BETWEEN THE PARTIES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. The Authority hereby appoints and employs Baker as its Financial Advisor for the purposes 

above set forth, in connection with the aforesaid financing. Baker hereby accepts said 
appointment and employment and covenants to the City faithfully to perform its duties in 
relation thereto, whenever requested by the Trustees. 
 

2. As full compensation for its services as Financial Advisor in connection with said 
indebtedness, the Authority agrees to pay to Baker an amount equal to one percent (1%) of 
the first ten million ($10,000,000) and one quarter of one percent (.25 %) of all debt over ten 
million plus the out of pocket expenses incurred in printing and distributing the offering 
material for such indebtedness. Said compensation shall be paid in full out of the proceeds of 
the indebtedness issued by the Authority and only out of such proceeds. Said compensation 
shall be the only compensation payable to Baker under this Contract; and Baker shall not be 
entitled  to claim or receive any amount from the Authority for its duties hereunder unless 
and until evidences of indebtedness of the Authority shall be authorized and issued. It is 
expressly understood and agreed that the above is not applicable to any grant funds received 
from public or private sources, and the receipt of any such grant funds by the Authority shall 
not give rise to or increase the compensation of Baker hereunder. 

 
WITNESS THE PARTIES HERETO the date first above written. 
 

MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL 
ATTEST:      (Seal)                HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
 
    
_______________________      _______________________ 
Secretary of Trustees        By: Chairman of Trustees 
 
THE BAKER GROUP 
 
 
_______________________ 
By: (Title)   
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RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 

RESOLUTION DESIGNATING UNDERWRITERS IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
SOONER ROSE INCREMENT DISTRICT PROJECT AND APPROVING 
ENGAGEMENT LETTER RELATING THERETO; DESIGNATING FINANCIAL 
ADVISOR FOR THE SOONER ROSE INCREMENT DISTRICT PROJECT AND 
APPROVING FINANCIAL ADVISOR CONTRACT RELATING THERETO; 
AUTHORIZING EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE ENGAGEMENT 
LETTER AND THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR CONTRACT AND OTHER 
DOCUMENTS RELATING THERETO; AND CONTAINING OTHER 
PROVISIONS RELATING THERETO. 
 

 WHEREAS, on March 16, 2017, the City Council of the City of Midwest City, Oklahoma 
adopted Ordinance No. 21262 establishing “Increment District No. Two, City of Midwest City, 
Oklahoma” (the “Sooner Rose Increment District”), and approving and adopting the “Project Plan 
Relating to Increment District Number Two, City of Midwest City, Oklahoma” (the “Project Plan”), 
pursuant to the provisions of the Local Development Act, Title 62, Sections 850 et seq. of the Oklahoma 
Statutes, as amended (the “Local Development Act”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Project Plan authorizes the Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority to provide 
development financing assistance to defray a portion of the Project Costs specified therein, by issuing its Tax 
Apportionment Bonds, Series 2017A&B (Taxable) (Sooner Rose Increment District Project) (the “Series 
2017 Bonds”) to fund such costs; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority desires to retain underwriting and financial advisory services to assist the 
Authority in the sale and issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TRUSTEES OF THE MIDWEST CITY 
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1.  Designating Underwriters in Connection with the Sooner Rose Increment 
District Project and Approving Engagement Letter Relating Thereto.  The Trustees of the Authority 
hereby retain Wells Nelson & Associates and D.A. Davidson & Co., as co-underwriters in connection with 
the proposed issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds.  Further, the Trustees hereby approve the terms and 
conditions of that certain “Engagement Letter”, dated May 10, 2017, between the Underwriters and the 
Authority, in the form presented at this meeting with such additions, omissions and changes as may be 
approved by the Chairman, his execution being conclusive evidence of their approval of any such 
additions, omission and changes. 
 
 SECTION 2.  Designating Financial Advisor in Connection with the Sooner Rose Increment 
District Project and Approving Contract Relating Thereto.  The Trustees of the Authority hereby retain 
The Baker Group, LP (the “Financial Advisor”), as financial advisor in connection with the proposed 
issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds, and hereby approve the terms and conditions of that certain “Financial 
Advisor Contract”, dated May 10, 2017, between the Financial Advisor and the Authority, in the form 
presented at this meeting with such additions, omissions and changes as may be approved by the 
Chairman, his execution being conclusive evidence of their approval of any such additions, omission and 
changes. 
 
 SECTION 3.  Authorizing Execution and Delivery of the Engagement Letter and the Financial 
Advisor Contract and Other Documents Relating Thereto.  The Trustees hereby authorize the Chairman 
and Secretary of the Authority to execute and deliver the agreements referenced herein, along with such 
other instruments, letters and certifications necessary or incidental thereto. 
 
 PASSED AND approved by the Trustees of the Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority this 
__ day of May, 2017. 
 
      MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
ATTEST:  
              
      MATTHEW D. DUKES, II, Chairman 
_________________________ 
SARA HANCOCK, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED as to form and legality this ____ day of May, 2017: 
 
 
              
      PHILIP W. ANDERSON, City Attorney 
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Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority 
100 North Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
Office (405) 739-1207 - Fax (405) 739-1208      

E-mail: ghenson@midwestcityok.org 
 

     J. Guy Henson 
       General Manager/ 

      Administrator 

         

     Trustees 

     Matthew D. Dukes II 
     Susan Eads 
     Pat Byrne 
     Rick Dawkins 
     M. Sean Reed 
     Christine Allen 
     Jeff Moore 
 
    Board of Grantors 

 Sherry Beaird 
 John Cauffiel  
 Marcia Conner  
 Pam Dimski 
 Dara McGlamery 
 Joyce Jackson  
 Charles McDade  
 Nancy Rice  
 Sheila Rose 

 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Chairman and Trustees 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, General Manager/Administrator 
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of approving the management 

representation letter to Grant Thornton LLP and accepting of the 
associated Combined Financial Statement and Report of Certified Public 
Accountants of Sooner Town Center, LLC II for calendar years ending 
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015. 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Attached for your review and approval is the management representation letter and 
combined financial statement and report for the entities leasing the property associated 
with the Downtown Redevelopment Project for calendar years 2014 and 2015. 
 

 
J. Guy Henson 
General Manager/Administrator 
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Sooner Town Center II, LLC 

May 9, 2017 

 

Grant Thornton LLP 
201 S. College St. #2500 
Charlotte, NC 28244 
 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

We are providing this letter in connection with your audits of the financial statements of Sooner Town Center 
II, LLC (the “Entity”), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 
and the related statements of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. We understand that your audits were made for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material 
respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US 
GAAP”).  

We have fulfilled our responsibility, as set out in the terms of the Engagement Letter, for the preparation and 
fair presentation in the financial statements of financial position, results of operations, and cash flows in 
accordance with US GAAP. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, including programs and controls to 
prevent and detect fraud.  

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are 
considered to be material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, in light of the surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a 
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or 
misstatement. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary 
for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves, as of May 9, 2017, the following representations made 
to you during your audits.  

1. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. We have no knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the 
Entity involving:  

a. Management 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or  
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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2. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Entity’s financial 
statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short 
sellers, or others.  

3. There are no known violations or possible violations of, or no known instances of noncompliance or 
suspected noncompliance with, laws and regulations whose effects should be considered by management 
when preparing the financial statements, as a basis for recording a loss contingency or for disclosure.  

4. The Entity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on 
the financial statements in the event of a noncompliance.  

5. The Entity has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 
assets and liabilities.  

6. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Entity’s related parties and all related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware. Related party relationships and transactions and related amounts 
receivable from or payable to related parties (including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing 
arrangements, and guarantees) have been properly accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements 
in accordance with US GAAP.  

We understand that “related parties” include (1) affiliates of the Entity; (2) entities for which investments 
in their equity securities would be required to be accounted for by the equity method by the investing 
entity; (3) trusts for the benefit of employees, such as pension and profit-sharing trusts that are managed 
by or under the trusteeship of management; (4) principal owners of the Entity and members of their 
immediate families; and (5) management of the Entity and members of their immediate families.  

Related parties also include (1) other parties with which the Entity may deal if one party controls or can 
significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an extent that one of the 
transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests; and (2) other parties 
that can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the transacting parties or that 
have an ownership interest in one of the transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an 
extent that one or more of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests. 

7. There are no known actual or possible litigation, claims, or assessments that our legal counsel has advised 
us are probable of assertion whose effects should be considered by management when preparing the 
financial statements and that should be accounted for and disclosed in accordance with US GAAP 
(FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (ASC) 450, Contingencies).  

8. The calculation of participation rent for the year ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 as 
determined in the supplementary schedules of net operating income, debt service, net cash flow, and 
subtenant rents are prepared in compliance with the terms as defined in the Westside General Ground 
Lease (the Agreement). We have read the supplementary schedules and believe the information presented 
is consistent with and accurately reflects the provisions contained in the Agreement. 

9. We believe the information included in the Leases footnote to the financial statements, which describes 
the participation rent calculation, is consistent with our understanding of the agreement. 
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10. We believe that the rent expense for participation rent is $105,345 for the year ended December 31, 2015 
and a participation rent credit was granted in the amount of $91,648 for the year ended December 31, 
2014 due to negative cumulative Net Cash Flows as of December 31, 2014. 

11. We believe that amounts due for participation rent are $105,345 and $0 as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014 respectively. 

12.  No events have occurred subsequent to the date of the financial statements through the date of this 
letter that would require, in accordance with US GAAP, recognition or disclosure in the financial 
statements. 

Very truly yours, 

SOONER TOWN CENTER II, LLC 

 
__________________________________________ 
Robert Collett 
Managing Member 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
John Cheek 
Consultant to Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Kemp Woollen 
Chief Financial Officer of Collett as agent for Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
 
THE CITY OF MIDWEST CITY 

 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Mayor 
 

MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 

__________________________________________ 
Matthew D. Dukes, II Chairman 
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Grant Thornton LLP 
201 South College Street 
Suite 2500 
Charlotte, NC 28244-0100 
 
T 704.632.3500 
F 704.334.7701 
www.GrantThornton.com 

 

Grant Thornton LLP 
U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 

 

 

 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

To the Members of 
Sooner Town Center II, LLC: 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sooner Town Center II, LLC 
(an Oklahoma limited liability company), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 
2015 and 2014, and the related statements of operations, changes in members’ deficit, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Sooner Town Center II, LLC as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Supplementary information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as 
a whole. The supplementary information presented in Schedules I through IV is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such 
supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. 
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and certain additional procedures. These additional procedures included 
comparing and reconciling the information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

Charlotte, North Carolina 
May 9, 2017 
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Sooner Town Center II, LLC 3 

Balance sheets 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Assets
Real property, at cost:
Buildings 6,867,756     6,867,756     
Land improvements and signage 1,772,745     1,772,745     

8,640,501     8,640,501     
Less – Accumulated depreciation (1,023,599)    (705,667)       

Real property, net 7,616,902     7,934,834     
Other assets:
Cash 304,700        58,536          
Accounts receivable 91,771          143,386        
Deferred charges and other assets, net 504,195        590,539        

Total assets 8,517,568     8,727,295     
Liabilities and members’ deficit
Liabilities:
Note payable 8,726,952     8,914,345     
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 183,485        133,360        
Unearned revenue 128,119        109,540        

Total liabilities 9,038,556     9,157,245     
Members’ deficit (520,988)       (429,950)       

Total liabilities and members' deficit 8,517,568     8,727,295     
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Sooner Town Center II, LLC 4 

Statements of operations 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Rental revenues 1,218,881         1,099,505         
Operating expenses:
Common area maintenance 62,312              81,032              
General and administrative expenses 244,324            265,112            
Rent expense (credit) 170,954            (26,038)             
Depreciation and amortization 404,637            404,379            

Total operating expenses 882,227            724,485            
Interest expense 427,692            431,787            
Net loss (91,038)             (56,767)             
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Statements of changes in members’ deficit 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Total Members' 
Deficit

$
Members' deficit, December 31, 2013 (373,183)                        
Net loss (56,767)                          
Members' deficit, December 31, 2014 (429,950)                        
Net loss (91,038)                          
Members' deficit, December 31, 2015 (520,988)                        
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Statements of cash flows 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

For the years ending December 31 2015 2014
 $  $ 

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (91,038)                     (56,767)                     
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation 317,932                     321,961                     
Amortization 86,705                       82,418                       
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 51,615                       (51,852)                     
Deferred charges and other assets (361)                          (36,697)                     
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 50,125                       (394,064)                   
Unearned revenue 18,579                       46,082                       

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 433,557                     (88,919)                     
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to real property -                            (416,398)                   

Net cash used in investing activities -                            (416,398)                   
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on note payable (210,220)                   (178,599)                   
Proceeds from note payable 22,827                       -                            

Net cash used in f inancing activities (187,393)                   (178,599)                   
Net increase (decrease) in cash 246,164                     (683,916)                   
Cash, beginning of year 58,536                       742,452                     
Cash, end of year 304,700                     58,536                       
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 426,127                     434,923                     
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Notes to financial statements 

 

1  Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies 
Organization 

Sooner Town Center II, LLC (an Oklahoma limited liability company) (the Company) was organized in 
January 2012 for the purpose of acquiring, developing and leasing commercial properties in Oklahoma.  The 
Company developed and operates a retail center (the Project) located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Project is 
defined by a ground lease agreement between Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority, an affiliate of Midwest 
City, Oklahoma (collectively, the City) and the Company.  The City is considered to be a related party for financial 
reporting purposes.  The Company is responsible for design, construction, financing, leasing and management of 
the Project, all subject to City approval.  Income and loss will be allocated to members in accordance with the 
operating agreement. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company classifies highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of three months or less as cash 
equivalents. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company’s operating property is located in Midwest City, Oklahoma.  The Company’s ability to generate 
future revenues is dependent upon the economic conditions within this area. 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had three tenants.  Each tenant comprised more than 10% of 
total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  Two tenants comprised more than 10% of 
accounts receivable as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

The Company maintains its cash in a commercial bank.  Regularly during the year, the Company maintained cash 
and cash equivalents in accounts in excess of the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  
The Company’s management regularly monitors the financial stability of these financial institutions. 

Revenue Recognition 

Rental revenue is generally recognized based on the terms of leases entered into with tenants.  Rental revenue 
from leases with scheduled rent increases, incentives or abatements is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
noncancelable term of the respective leases.  Property operating cost recoveries from tenants for common area 
maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs totaling $249,232 and $217,037 for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, are recognized in the period in which the related expenses are 
incurred, and are included in rental revenues in the accompanying statements of operations.  Receivables relating 
to these recoveries totaled $5,201 and $99,772 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and are 
recognized as accounts receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.  If it becomes probable that a tenant will 
fail to perform according to the terms of the lease, a loss equal to the accrued rental revenue unlikely to be 
received from that tenant would be charged to operations.  The Company also earns percentage rent from a 
tenant based on a gross receipts calculation.  This revenue is recognized in the period it is earned.  Receivables 
relating to percentage rent totaled $78,877 and $41,156 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and are 
recognized as accounts receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.   

Revenue received in advance from tenants is recognized as unearned revenue on the accompanying balance 
sheets.  Unearned revenue as of December 31, 2015, was $128,119.  Unearned revenue as of December 31, 2014 
was $109,540.   
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The Project consists of 69,308 square feet of retail space and was completed in 2012.  At December 31, 2015, 
three tenants occupying 69,308 square feet were operating noncancelable leases providing for future minimum 
rents of $7,479,841, with the latest expiration date of July 31, 2029. 

Future minimum rents receivable under noncancelable leases for all known tenants at December 31, 2015, are as 
follows.  Most leases have renewal options which are not included below. 

Amount
$

2016 926,692      
2017 926,692      
2018 845,452      
2019 829,204      
2020 829,204      
Thereafter 3,122,597   

7,479,841   

 
Rent and other receivables are reported at their estimated net realizable value.  When necessary, the Company 
provides an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection 
information and existing economic conditions.  Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the 
receivables.  Rent and other receivables are written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific 
circumstances of the customer.  Management has concluded that all of the Company’s accounts receivable 
amounts will be realizable and, accordingly, has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 
2015 and 2014.  
Real Property 

Buildings are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 
39 years.  Land improvements and signage are depreciated using an accelerated method of depreciation over the 
useful life of the assets, usually 15 years.  Direct and indirect costs that relate to land development and building 
construction are capitalized.  Costs are allocated to Project components by the specific identification method 
whenever possible.  Otherwise, costs are allocated based on square footage or acreage.   

Depreciation on real property charged to operations was $317,932 and $321,961 for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

Repairs are charged against operations.  Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of an asset are 
capitalized. 

The Company reviews the real property for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the real property may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of the real property is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the real property to undiscounted future net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the real property.  If the real property is considered to be impaired, the impairment 
to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the real property exceeds its fair 
value.  No impairment was recognized as of December 31, 2015. 
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Deferred Charges and Other Assets 

Deferred charges consist of lease commissions, lease costs and loan costs and are stated at cost net of 
accumulated amortization.  At December 31, 2015 and 2014, total deferred charges capitalized were $729,017 
with accumulated amortization of $255,569 and $168,864, respectively.  The lease commissions and lease costs are 
amortized on the straight-line method over the terms of the respective leases.  Lease commission and lease costs 
amortization expense of $63,990 and $59,703 is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying 
statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Loan costs consist of 
various debt issuance costs and are amortized on the straight-line method, which approximates the effective 
interest method, based on terms of the respective debt agreements.  Loan cost amortization expense of $22,715 is 
included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying statement of operations for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

Deferred charges and other assets also includes $30,747 and $30,386 of prepaid expenses at December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

The Company is a limited liability company treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes.  
As a result, the Company’s results of operations are included in the income tax returns of its individual members.  
Accordingly, no provision for federal or state income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying financial 
statements. 

The Company follows applicable authoritative guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes which, 
among other things, prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement 
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and provides 
guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and disclosure.  The 
Company has no uncertain tax positions.   

Use of Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

2 Debt 

The Company entered into a note payable agreement with First National Bank for borrowings in the maximum 
principal amount of $9,136,970 on September 18, 2012.  Total amounts drawn on this loan as of December 31, 
2015 and 2014, were $8,726,952 and $8,914,345, respectively.  The note is collateralized by a deed of trust on real 
property and assignment of rents.  From September 18, 2012 to September 10, 2013, the interest rate was variable 
at a rate equal to 3% per annum in excess of the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR).  From September 11, 
2013 to September 10, 2018, the interest rate is variable at a rate equal to 3% per annum in excess of the Treasury 
Rate but not less than 4.5%.  For the years ending December 31, 2015 and 2014, the interest rate was 4.76%. 
Interest-only payments on the amounts disbursed under the note were to be paid monthly until October 10, 2013, 
at which time principal and interest payments began.   

On February 10, 2017, the Company refinanced the note with First National Bank for the entire outstanding 
balance on that date.  Under the amended terms, the interest rate is fixed at a rate equal to 3.50% per annum in 
excess of the Treasury Rate adjustable every five years.  The entire unpaid balance of principal and accrued unpaid 
interest owing on the note will be due and payable on February 10, 2039. 

257



Sooner Town Center II, LLC 10 

 

Interest incurred related to the above loans totaled $427,692 and $431,787 for the years ended December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. 

Scheduled principal payments on the note payable are as follows: 

Amount
$

2016 201,288      
2017 171,240      
2018 144,171      
2019 152,213      
2020 160,703      
Thereafter 7,897,337   

8,726,952   
 

3 Leases 

The Company subleases the Project land from Sooner Town Center, LLC (STC), a related party, which leases the 
land from the City.  The lease commenced on July 19, 2012, with rent commencement on October 31, 2012.  The 
lease expires on October 31, 2062, with a five-year renewal option.  The monthly rent amount increases by 10% 
on the 10th anniversary of the commencement date, and every five years thereafter. 

Straight-line rental expense totaled $65,609 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  Rent expense 
related to this lease incurred and unpaid totaled $41,218 and $20,609 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively, and is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the accompanying balance sheet. 

Future minimum rent payments for the original term are as follows: 

Amount
$

2016 45,000        
2017 45,000        
2018 45,000        
2019 45,000        
2020 45,000        
Thereafter 2,912,882   

3,137,882   
 

The Company also has a ground lease with the Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority, an affiliated entity, 
which provides for participation rent equivalent to 50% of net cash flow as defined measured on a cumulative 
basis.  Rent commenced on October 31, 2012, under this lease which expires on October 31, 2062, with a five-
year renewal option.  In addition to participation rent, starting one year after the commencement date, annual rent 
will be $1.  Participation rent is due and payable only to the extent that cumulative net cash flows are positive. 
Rent expense under this lease is $105,345 for the year ended December 31, 2015.  Due to negative cumulative net 
cash flows as of December 31, 2014, and with the concurrence of the parties to the lease, a participation rent 
credit was granted on unpaid participation rent in the amount of $91,648 as of December 31, 2013, resulting in 
cancellation of the rent liability as of that date.  
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4 Related-party Transactions and Balances 

Collett Management, LLC (Collett), an affiliated entity, provides leasing, development and brokerage services to 
the Company.  The Company paid nominal amounts for various expense reimbursements to Collett for the years 
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  Property management fees totaling $47,091 and $44,075 were paid to 
Collett for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

John S. Cheek, Inc. (Cheek), an affiliated entity, provides tax and accounting services to the Company.  The 
Company paid $4,375 and $3,000 in fees to Cheek for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.   

The Company leases land from the City (see Note 3).  Utility expenses paid to the City totaled $7,579 and $4,451 
for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

Certain members guarantee the note payable.    

5 Subsequent Events 

The Company has analyzed its operations subsequent to December 31, 2015 through May 9, 2017, the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued.   
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Supplementary information 
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Schedule I – Net operating income 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Rental revenues per audited financial statements 1,218,881         1,099,505         
Adjustments to cash basis: 

Rent & CAM receivable 51,615              (51,852)             
Unearned rent 18,579              46,082              

Gross operating revenue (cash basis) 1,289,075         1,093,735         
Total operating expenses 882,227            724,485            
Adjustments for noncash expenses and expenses funded w ith loan proceeds
Depreciation and amortization (404,637)           (404,379)           
Expenses paid w ith loan proceeds -                        63,605              
Project costs in excess of loan -                        232,342            
Participation rent, accrued or paid (105,345)           91,648              
Operating expenses 372,245            707,701            
Net operating income 916,830            386,034            
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Schedule II – Debt service 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Debt service:
Interest expense per audited f inancial statements 427,692                431,787                
Net principal payments 187,393                178,599                
          Total debt service 615,085                610,386                
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Schedule III – Net cash flow 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014
$ $

Net operating income 916,830               386,034               
Less - Debt service (615,085)              (610,386)              
Net cash flow, current year 301,745               (224,352)              
Less - Cash Reserve (50,000)                -                           
Less Distributions Paid -                           (50,000)                
Less - 2013 Participation Rent Paid -                           (50,000)                
Net cash f low , current year, after reserves and distributions 251,745               (324,352)              

Cumulative net cash flow, beginning of year (41,056)                283,296               
Cumulative net cash flow, end of year 210,689               (41,056)                

Participation rent factor 50% 50%
Participation rent (minimum of $0) 105,345               -                       

Prior year accrued participation rent -                       141,648               
Less - 2013 Participation Rent Paid -                       (50,000)                
Net prior year accrued participation rent, cancelled in 2014 due to negative
cumulative net cash f low -                       91,648                 
Participation rent credit due to negative end of year cumulative cash flow -                       (91,648)                
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Schedule IV – Subtenant rents 

 

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014

$ $
Tenant rents 1,289,073         1,093,735         
          Total rents (cash basis) 1,289,073         1,093,735         
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Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority 
100 North Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
(405) 739-1207     Fax (405) 739-1208     TDD (405) 739-1359 

E-mail: ghenson@midwestcityok.org 

     J. Guy Henson 
       General Manager/ 

      Administrator 

         

     Trustees 

  Matt Dukes 
Susan Eads 
Pat Byrne 
Rick Dawkins  
Sean Reed 
Christine Allen 
Jeff Moore 

 
Board of Grantors 

Sherry Beaird  
John Cauffiel  
Marcia Conner  
Pam Dimski 
Dara McGlamery 
Joyce Jackson 
Charles McDade 
Nancy Rice 
Sheila Rose 

 

 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Chairman and Trustees 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, General Manager/Administrator 
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of accepting the Hospital Authority 

Investment Performance Review for the period ending March 31, 2017 and 
action to reallocate assets, change fund managers or make changes in the 
Statement of Investment Policy, Guidelines and Objectives. 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Jim Garrels, President, Fiduciary Capital Advisors, will be present at the meeting to 
present the Performance Review.  Any need to reallocate assets, change fund 
managers or make changes to the Investment Policy Guidelines and Objectives will be 
addressed at the meeting.  

 
Action is at the discretion of the Authority. 

 
 

 
J. Guy Henson 
General Manager/Administrator 
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MARCH 31, 2017

INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE REVIEW

MIDWEST CITY
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY

 

PERIODS ENDING 

Fiduciary Capital Advisors, Inc.

267



MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
COMPOSITE VS. POLICY PORTFOLIO

PERIODS ENDING 3-31-17

Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank

Total Fund Composite 5.53 24 5.53 24 13.33 39 6.79 22

   

Policy Portfolio* 4.61 40 4.61 40 11.18 62 5.93 36

 

Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank

Total Fund Composite 9.17 30 5.81 35 7.36 31 7.51 34

 

Policy Portfolio* 8.51 45 5.60 42 6.88 42 7.10 43
 

* 60% S&P 500, 30% BARCLAYS CAPITAL AGG, 10% MSCI EAFE

QTR YTD 1 Year 3 Years

as to its accuracy or completeness.  Past performance is no guarantee of future results.

10 Years From 12-31-96  From 9-30-96  5 Years

This report is based on information we believe to be reliable but can in no way guarantee

1
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
RETURN SUMMARY
PERCENTILE RANKS

PERIODS ENDING 3-31-17

 From 12-31-96

Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank

Total Equity 6.57 27 6.57 27 18.06 45 9.86 14 13.01 22 6.94 50 7.43 67

Active - Equity 7.43 19 7.43 19 19.69 34 9.33 21 13.03 21 6.00 73 6.70 82

Passive - Equity 6.06 33 6.06 33 17.13 53 10.38 8 13.16 18 7.60 32 7.88 54

S&P 500 6.07 33 6.07 33 17.17 52 10.37 8 13.30 15 7.51 35 7.90 53

  

Total Fixed Income 0.87 58 0.87 58 0.29 82 2.64 30 2.37 46 4.33 31 5.25 21

Active - Fixed 0.95 52 0.95 52 0.11 85 2.55 33 2.36 46 4.54 26 5.40 17

Passive - Fixed 0.85 59 0.85 59 0.49 79 2.79 26 2.45 44 4.38 30 5.25 21

BC Aggregate 0.82 61 0.82 61 0.44 80 2.68 29 2.34 47 4.27 33 5.26 21

BC G/C 0.96 51 0.96 51 0.54 79 2.69 28 2.46 44 4.34 31 5.31 19

90 Day US T-Bill 0.12 98 0.12 98 0.34 81 0.15 95 0.11 95 0.61 98 2.17 99

    

Total International 8.27 38 8.27 38 11.86 52 0.79 66 5.51 64 1.88 58 5.03 70

Active - International 10.53 13 10.53 13 12.30 47 1.50 55 5.20 71 2.70 46 5.48 61

Passive - International 7.28 64 7.28 64 11.85 52 0.60 69 5.96 56 1.19 71 4.64 76

MSCI-EAFE 7.25 65 7.25 65 11.67 53 0.50 70 5.83 58 1.05 74 4.48 79

  

5 Years 10 Years

Vs.  100% Fixed Income Universe

Vs.  100% International Universe

Vs.  100% Equity Universe

QTR YTD 1 Year 3 Years

2
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
RETURN SUMMARY

PERIODS ENDING 3-31-17

Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank

Growth Funds

Harbor Capital Appreciation 10.64 4 10.64 4 15.83 65 10.17 10 *15.42 *10 (12/31/12) -- -- --

T. Rowe Price New America 11.95 1 11.95 1 19.23 37 10.92 5 *15.76 *7 (12/31/12) -- -- --

S&P 500 6.07 33 6.07 33 17.17 52 10.37 8 *15.03 *15 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Vanguard Mid Cap Growth 6.12 32 6.12 32 9.51 96 5.26 80 9.70 82 7.67 30 *8.65 *30 (12/03)

S&P 500 6.07 33 6.07 33 17.17 52 10.37 8 13.30 15 7.51 35 *8.07 *47 (12/03)

PrimeCap Odyssey Agg. Growth 8.87 11 8.87 11 25.68 8 12.31 1 *21.62 *1 (12/31/12) -- -- --

S&P 500 6.07 33 6.07 33 17.17 52 10.37 8 *15.03 *15 (12/31/12) -- -- --

 

Value Funds

Dodge & Cox Stock 4.97 49 4.97 49 28.58 3 9.44 20 15.24 2 *18.63 *4 (9/30/11) --

S&P 500 6.07 33 6.07 33 17.17 52 10.37 8 13.30 15 *16.81 *21 (9/30/11) --

Vanguard Equity Income 4.56 55 4.56 55 15.94 65 9.63 17 *14.18 *35 (12/31/12) -- -- --

S&P 500 6.07 33 6.07 33 17.17 52 10.37 8 *15.03 *15 (12/31/12) -- -- --

  

Active Fixed Income Composite 0.95 52 0.95 52 0.11 85 2.55 33 2.36 46 4.54 26 5.40 17

Vanguard Short Term Inv. Grade 0.83 60 0.83 60 1.88 54 1.94 52 2.14 52 *2.33 *53 (9/30/11) --

Vanguard Short Term Treasury 0.28 94 0.28 94 0.21 83 0.89 82 0.73 84 *0.72 *89 (9/30/11) --

BC Aggregate 0.82 61 0.82 61 0.44 80 2.68 29 2.34 47 *2.39 *52 (9/30/11) --

Vanguard Int.Term Inv. Grade 1.31 30 1.31 30 1.58 59 3.35 14 3.50 22 5.23 12 *4.92 *15 (12/03)

BC Aggregate 0.82 61 0.82 61 0.44 80 2.68 29 2.34 47 4.27 33 *4.18 *33 (12/03)

Vanguard Int.Term Treasury 0.79 63 0.79 63 -1.32 97 2.26 42 1.68 62 4.44 28 *5.39 *22 (12/99)

Vanguard Long Term Treasury 1.65 18 1.65 18 -4.95 99 5.75 2 4.00 14 6.61 3 *7.27 *2 (12/99)

BC Aggregate 0.82 61 0.82 61 0.44 80 2.68 29 2.34 47 4.27 33 *5.18 *28 (12/99)

BC G/C 0.96 51 0.96 51 0.54 79 2.69 28 2.46 44 4.34 31 5.31 19

Average Fixed Income Fund 1.13 40 1.13 40 3.30 37 2.09 47 2.34 47 3.67 51 4.43 52

 

International Funds Composite 10.53 13 10.53 13 12.30 47 1.50 55 5.20 71 2.70 46 5.48  

Vanguard International Growth 12.67 6 12.67 6 17.10 15 2.80 40 6.96 42 3.50 34 5.88

MFS International 8.04 43 8.04 43 9.20 75 2.13 48 4.66 81 3.25 38 *5.72 *29 (9/05)

MSCI-EAFE 7.25 65 7.25 65 11.67 53 0.50 70 5.83 58 1.05 74 *3.71 *70 (9/05)

Harbor International Inst. 8.71 32 8.71 32 8.44 80 -1.12 88 3.81 89.00 *4.79 *66 (9/30/08) --

MSCI-EAFE 7.25 65 7.25 65 11.67 53 0.50 70 5.83 58 *4.63 *69 (9/30/08) --

MSCI-EAFE 7.25 65 7.25 65 11.67 53 0.50 70 5.83 58 1.05 74 4.48  

Average International Fund 8.13 41 8.13 41 12.36 47 2.27 46 6.54 46 2.52 48 6.01  

5 Years 10 Years Fr 12-31-96

Vs. 100% Equity Universe

QTR YTD 1 Year 3 Years

Vs. 100% Equity Universe

Vs. 100% Equity Universe

Vs. 100% Fixed Income Universe

Vs. 100% International Universe
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
RETURN SUMMARY

PERIODS ENDING 3-31-17
UNIVERSES BETA ADJUSTED

Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank Return Rank

Harbor Capital Appreciation 10.64 30 10.64 30 15.83 56 10.17 27 *15.42 *21 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Russell 1000 Growth 8.91 62 8.91 62 15.76 58 11.27 11 *15.73 *16 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Average Large Cap Growth 7.90 71 7.90 71 14.89 72 8.18 57 *13.42 *65 (12/31/12) -- -- --

T. Rowe Price New America 11.95 11 11.95 11 19.23 21 10.92 15 *15.76 *15 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Russell 1000 Growth 8.91 62 8.91 62 15.76 58 11.27 11 *15.73 *16 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Average Large Cap Growth 7.90 71 7.90 71 14.89 72 8.18 57 *13.42 *65 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Vanguard Mid Cap Growth 6.12 31 6.12 31 9.51 99 5.26 70 9.70 77 7.67 54 *8.65 *62 (12/03)

Russell Mid Growth 6.89 18 6.89 18 14.07 91 7.88 25 11.95 46 8.13 37 *9.31 *39 (12/03)

Average Mid Cap Growth 4.45 47 4.45 47 20.73 54 6.21 57 11.09 56 7.28 62 *8.57 *65 (12/03)

PrimeCap Odyssey Agg. Growth 8.87 17 8.87 17 25.68 29 12.31 1 *21.62 *1 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Russell Mid Growth 6.89 36 6.89 36 14.07 97 7.88 12 *13.92 *25 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Average Mid Cap Growth 4.45 66 4.45 66 20.73 71 6.21 35 *12.79 *53 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Dodge & Cox Stock 4.97 32 4.97 32 28.58 2 9.44 9 15.24 1 *18.63 *5 (9/30/11) --

Russell 1000 Value 3.27 78 3.27 78 19.22 55 8.67 22 13.13 21 *16.61 *31 (9/30/11) --

Average Large Cap Value 4.56 43 4.56 43 17.45 75 7.64 46 11.83 58 *15.39 *63 (9/30/11) --

Vanguard Equity Income 4.56 37 4.56 37 15.94 42 9.63 11 *14.18 *22 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Russell 1000 Value 3.27 70 3.27 70 19.22 9 8.67 25 *14.12 *23 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Average Large Cap Value 4.56 37 4.56 37 17.45 22 7.64 50 *13.27 *41 (12/31/12) -- -- --

Vs. 100% Large Cap Value Universe (Lo-Beta)

Vs. 100% Mid Cap Growth Universe (Mid-Beta)

Vs. 100% Mid Cap Growth Universe (Hi-Beta)

Vs. 100% Large Cap Value Universe (Hi-Beta)

Vs. 100% Large Cap Growth Universe (Hi-Beta)

3 Year1 YearQTR YTD From 12-31-035 Year

Vs. 100% Large Cap Growth Universe (Hi-Beta)

10 Year

4
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
PERIODS ENDING 3-31-17

From

1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 10 Years 9-30-96

Alpha 0.63 0.23 0.17 0.06 0.10

Beta 1.27 1.08 1.05 1.02 1.00

R - squared 0.95 0.99 0.99 0.99 0.98  

STD for Composite 3.32 6.34 6.74 12.29 11.83

STD for Policy Portfolio* 2.55 5.84 6.35 12.00 11.72

* 60% S&P 500, 30% BARCLAYS CAPITAL AGG, 10% MSCI EAFE

From

1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 10 Years 9-30-96

Alpha -1.09 -0.92 -1.03 -0.59 -0.35

Beta 1.13 0.89 0.80 0.75 0.70

R - squared 0.78 0.93 0.92 0.96 0.95

STD for Composite 3.32 6.34 6.74 12.29 11.83

STD for S&P 500 2.59 6.85 7.98 16.18 16.58

MIDWEST CITY COMPOSITE VS. POLICY PORTFOLIO

MIDWEST CITY COMPOSITE VS. S&P 500

5
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
ASSET ALLOCATION

PERIOD ENDED 3-31-17

Domestic Foreign Percent
Equity Equity US Bond Cash Total of Total Target Range

  
Blackrock Equity Index 36,097,878  36,097,878 44.4%
Harbor Capital Appreciation 3,393,653  3,393,653 4.2%
T. Rowe Price New America Gr. 2,976,119 2,976,119 3.7%
Primecap Odyssey Agg Growth 4,075,148 4,075,148 5.0%
Vanguard Mid Growth 3,003,499 3,003,499 3.7%
Dodge & Cox Stock 5,025,434 5,025,434 6.2%
Vanguard Equity Income 4,169,802 4,169,802 5.1%

 
TOTAL US EQUITY 58,741,533    58,741,533 72.2% 70.0% 20.0 - 85.0%

Blackrock EAFE Index 4,475,973 4,475,973 5.5%
Harbor Int'l Inst. 0 0 0.0%
MFS International 0 0 0.0%
Vanguard Int'l Growth 0 0 0.0%

TOTAL INTERNATIONAL 4,475,973 4,475,973 5.5% 10.0% 2.5 - 30.0%
 

Blackrock US Debt Index 8,348,991 8,348,991 10.3%
Vanguard Short Tm. Treas. 1,239,202 1,239,202 1.5%
Vanguard Short Tm. Inv. Gr. 1,338,723 1,338,723 1.6%
Vanguard Int. Tm. Treas. 539,269 539,269 0.7%
Vanguard Int. Tm. Inv. Gr. 1,775,465 1,775,465 2.2%
Vanguard Long Tm. Treas.  649,880  649,880 0.8%

 
TOTAL US BOND   13,891,530  13,891,530 17.1% 20.0% 2.5 - 80.0%

 
TOTAL CASH 4,282,435 4,282,435 5.3% 0.0% 0.0 - 20.0%

TOTAL 58,741,533 4,475,973 13,891,530 4,282,435 81,391,471 100.0%
72.2% 5.5% 17.1% 5.3% 100.0%

6
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
PERIOD ENDED 3-31-17

             ALLOCATION CHANGE
December 31, 2016 March 31, 2017 Change

Domestic Equity 55,050,888 58,741,533 3,690,645
Foreign Equity 6,186,942 4,475,973 -1,710,969
Domestic Bond 13,773,291 13,891,530 118,239
Cash 2,128,686 4,282,435 2,153,749

TOTAL FUND 77,139,807 81,391,471 4,251,664

     ACTUAL vs. POLICY PORTFOLIO
Actual Allocation Policy Allocation Allocation Range

Domestic Equity 72.2% 60.0% 20 - 85%
Foreign Equity 5.5% 10.0% 2.5 - 30%
Domestic Bond 17.1% 30.0% 2.5 - 80%
Cash 5.3% 0.0% 0 - 20%

7
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
ASSET ALLOCATION

PERIOD ENDED 3-31-17

TOTAL FUND ASSET ALLOCATION
$81,391,471

TOTAL FUND - EQUITY 
$58.74MM

72.2%

TOTAL FUND - FIXED 
$13.89MM

17.1%

TOTAL FUND - CASH 
$4.28MM

5.3%

TOTAL FUND - INT'L 
$4.48MM

5.5%

ACTIVE ASSET ALLOCATION
$32,468,630

VALUE 
FUNDS - 
$9.20MM

28.3%

GROWTH 
FUNDS - 

$13.49MM
41.4%

FIXED 
FUNDS - 
$5.54MM

17.1%

CASH - 
$4.28MM

13.2%

PASSIVE ASSET ALLOCATION
$48,922,841

Blackrock 
US Debt 

Index  
$8.35MM

17.1%

Blackrock 
Equity Index 
$36.10MM

73.8%

Blackrock 
EAFE Index 

$4.48MM
9.1%
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
PERIOD ENDED 3-31-17

LARGE GROWTH FUNDS COMPOSITE ASSET ALLOCATION
$6,369,772

HARBOR CAP. APPREC. 
$3,393,653

53.3%

TR PRICE NEW 
AMERICA GR.  

$2,976,119
46.7%

LARGE GROWTH EQUITY CHARACTERISTICS v. S&P 500

30.2

0.1
1.08

14.4

27.2

0.0

1.16

13.2

28.8

0.1
1.12

13.8

21.3

1.9
1.00

9.4

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

P/E (12 mo. Trail) Div. Yield Beta 3 Yr. Earn Growth

HARBOR CAP. APPREC.

TR PRICE NEW AMERICA GR.

Weighted Average 

S&P 500
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
PERIODS ENDED 3-31-17

MID GROWTH FUNDS COMPOSITE ASSET ALLOCATION
$7,078,647

PRIMECAP ODYSSEY 
AGG GR. $4,075,148

57.6%

VANGUARD MID 
GROWTH $3,003,499

42.4%

MID GROWTH EQUITY CHARACTERISTICS v. S&P 500

18.9

0.0

1.25

11.4

28.4

0.6
1.05

12.6

22.9

0.3
1.17

11.9

21.3

1.9
1.00

9.4

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

P/E (12 mo. Trail) Div. Yield Beta 3 Yr. Earn Growth

PRIMECAP ODYSSEY AGG GR.

VANGUARD MID GROWTH 

Weighted Average 

S&P 500
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
PERIOD ENDED 3-31-17

VALUE FUNDS COMPOSITE ASSET ALLOCATION
$9,195,236

DODGE & COX STOCK 
$5,025,434

54.7%

VANGUARD EQUITY 
INCOME $4,169,802

45.3%

VALUE EQUITY CHARACTERISTICS v. S&P 500

18.6

1.2 1.12

2.1

19.4

2.8

0.90

2.5

19.0

1.9

1.02

2.3

21.3

1.9

1.00

3.0

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

P/E (12 mo. Trail) Div. Yield Beta PBV

DODGE & COX STOCK 

VANGUARD EQUITY INCOME

Weighted Average

S&P 500
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MIDWEST CITY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY
PERIOD ENDED 3-31-17

ACTIVE FIXED INCOME CHARACTERISTICS

2.4 2.3

4.0

1.0

3.1
2.6

2.0 2.0

5.7
5.3

4.0

1.7

6.0
5.4

2.0
2.9

24.4

16.6

4.0

2.7

6.6

5.3

2.9
2.1

7.8

5.7

3.0
2.5

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

Years to Mat. Duration Quailty Yield

VANGUARD S/T  US Treas. 

VANGUARD S/T Inv. Gr.

VANGUARD I/T  US Treas. 

VANGUARD I/T Inv. Gr.

VANGUARD L/T US Treas. 

Weighted Average

BC Aggregate

ACTIVE FIXED INCOME ASSET ALLOCATION
$5,542,539

VANGUARD S/T  US 
Treas. $1,239,202

22.4%

VANGUARD S/T Inv. Gr. 
$1,338,723

24.2%

VANGUARD I/T Inv. Gr. 
$1,775,465

32.0%

VANGUARD L/T US 
Treas. $649,880

11.7%

VANGUARD I/T  US 
Treas. $539,269

9.7%
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Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority

Market Value of Fund Plus Real Estate Investments
PERIOD NET
Distributions PERIOD Distributions/Sales Total MV
For Real Estate Real Estate   Investment For Real Estate Including

   Begin MV   Contributions   Gains/(Losses) Investments Sales   End of Period    % ROR Investments Real Estate

1996 0.00 40,000,000 1,894,724 41,894,724 5.00 41,894,724
1997 41,894,724 6,500,000 9,149,906 57,544,631 21.43 57,544,631
1998 57,544,631 10,313,934 67,858,566 17.96 67,858,566
1999 67,858,566 9,842,497 (892,504) 76,808,558 14.66 892,504 77,701,062
2000 76,808,558 1,255,636 (7,530,000) 70,534,196 1.61        8,422,504 78,956,700
2001 70,534,196 (3,474,570) (17,000,001) 881,724 50,941,348 (4.96)       24,540,781 75,482,129
2002 50,941,348 (6,288,441) (3,000,000) 41,645,681 (12.42)     27,540,781 69,186,462
2003 41,645,681 8,377,102 (7,000,000) 2,000,000 45,006,531 24.06      32,540,781 77,547,312
2004 45,006,531 5,328,106 (2,000,000) 48,318,461 12.32      34,540,781 82,859,242
2005 48,318,461 3,559,195 (27,212,736) 27,006,977 51,651,524 5.88        34,746,540 86,398,063
2006 51,651,524 7,786,194 59,433,416 15.11      34,746,540 94,179,956
2007 59,433,416 4,280,658 (3,300,000) 60,414,074 7.30        38,046,540 98,460,614
2008 60,414,074 (17,021,674) 43,392,400 (28.12)     38,046,540 81,438,940
2009 43,392,400 8,759,495 52,151,895 21.30      38,046,540 90,198,435
2010 52,151,895 6,528,733 (1,800,000) 56,880,628 9.32        39,846,540 96,727,168
2011 56,880,628 (1,072,322) 55,808,306 (1.79)       39,846,540 95,654,846
2012 55,808,306 7,553,650 63,361,956 13.60      39,846,540 103,208,496
2013 63,361,956 13,845,096 77,207,052 21.94      39,846,540 117,053,592
2014 77,207,052 5,844,036 (5,650,000) 77,401,088 8.46        45,496,540 122,897,628
2015 77,401,088 (143,659) 77,257,429 (0.12)       45,496,540 122,753,969
2016 77,257,429 5,782,378 (5,900,000) 77,139,807 7.84        51,396,540 128,536,347

1q17 77,139,807 4,251,664 81,391,471 5.53        51,396,540 132,788,011

TOTAL 46,500,000 86,352,338 (81,285,240) 29,888,701 81,391,471       51,396,540          132,788,011

9/30/96
INCEPTION

ROR: 7.51%
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Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority 
100 North Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
Office (405) 739-1207 - Fax (405) 739-1208      

E-mail: ghenson@midwestcityok.org 
 

     J. Guy Henson 
       General Manager/ 

      Administrator 

         

     Trustees 

     Matthew D. Dukes II 
     Susan Eads 
     Pat Byrne 
     Rick Dawkins 
     M. Sean Reed 
     Christine Allen 
     Jeff Moore 
 
    Board of Grantors 

 Sherry Beaird 
 John Cauffiel  
 Marcia Conner  
 Pam Dimski 
 Dara McGlamery 
 Joyce Jackson  
 Charles McDade  
 Nancy Rice  
 Sheila Rose 

 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Chairman and Trustees 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, General Manager/Administrator 
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion of the refinancing of the Town Center Redevelopment Project. 
 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Bob Stearns of Sooner Investment, LLC, will be present to share information regarding 
the need for refinancing and alternatives approaches. 
 
 

 
J. Guy Henson 
General Manager/Administrator 
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NEW BUSINESS/                    

PUBLIC DISCUSSION 
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 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
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Midwest City Memorial Hospital Authority 
100 North Midwest Boulevard 

Midwest City, Oklahoma  73110 
Office (405) 739-1207 - Fax (405) 739-1208      

E-mail: ghenson@midwestcityok.org 
 

     J. Guy Henson 
       General Manager/ 

      Administrator 

         

     Trustees 

     Matthew D. Dukes II 
     Susan Eads 
     Pat Byrne 
     Rick Dawkins 
     M. Sean Reed 
     Christine Allen 
     Jeff Moore 
 
    Board of Grantors 

 Sherry Beaird 
 John Cauffiel  
 Marcia Conner  
 Pam Dimski 
 Dara McGlamery 
 Joyce Jackson  
 Charles McDade  
 Nancy Rice  
 Sheila Rose 

 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Honorable Chairman and Trustees 
 
FROM: J. Guy Henson, General Manager/Administrator 
 
DATE: May 9, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Discussion and consideration of 1) entering into executive session, as 

allowed under 25 O.S. § 307(B)(3), to discuss the purchase or appraisal of 
real property; and 2) in open session, authorizing the general manager/ 
administrator to take action as appropriate based on the discussion in 
executive session. 

 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Appropriate information will be provided in executive session. 
 
 

 
J. Guy Henson 
General Manager/Administrator 
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